

Doctoral Thesis No. 2025:30 Faculty of Forest Sciences

Some aspects on boreal forest microbiotas and nitrogen

Tinkara Bizjak-Johansson



Some aspects on boreal forest microbiotas and nitrogen

Tinkara Bizjak-Johansson

Faculty of Forest Sciences Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology Umeå



DOCTORAL THESIS Umeå 2025 Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae 2025:30

Cover: Collecting Scots pine needles at Åheden field site for subsequent laboratory analysis (photo by Noelia Saavedra Berlanga).

ISSN 1652-6880

ISBN (print version) 978-91-8046-465-9

ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-8046-515-1

https://doi.org/10.54612/a.6dook1318f

© 2025 Tinkara Bizjak-Johansson, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6433-2253

Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Department of Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology, Umeå, Sweden

The summary chapter is licensed under CC BY 4.0. To view a copy of this license, visit https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. Other licences or copyright may apply to illustrations and attached articles.

Print: SLU Grafisk service, Uppsala 2025

Some aspects on boreal forest microbiotas and nitrogen

Abstract

Forest microbiomes are integral parts of the forest ecosystem as they are involved in soil health, tree growth, plant resilience and nitrogen and carbon cycles. However, forest microbiomes are under-researched compared to microbiomes in agriculturally important environments. Therefore, the main aim of this thesis was to describe and analyse the fungal and bacterial microbiomes connected to Norway spruce and Scots pine growing in the Fennoscandian boreal forest and investigate the effect of nitrogen addition on these microbiomes. Additionally, the thesis assessed two potentially more sustainable alternatives to inorganic nitrogen fertilization. The results showed the microbiome compositions of bulk soil, humus, root and needle conifer samples, highlighted distinct microbiomes between bulk soil and needles and identified 15 culturable nitrogen-fixing bacteria isolated from Scots pine needles. The results further showed that increased nitrogen addition led to decreased fungal and bacterial abundance, changes in fungal microbiome composition and differences in the activity of several extracellular enzymes in humus. However, interestingly, nitrogen addition did not affect the activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria inside Scots pine needles. The greenhouse study showed that controlled-release organic nitrogenbased nutrition was able to promote plant growth similar to inorganic nitrogen-based fertilizers but with lower nitrate leaching from the growth medium. Further, bacteria isolated from Scots pine needles showed plant growth-promoting properties in in vitro experiments but did not promote higher plant biomass of four different inoculated crop species in in vivo greenhouse study. In summary, the thesis offered a deeper look into diverse Fennoscandian boreal forest microbiomes and analysed the effects of inorganic nitrogen addition on both the presence and the activity of these microbiomes. Furthermore, the thesis highlighted the potential and challenges of possible sustainable alternatives to inorganic nitrogen fertilization.

Keywords: bacteria, boreal forest, fungi, inorganic and organic nitrogen, microbiome, nitrogen addition, nitrogen fixation, Norway spruce, plant growth-promoting bacteria, Scots pine

Några aspekter på skogliga svamp- och bakteriesamhällen och kväve

Sammanfattning

I denna avhandling studerades svamp- och bakteriesamhällens struktur och funktion i fält i boreal skog, samt att effekter av kvävetillförsel på dessa undersöktes. Dessutom testades två metoder för att främja tillväxt på plantor i växthus: tillsats av organiskt kvävegödsel baserat på aminosyran arginin eller tillsats av bakterier med tillväxtfrämjande egenskaper. Resultaten från fältstudierna visade distinkta svampsamhällen med avseende på artsammansättning för mark respektive barr, samt för gran- respektive tallbarr, medan många svamparter delades mellan mark och rötter. Från tallbarr identifierades och isolerades 15 odlingsbara kvävefixerande bakterier och det estimerades att kvävefixering i barr skulle kunna bidra med 15 gram växttillgängligt kväve per hektar och år till denna typ av skogsekosystem. Kvävetillförsel i form av årlig gödsling med 50 kg kväve per hektar under nästan 30 år till en grandominerad skog ledde till minskad förekomst av svampar och bakterier, samt att aktiviteten hos flera extracellulära enzymer i markens humusskikt förändrades så att de indikerade att koltillgången snarare än kvävetillgången var begränsande för deras tillväxt. Däremot påverkades inte förekomsten eller aktiviteten hos kvävefixerande bakterier inuti tallbarr av liknande nivå av kvävegödsling. Växthusstudierna visade att argininbaserad näring med kontrollerad frisättning av kvävet främjade tillväxten hos trädplantor på ett liknande sätt som ett oorganiskt kvävegödselmedel, men med lägre nitratläckage från odlingsmediet. Tillsats av bakterier isolerade från tallbarr med växttillväxtfrämjande egenskaper främjade dock inte tillväxten hos plantor av fyra grödor. Sammanfattningsvis lyfter avhandlingen fram mikrobsamhällenas komplexitet i nordliga skogsekosystem och belyser behovet av mer forskning för djupare kunskap om deras roll.

Nyckelord: bakterier, boreal skog, gran, kvävefixering, kvävetillsats, mikrobiom, oorganiskt och organiskt kväve, svampar, tall, tillväxtfrämjande bakterier

Nekateri vidiki o gozdnih mikrobiotah in dušiku

Povzetek

Mikrobiomi so ključni deli gozdnih ekosistemov, saj sodelujejo pri ohranjanju zdravja tal, rasti in odpornosti dreves ter so del dušikovega in ogljikovega cikla. Vendar pa so gozdni mikrobiomi v primerjavi s kmetijsko pomembnimi mikrobiomi premalo raziskani. Glavni cilj disertacije je bil opisati in analizirati glivne in bakterijske mikrobiome, povezane z navadno smreko in rdečim borom, ki rasteta v borealnem gozdu, ter raziskati vpliv dodatka dušika na te mikrobiome. Poleg tega sta bili v okviru disertacije raziskani dve potencialno bolj trajnostni alternativi gnojenju z anorganskim dušikom. Rezultati so pokazali sestave mikrobiomov v vzorcih prsti, humusa, korenin in iglic, izpostavili razlike med mikrobiomi v prsti in drevesnih iglicah ter identificirali 15 bakterij, izoliranih iz iglic rdečega bora, ki so sposobne vezati dušik. Rezultati so nadalje pokazali, da dodatek dušika vodi do zmanjšanja količine gliv in bakterij, do sprememb v sestavi glivnih mikrobiomov in do razlik v aktivnosti več encimov, povezanih z oksidacijo in pridobivanjem dušika in ogljika iz prsti. Poleg tega se je pokazalo, da dodatek dušika ni imel vpliva na prisotnost in aktivnost bakterij v iglicah rdečega bora, ki lahko vežejo dušik. Rezultati poskusa v rastlinjaku so pokazali, da je gnojilo, razvito na osnovi organskega dušika, imelo podoben učinek na rast sadik iglavcev, kot gnojilo na osnovi anorganskega dušika, vendar z manj izpiranja dušika. Bakterije, izolirane iz iglic rdečega bora, so pokazale lastnosti za spodbujanje rasti rastlin v laboratorijskih poskusih, vendar niso spodbudile rasti štirih različnih vrst poljščin v rastlinjaku. Raziskava v okviru disertacije je ponudila poglobljen vpogled v raznolike mikrobiome borealnega gozda ter analizirala učinke dodatka anorganskega dušika na prisotnost in aktivnost teh mikrobiomov. Poleg tega je izpostavila prednosti in izzive možnih trajnostnih alternativ za anorgansko gnojenje z dušikom.

Ključne besede: anorganski in organski dušik, bakterija, dodatek dušika, gliva, mikrobiom, navadna smreka, rast spodbujajoče bakterije, rdeči bor, tajga, vezava dušika

Preface

The idea for my PhD thesis arose already a few years before the official beginning of my PhD with the question of whether nitrogen-fixing bacteria are present in tissues such as stems and needles of conifers in the Fennoscandian boreal forest. The article published by Carrell and Frank (2014) suggested the presence of nitrogen-fixing bacteria inside needles of limber pine and Engelmann spruce growing in subalpine forest, which could represent an important source of nitrogen for trees growing in nitrogenlimited environments. Therefore, an interesting thought was if these bacteria could also be present in tissues of conifers growing in the nitrogen-limited Fennoscandian boreal forest. A few years passed, but the question was still present in my thoughts and that of my main supervisor, Annika, so my master's thesis focused on nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles. One of the most important thoughts from that period was definitely the sentence written in Menge et al. (2009): "The chronic nitrogen limitation that pervades mature temperate and boreal forests could easily be overcome by nitrogen fixers, who are conspicuous in these ecosystems in their absence only." After the master thesis was finished, so many questions were left unanswered and consequently, my PhD started with the same background questions, but expanded it to which bacteria and fungi are present in the needles of Scots pine and Norway spruce, are nitrogen-fixing bacteria actively fixing nitrogen when present in the needles, how is their nitrogen fixation rate affected by nitrogen addition and if fungal communities and their enzyme activities are affected by nitrogen addition. During the project, many other questions arose and some of them were just too interesting not to pursue. Therefore, my last two articles looked into using organic nitrogen-based nutrition and the use of plant growth-promoting bacteria as alternatives to inorganic nitrogen fertilization. As the papers appended at the end of this thesis describe my last

four years of research in quite a lot of detail, in this thesis, I only focused (based on my opinion) on the key results and, in some cases, tried to show the results in a different light. In the appendix, I added some results and findings that I made during the last four years that were not part of the main projects but that have taught me a lot. I think they might help future master's and PhD students researching in this area save some time or even develop into interesting new questions to be researched in the future.

I hope you will enjoy reading my thesis!

Tinkara

Contents

List o	f publ	lications	11	
List o	f figur	res	13	
Abbre	eviatic	ons	15	
1.	Intro	duction	17	
	1.1	Nitrogen	17	
	1.2	Boreal forest and nitrogen	18	
	1.3	Scots pine, Norway spruce and their production	19	
	1.4	Microbiomes.	20	
		1.4.1 Fungi	22	
		1.4.2 Bacteria	23	
		1.4.3 Microbiomes and hitrogen	25	
2.	Aims and research questions			
	2.1	Aims	27	
	2.2	Research questions	27	
3.	Material and methods2			
	3.1	Field sites	29	
	3.2	Sequencing	30	
	3.3	Isolation of nitrogen-fixing bacteria	32	
	3.4	Microbial abundance		
	3.5	Enzyme activities		
	3.6	Western blot		
	3.7	Acetylene-reduction assay35		
	3.8	Greenhouse experiment with arginine-iron-hexametaphosphate36		
	3.9	In vitro plant growth-promoting property assays	37	
	3.10	Greenhouse inoculation experiment with plant growth-pron	noting	
	bacter	ria	37	
4.	Key ı	results and discussion	39	

	4.1 Composition of Scots pine and Norway spruce microbiomes						
		4.1.1	Fungal microbiomes	. 39			
		4.1.2	Bacterial microbiomes	.45			
		4.1.3	Nitrogen-fixing bacteria	.48			
	4.2	Effects of inorganic nitrogen addition on microbiomes					
		4.2.1	Fungal microbiomes	.49			
		4.2.2	Bacterial microbiomes	. 54			
	4.3 Alternatives to inorganic nitrogen fertilization						
		4.3.1	Organic nitrogen-based nutrition	. 58			
		4.3.2	Plant growth-promoting bacteria	.61			
5.	Conc	lusions	and future perspectives	65			
References							
Popular science summary 101							
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning 103							
Acknowledgements							
		-					
Appendices							

List of publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I. **Bizjak-Johansson, T.*,** Larsson, M., Gundale, M. J., Nordin, A. Norway spruce and Scots pine fungal and bacterial microbiomes in boreal forest common garden experiment (manuscript).
- II. Bizjak, T., Sellstedt, A., Gratz, R.*, Nordin, A. (2023). Presence and activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles in a boreal forest: a nitrogen-addition experiment. Tree Physiology, 43 (8), pp 1354-1364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpad048</u>
- III. Forsmark, B.*#, Bizjak, T.#, Nordin, A., Rosenstock, N. P., Wallander, H., Gundale, M. J. (2024). Shifts in microbial community composition and metabolism correspond with rapid soil carbon accumulation in response to 20 years of simulated nitrogen deposition. Science of the Total Environment, 918, 170741. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2024.170741</u>
- IV. Bizjak-Johansson, T., Bozaghian Bäckman, M., Nilsson, L., Holmlund, M., Skoglund, N., Näsholm, T., Gratz, R*. Novel environmentally friendly plant nutrition (manuscript).
- V. Bizjak-Johansson, T.*, Braunroth, A., Gratz, R., Nordin, A. (2025). Inoculation with *in vitro* promising plant growth-promoting bacteria isolated from nitrogenlimited boreal forest did not translate to *in vivo* growth promotion of agricultural plants. Biology and Fertility of Soils. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-025-01910-8</u>

*Corresponding author

Shared first authorship

Papers II, III and V were published open access.

The contribution of Tinkara Bizjak-Johansson to the papers included in this thesis according to Contributor Roles Taxonomy (CRediT) was as follows:

- I. Conceptualization, Data curation, Investigation, Formal analysis, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Project administration.
- II. Conceptualization, Investigation, Formal analysis, Visualization, Writing original draft, Writing review & editing, Project administration.
- Investigation, Formal analysis, Visualization, Writing original draft, Writing review & editing.
- IV. Conceptualization, Investigation, Formal analysis, Visualization, Writing original draft, Writing – review & editing.
- V. Conceptualization, Funding acquisition, Investigation, Formal analysis, Visualization, Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing, Project administration.

List of figures

Figure 1: Fungal relative abundance based on ITS sequencing in different pine and spruce compartments
Figure 2: Shared fungal OTUs/ASVs between different compartments and tree species based on ITS sequencing45
Figure 3: Bacterial relative abundance based on 16S rRNA sequencing in pine and spruce bulk soil
Figure 4: Phylogenetic tree of the isolated potential nitrogen-fixing bacteria from Scots pine needles based on 16S rRNA sequencing
Figure 5: Effects of inorganic nitrogen addition on Norway spruce fungal microbiome
Figure 6: Combined summer and autumn potential enzyme activity across three levels of nitrogen addition
Figure 7: Effects of inorganic nitrogen addition on Norway spruce humus bacterial microbiome
Figure 8: Inorganic nitrogen addition effects on nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles
Figure 9: Scots pine seedling dry weights after six-months long greenhouse experiment using three different nitrogen treatments

Abbreviations

16S	16 Svedberg
AMC	7-amido-4-methylcoumarin
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
Arginine Fe-HMP	Arginine iron-hexametaphosphate
ASV	Amplicon sequence variant
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
Commercial CRF	Commercial controlled-release fertilizer
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
GC-MS/MS	Gas chromatography - tandem mass spectrometry
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
HSD	Honestly significant difference
IAA	Indole-3-acetic acid
ITS	Internal transcribed spacer
kg	Kilogram
MUB	4-methylumbelliferyl
n	Number of replicates
N_2	Dinitrogen
NH ₃	Ammonia
$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	Ammonium
NO ₃ -	Nitrate
OTU	Operational taxonomic unit
PGPB	Plant growth-promoting bacteria
PLFA	Phospholipid-derived fatty acids
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
rRNA	Ribosomal ribonucleic acid

1. Introduction

1.1 Nitrogen

One of the essential elements for life is nitrogen as it is a building block of nucleic acids and proteins (Canfield et al. 2010). Nitrogen has a very high abundance in our atmosphere as biologically inert dinitrogen (N₂) and is one of the least biologically available and most growth-limiting elements in the biosphere (Galloway et al. 2003; Chanway et al. 2014). To become biologically available, unreactive N2 needs to be transformed into other nitrogen forms, for example, ammonia (NH₃), ammonium (NH₄⁺) or nitrate (NO₃⁻) ions (Martinez-Espinosa et al. 2011; Chanway et al. 2014). The triple bond in dinitrogen can only be broken by biological nitrogen fixation or high-temperature reactions as it requires a large amount of energy (Galloway et al. 2003; Chanway et al. 2014). Biological nitrogen fixation is a natural process of dinitrogen transformation into ammonia that can be performed by bacteria and archaea (Chanway et al. 2014). The high-temperature reactions leading to the production of biologically available nitrogen are lightning, volcanic activity, fossil fuel combustion and the Haber-Bosch process (Galloway et al. 2003; Chanway et al. 2014). As in production systems nitrogen limitation leads to decreased plant growth and yield (Chanway et al. 2014; Li & Coleman 2019), the Haber-Bosch process has been important for the production of synthetic nitrogen fertilizers, which are estimated to be responsible for feeding around half of the world's population (Fowler et al. 2013). However, the planetary boundary for anthropologically introduced nitrogen has been severely crossed (Richardson et al. 2023) and nitrogen leaching after fertilization can lead to several negative environmental effects, such as greenhouse gas emissions, biodiversity loss and water eutrophication (Savci 2012; Andrews et al. 2013; Qiao et al. 2015).

Biologically available nitrogen can be present in inorganic and organic forms. Inorganic nitrogen refers to compounds containing nitrogen but no carbon atoms, and the most common forms include ammonium and nitrate. Organic nitrogen refers to compounds containing both nitrogen and carbon atoms, and the common forms are nucleotides, proteins, urea, amino sugars and amino acids. Both inorganic and organic nitrogen forms are present in the soil in different forms (Schulten & Schnitzer 1997). It was long thought that plants take up only inorganic nitrogen, but more recent research proves that plants can also take up different forms of organic nitrogen (Näsholm & Persson 2001; Harrison et al. 2007; Paungfoo-Lonhienne et al. 2012). Among others, it was shown that many plants can take up intact forms of amino acids such as glycine and arginine (Öhlund & Näsholm 2004; Uscola et al. 2017). Most of the commonly used fertilizers to increase plant growth are based on inorganic nitrogen, but due to their negative effects connected to nitrate leaching, the use of organic nitrogen-based nutrition is being discussed. Organic nitrogen-based nutrition can be produced from waste products, promotes plant growth similarly to inorganic fertilizers, but leads to lower nitrate leaching (Hansen et al. 2000; Paungfoo-Lonhienne et al. 2012; Gil et al. 2024).

1.2 Boreal forest and nitrogen

The boreal forest represents around ten percent of the land surface, a third of the global forest area (Shvidenko & Apps 2006; Castro et al. 2021) and is important for the global paper and timber markets (Gauthier et al. 2015). In addition to its economic value, the boreal forest has an important role in the global carbon cycle as it stores around a third of the terrestrial carbon (Pan et al. 2011; Bradshaw & Warkentin 2015), largely within the soils (Pan et al. 2024). For Fennoscandia, boreal forest is the dominant biome (Esseen et al. 1992) characterised by a harsh and cold climate, low plant species diversity and slow regeneration (Huhta et al. 1998; Castro et al. 2021; Högberg et al. 2021). Due to the cold climate leading to low rates of nitrogen fixation, slow decomposition of the soil organic matter and high nitrogen retention by mycorrhizal fungi (Högberg et al. 2017; Adamczyk et al. 2019; Fu et al. 2022), the boreal forest is severely nitrogen-limited making plant growth highly dependent on its availability (Högberg et al. 2017). The nitrogen cycle in the boreal forest is relatively closed as the internal nitrogen turnover is much higher than any nitrogen inputs and outputs (Högberg et al. 2017). The internal nitrogen turnover is highly dependent on soil and litter decomposition by extracellular enzymes produced and exuded by microorganisms (Sinsabaugh et al. 2008; Högberg et al. 2017). The two important sources of nitrogen input are atmospheric nitrogen deposition and biological nitrogen fixation (Högberg et al. 2017), but these inputs are relatively small compared to the annual nitrogen uptake by the vegetation (Sponseller et al. 2016). Additionally, the forest can, in certain cases, be fertilized with inorganic nitrogen to increase the tree biomass production (Hedwall et al. 2014; Routa et al. 2019). The estimated nitrogen deposition, a consequence of mainly agricultural and industrial activities (Nordin et al. 2005; Zhang et al. 2021), is relatively low (below 12 kg nitrogen per hectare and year) in the Fennoscandian boreal forest (Gundale et al. 2014). The main sources for biological nitrogen fixation in boreal forests are root nodule symbiosis between actinobacteria and certain tree species, association between cyanobacteria and either mosses or lichens, and free-living nitrogen-fixing bacteria (DeLuca et al. 2002; Högberg et al. 2017). However, recently, it has been suggested that nitrogen fixation is also present in the needles of forest trees, which could be an important additional nitrogen source in nitrogen-limited environments (Carrell & Frank 2014; Carrell et al. 2016; Moyes et al. 2016; Wurzburger 2016; Puri et al. 2018).

1.3 Scots pine, Norway spruce and their production

The two main species dominating the Fennoscandian boreal forest are the conifers Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) and Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). Broadleaves that are common include birch (*Betula pubescens* and *Betula pendula*), aspen (*Populus tremula*) and willow (*Salix caprea*). As the Fennoscandian boreal forest is usually clear-cut during harvest, the common method to ensure the growth of a new forest is planting seedlings (Häggström et al. 2024). Together, Scots pine and Norway spruce represent 95% of all seedlings planted in Finland, Norway and Sweden (Solvin et al. 2021). Most of these seedlings are grown in nurseries, where they are heavily fertilized with inorganic nitrogen to ensure proper establishment and better growth upon planting (Heiskanen et al. 2009; Vaario et al. 2009). Seedling

fertilization in nurseries significantly increases plant growth, but it can lead to lower mycorrhization of conifer roots (Gruffman et al. 2012). Additionally, there is a high risk of nitrate leaching due to high nitrate mobility, low root nitrate uptake, overirrigation of growth media and application of fertilizer by mobile boom systems (Juntunen & Rikala 2001; Öhlund & Näsholm 2002). This nitrate leaching can have a detrimental effect on the surrounding groundwater (Juntunen & Rikala 2001; Öhlund & Näsholm 2002). In some nurseries, controlled-release inorganic nitrogen fertilizers are used instead as they lead to lower leaching due to their gradual nutrient release (Hunt 1989; Haase et al. 2006; Jariwala et al. 2022). However, most of the available controlled-release fertilizers are encased in non-biodegradable and fossil-fuel-based synthetic polymer coats (Vejan et al. 2021). Several Swedish nurseries have started using organic nitrogen nutrition based on the amino acid arginine (Schneider et al. 2024), as it has been shown that it can promote seedling growth and higher root biomass production (Gruffman et al. 2012), which can be important for ensuring proper water uptake after planting in the field (Grossnickle 2005). Additionally, organic nitrogen nutrition has shown no effect on seedling root mycorrhization and had lower nitrate leaching compared to inorganic nitrogen fertilizer (Öhlund & Näsholm 2002; Gruffman et al. 2012; Lim et al. 2022). However, there are no substitutes for the controlled-release inorganic nitrogen fertilizer available. Yet, it has been suggested that such plant nutrition could be produced by complexing an amino acid to polyphosphates to produce a solid-phase nutrition, where the polyphosphate length would control the nutrient release rate (Näsholm et al. 2017).

1.4 Microbiomes

In addition to the prevailing trees and other vegetation, boreal forests include a variety of microorganisms interacting with their environment (Bell-Doyon et al. 2022). Compared to agriculture, the microbiota part of forest tree species is under-researched, and our limited knowledge about forest microbiomes includes many knowledge gaps regarding their composition, function, role and importance (Terhonen et al. 2019; Padda et al. 2021).

Microbiota definition encompasses living protists, archaea, algae, bacteria and fungi present in the environment, while the microbiome definition additionally includes all genetic elements in the environment (e.g. extracellular DNA and viruses) (Terhonen et al. 2019; Berg et al. 2020). The microbiomes are often distinguished based on their location: bulk soil microbiome, rhizosphere microbiome (microorganisms in the soil surrounding roots), phyllosphere microbiome (microorganisms living on plant surfaces) and endophytic microbiome (microorganisms living inside of plants without causing any disease symptoms). Among these, the endophytic microorganisms are the least researched. The commonly known main entrance points for endophytic microorganisms are root cracks and other tissue wounds, but recently it has become known that an alternative entry point might be through stomata (Bhattacharjee et al. 2008; Santoyo et al. 2016; Frank et al. 2017; Kandel et al. 2017). The endophytic microorganisms have been suggested to be better protected against biotic and abiotic stresses and have a closer interaction with the plant (Santoyo et al. 2016; Padda et al. 2022; Méndez-Bravo et al. 2023).

The composition of bacterial and fungal microbiomes is commonly analysed by amplicon sequencing of the 16S rRNA and ITS, respectively, as both include highly conserved and highly variable regions enabling bacterial or fungal identification. Most studies focused on either analysing the fungal or the bacterial forest microbiome (Uroz et al. 2016a; Uroz et al. 2016b), even though there is evidence of interactions between these two communities (Pohjanen et al. 2014; Marupakula et al. 2016; Rua et al. 2016). A part of the microbiome changes with time, but it is suggested that there is a more stable part called the core microbiome (Berg et al. 2020; Berg et al. 2021). The rather vague definition of the core microbiome is the community of permanent and stable microbiome species constantly associated with a specific environment or host (Berg et al. 2020). The vague core microbiome definition is therefore based on presence/absence and does not depend on the abundance of the species in the environment (Marupakula et al. 2016). Core microbiomes have been described in certain environments connected to the study-specific tree species, however, the exact definitions of the core microbiome differed between studies (Laforest-Lapointe et al. 2016; Griffin et al. 2019; Firrincieli et al. 2020). Several environmental factors, soil characteristics and plant properties are proposed to influence the composition and stability of the microbiome (Romeralo et al. 2022; Xiong et al. 2024), but their exact importance is not yet known for the boreal forest microbiome.

1.4.1 Fungi

Two important types of fungi in the boreal forest are saprotrophic and ectomycorrhizal fungi, as they play a crucial role in nutrient recycling (Kües 2015; Fernandez & Kennedy 2016). Saprotrophic fungi, mostly occupying the litter layer, obtain large parts of their carbon from non-living organic material by breaking down cell wall carbohydrates and lignin compounds (Leonowicz et al. 1999; Lindahl & Tunlid 2015; Fernandez & Kennedy 2016; Beck et al. 2018). Ectomycorrhizal fungi, mostly present in the mineral soil layers and the lower part of the humus, are known for their symbiosis with trees, where trees provide ectomycorrhizal fungi with carbon and fungi in return provide trees with nitrogen and phosphorus (Rosling et al. 2003; Näsholm et al. 2013; Chen et al. 2019; Tahovská et al. 2020). Saprotrophic fungi are present in many diverse fungal phyla (Wijayawardene et al. 2024), while ectomycorrhizal fungi mostly belong to Basidiomycota, Ascomycota and Mucuromycotina phyla (Lilleskov et al. 2019).

Sequencing studies showed that the most commonly found fungal phyla forest compartments are Ascomycota, Basidiomycota, boreal in Mucoromycota and Glomeromycota (Millberg et al. 2015; Urbanová et al. 2015; Nguyen et al. 2016a; Marciulyniene et al. 2021). A higher abundance of Basidiomycota has been observed in soils, while a higher abundance of Ascomycota has been observed in plant tissues (Terhonen et al. 2019). Distinct microbiomes have been reported for aboveground and belowground fungal communities (Haas et al. 2018; Schneider et al. 2021). The fungal microbiome composition is proposed to be strongly affected by plant species (Urbanová et al. 2015; Romeralo et al. 2022) in addition to environmental conditions, forest management practices and soil properties (Tedersoo et al. 2014; Millberg et al. 2015; Nguyen et al. 2016a).

Fungi are capable of producing extracellular enzymes whose role is to degrade complex organic compounds into simpler forms that fungi can take up (Allison et al. 2010). These enzymes mostly target compounds including nitrogen, carbon and phosphorus (Allison et al. 2010). The early stages of degradation depend on the activity of hydrolytic enzymes cleaving specific molecular bonds to decompose compounds such as cellulose and peptides (Baldrian & Štursova 2010). The latter stages of decompose recalcitrant compounds such as lignin (Sinsabaugh 2010). While saprotrophic fungi are better known for their oxidative potential, it has been shown that several

ectomycorrhizal fungi retained genes for oxidative enzymes (Floudas et al. 2012; Argiroff et al. 2022). Understanding the decomposition in the boreal forest is extremely important as boreal forest soils represent a large carbon stock whose existence also depends on the fungal enzyme activities (Chodak et al. 2015; Fernandez & Kennedy 2016; Kyaschenko et al. 2017).

1.4.2 Bacteria

Bacteria are omnipresent in the boreal forest, as research even showed their presence inside Scots pine bud cells and shoot tissue cells (Pirttilä et al. 2000; Koskimaki et al. 2015). However, compared to fungal microbiomes, much less is known about bacterial microbiomes, their structure and their role in the boreal forest. Sequencing studies on boreal forest soil and plantassociated microbiomes show a high abundance of Proteobacteria, followed by Actinobacteria and Acidobacteria phyla, which all play a role in the nitrogen and carbon cycles (Tahovská et al. 2020; Choma et al. 2021; Bell-Dovon et al. 2022; Padda et al. 2022). Additionally, a high abundance of Pseudomonadota phylum has been reported for aboveground plant tissues (Terhonen et al. 2019). Similar to fungal microbiomes, several studies reported distinct microbiomes between aboveground plant tissues of boreal forest trees and belowground plant tissues or soils (Haas et al. 2018; Padda et al. 2022; Rodríguez-Rodríguez et al. 2023). It was observed that boreal forest bacterial communities can be affected by soil properties, tree species and growing season length (Priha et al. 2001: Chodak et al. 2015: Urbanová et al. 2015; Haas et al. 2018; Rodríguez-Rodríguez et al. 2023) but are more resistant to environmental changes compared to fungal microbiomes (Uroz et al. 2016a).

One special type of bacteria are nitrogen-fixing bacteria belonging to 10 different genera (Pirttilä & Frank 2018). Nitrogen-fixing bacteria can be in symbiosis with a plant, free-living or endophytic (Chanway et al. 2014; Pirttilä & Frank 2018). All nitrogen-fixing bacteria are capable of changing dinitrogen into plant-available ammonia (Bulgarelli et al. 2013). The reaction is catalyzed by nitrogenase, a multi-subunit enzyme structured from two proteins: dinitrogenase and dinitrogenase reductase (Marchal & Vanderleyden 2000; Canfield et al. 2010). Dinitrogenase is responsible for the reduction of dinitrogen into ammonia, while dinitrogenase reductase binds adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (Marchal & Vanderleyden 2000; Canfield et al. 2010). Biological nitrogen fixation is mostly limited by high

energy demand and oxygen levels as nitrogenase is oxygen sensitive (Vitousek et al. 2013). Commonly, nitrogenase activity is downregulated by higher nitrogen and upregulated by higher carbon availability, while phosphorus availability leads to various responses (Zheng et al. 2017; Avila Clasen et al. 2023). Nitrogen-fixing bacteria have been isolated from needles and stems of several, mostly North American, conifer species (e.g. lodgepole pine and hybrid white spruce) and most of these bacteria belonged to the genera Paenibacillus, Bacillus, Pseudomonas and Caballeronia (Bal et al. 2012; Padda et al. 2018; Puri et al. 2018). Furthermore, nitrogen fixation has been measured in needles of certain conifer species across diverse types of forests using acetylene-reduction assay, however, the recorded rates of nitrogen fixation differ greatly as estimates range from grams to kilograms nitrogen per hectare and year (Jones 1970; Granhall & Lindberg 1978; Jones 1982; Favilli & Messini 1990; Moyes et al. 2016). Nitrogen fixation has even been detected in Scots pine and Norway spruce fine-roots (Granhall & Lindberg 1978; Nilsson 2020) and in boreal forest logging residues (Tormanen & Smolander 2022).

In addition to nitrogen fixation, the bacteria may possess other plant growth-promoting properties contributing to higher plant growth, improved yield, better pathogen resistance and protection against certain abiotic stresses (Kong et al. 2018; Aghai et al. 2019; Iqbal et al. 2021; Ghadamgahi et al. 2022). Plant growth-promoting properties influence plant nutrition (e.g. through nitrogen fixation, and phosphorus or iron solubilization), phytohormone levels (e.g. auxins, cytokinins and gibberellins), stress response (e.g. by regulating ethylene levels) and pathogen protection (e.g. production of siderophores, hydrogen cyanide, antibiotics and cell wall degrading enzymes) (Penrose et al. 2001; Jasim et al. 2013; Olanrewaju et al. 2017; Rana et al. 2020). An idea is that the application of plant growthpromoting bacteria (PGPB) in agriculture and forestry would replace the use of synthetic fertilizers to ensure a more sustainable increase in plant growth and yield (Berg et al. 2020; Berg et al. 2021). Indeed, inoculation of conifer seedlings and certain non-conifer plants (e.g. sunflower and canola) with PGPB isolated from conifer tissues significantly improved plant biomass (Anand et al. 2013; Padda et al. 2015; Puri et al. 2015a; Puri et al. 2015b; Padda et al. 2019; Puri et al. 2020c; Song et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2021; Song et al. 2021; Younas et al. 2023). However, with conifer seedlings, the establishment of beneficial plant-bacteria interaction in some cases took up

to a year to develop (Anand et al. 2013; Tang et al. 2017). Most of the PGPB used in inoculation studies were nitrogen-fixing, and several studies showed that the inoculated plants could receive up to half of their nitrogen through biological nitrogen fixation (Anand et al. 2013; Puri et al. 2015b; Padda et al. 2019). However, most of the studies used severely nitrogen-limited growth media (e.g. sandy mixtures) without the presence of soil or seed native microbiome. Therefore, the question remains if these results can be successfully scaled up and applied to systems including natural soils (de-Bashan & Nannipieri 2024). Additionally, recent studies suggested that increased plant growth promotion can be achieved using a consortium of PGPB instead of single strains, as a consortium includes PGPB with a wider range of functions and with different roles in nutrient cycling (Ray et al. 2020; Saleem et al. 2021; Khan et al. 2022). However, similar research on PGPB in boreal forests is still lacking (Lucy et al. 2004; Jangra et al. 2024).

1.4.3 Microbiomes and nitrogen

Nitrogen addition (though deposition or fertilization) can have significant effects on the boreal forest microbiomes. Studies showed that nitrogen addition leads e.g. to decreased soil respiration and decomposition rates (Nohrstedt et al. 1989; Janssens et al. 2010; Lilleskov et al. 2019; Forsmark et al. 2021). This is suggested to be connected to a change in the fungal microbiome composition and, consequently, a change in the activity of extracellular enzymes, but the exact mechanisms are not yet known. There are contrasting results regarding an increase or decrease in microbial biomass following nitrogen addition (Janssens et al. 2010; Tahovská et al. 2020; Jörgensen et al. 2021). Many studies reported a decline of ectomycorrhizal fungi (such as Cortinarious, Russula and Piloderma) after nitrogen addition, while the abundance of saprotrophic fungi remained similar (Tahovská et al. 2020; Jörgensen et al. 2021; Marupakula et al. 2021). Nitrogen addition is also proposed to change the bacterial microbiome by decreasing the abundance of nitrogen-sensitive bacterial classes such as Deltaproteobacteria and Acidobacteriae and increasing the abundance of Alphaproteobacteria, Gammaproteobacteria and Actinobacteria (Tahovská et al. 2020). Furthermore, it has been shown that higher nitrogen availability can decrease biological nitrogen fixation in forests (Cusack et al. 2009; Clasen et al. 2025). For example, nitrogen addition severely negatively affected the cyanobacterial nitrogen fixation on boreal forest moss species (Gundale et

al. 2011; Gundale et al. 2013; Leppänen et al. 2013). However, little is known about the effect of nitrogen addition on conifer endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacteria.

2. Aims and research questions

2.1 Aims

The main aims were to study the composition of the Fennoscandian boreal forest fungal and bacterial microbiomes, analyse the effects of nitrogen addition on these microbiomes and their respective activity and examine if inoculation with plant growth-promoting bacteria or fertilization with organic nitrogen-based nutrition could be sustainable alternatives to inorganic nitrogen fertilization.

2.2 Research questions

- What is the composition of the Scots pine and Norway spruce soil, endophytic root and needle fungal and bacterial communities? (Papers I, II and III)
- What are the effects of inorganic nitrogen addition on boreal forest microbiomes, specifically Norway spruce soil and endophytic root fungi and Scots pine endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacteria? (Papers II and III)
- 3) Could plant growth-promoting bacteria and organic nitrogen-based nutrition be potential sustainable alternatives to inorganic nitrogen fertilizer? (Papers IV and V)

3. Material and methods

An array of molecular, microbiological and chemical methods was used in papers I-V. The exact descriptions and protocols for the methods can be found in their respective papers. Therefore, this material and methods section only includes a short overview of the methods whose results are discussed within this thesis text.

3.1 Field sites

The papers I, II, III, and V include samples collected from three field sites: Åheden, Svartberget nitrogen addition experiment, and Svartberget common garden experiment. All three sites are located close to each other outside of Vindeln, northern Sweden.

Samples for paper I were collected at the Svartberget common garden experiment (N 64° 15', E 19° 47'). The common garden was established in 1992 by planting several different conifer species in monocultures at plots sized 34 x 34 meters in a randomized block design with three replicate plots per tree species (Spitzer et al. 2025). The collected bulk soil (mixture of humus soil layer and mineral soil at their interface) and needle samples for the paper I were collected from the Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) and Norway spruce (*Picea abies*) plots.

Samples in papers II and V were collected at the Åheden field site (N 64° 14', E 19° 48'), which is a naturally regenerated boreal forest of predominately around 150-year-old Scots pine with some Norway spruce (From et al. 2016). A randomized block design was established in 2004 with five levels of nitrogen addition rates (0, 3, 6, 12 and 50 kg nitrogen per hectare and year) and six replicates for each rate. The blocks are yearly fertilized with ammonium nitrate granules. For paper II, the blocks belonging

to 0 and 50 kg N per hectare and year were used, while samples for paper V were collected in the forest adjacent to the fertilization trial. In both cases, only one-year-old needles were collected.

Paper III samples were collected at the Svartberget nitrogen addition experiment field site (N 64° 14', E 19° 46'), which is naturally regenerated around 150-year-old Norway spruce-dominated boreal forest with trees of different ages (From et al. 2016). The nitrogen addition experiment was established in 1996 with a randomized block design with three levels of nitrogen addition rates (0, 12.5 and 50 kg nitrogen per hectare and year) and with different plot sizes. The humus soil layer and fine-root samples for paper III were collected from 1000 and 2500 square meter plots, providing twelve replicates per nitrogen addition rate. The forest is fertilized yearly with ammonium nitrate granules.

3.2 Sequencing

Across all papers, bacterial identity was analysed by amplicon sequencing of the 16S rRNA region encoding a ribosomal RNA gene (Gray et al. 1984) and fungal identity by ITS region situated between large-subunit and smallsubunit ribosomal RNA genes (Gardes et al. 1991). Both 16S and ITS have highly conserved and highly variable regions enabling bacterial or fungal identification (Edwards et al. 1989; Gardes et al. 1991). This identification usually provides information across all taxonomic ranks, from kingdom, phylum, class, order, family, genus to species, which reflect evolutionary relationships (Cronquist 2019). However, in certain cases, only identity at higher taxonomic orders is possible due to missing data in the databases used for taxonomic identification based on 16S and ITS sequence (Daisley & Reid 2021; Barrenechea Angeles et al. 2024).

Different sequencing methods were used in papers I, II, III and V. To identify the isolated nitrogen-fixing bacteria in papers II and V, Sanger sequencing was used. The second-generation sequencing platform Illumina was used in paper III to analyse the fungal microbiome, while the third-generation sequencing platform PacBio was used in paper I to analyse the bacterial and fungal microbiomes. Sanger sequencing is based on detecting radioactively or, more commonly, fluorescently labelled chain-terminating nucleotides (Slatko et al. 2018). Sanger sequencing is an inexpensive method used to sequence individual templates with one specific DNA primer, which

can produce accurate sequences of up to around 1000 bases, however, it cannot be used for high-throughput applications (Slatko et al. 2018). The Illumina sequencing platform is based on sequencing-by-synthesis method with fluorescently labelled reversible chain-terminating nucleotides (Hu et al. 2021). The length of the read is restricted to a maximum of 300 bases, but longer reads can be achieved with paired-end sequencing (Hu et al. 2021). The Illumina sequencing platform offers high throughput and has a very low error rate, however, short reads can lead to problems with sequence assembly and sequencing takes a relatively long time (Hu et al. 2021; Mandlik et al. 2024). The PacBio sequencing platform is based on fluorescently labelled nucleotides, whose light pulse is identified when the specific base is held by the DNA polymerase (Rhoads & Au 2015). The PacBio sequencing platform offers long reads of typically between 10 000 and 25 000 bases (Han et al. 2024). PacBio sequencing allows the detection of DNA modifications, enables an easier sequence assembly and has a faster sequencing time (Slatko et al. 2018; Hu et al. 2021). The PacBio sequencing platform used to have a quite high error rate, but it has improved significantly in recent years (Han et al. 2024).

The bioinformatic analysis of sequencing data includes several steps, but the most important parts are pre-processing of raw data, clustering or denoising and taxonomic assignment (Kim et al. 2020; Regueira-Iglesias et al. 2023). The pre-processing steps depend on the sequencing platform but usually include quality filtering of sequences and removal of chimeric sequences. The next step is based on either clustering or denoising methods. The commonly used clustering method is operational taxonomic units (OTUs) construction, where sequences sharing over 97% identity are clustered together (Kozich et al. 2013; Chiarello et al. 2022). The use of clustering decreases the number of sequencing errors and reduces the computation power needed for further analysis (Chiarello et al. 2022). More recently, the denoising method started to be used, which depends on an error model determining which sequences are a consequence of sequencing errors and which are real biological sequences defined as amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) (Chiarello et al. 2022). The use of the denoising method is proposed to capture higher biological variation, have higher accuracy and reproducibility, and in certain cases, allow easier comparison between studies (Callahan et al. 2017). The clustering method with OTUs was used in paper III, and the denoising method with ASVs was used in paper I. The

next step of the bioinformatic analysis is the sequence taxonomic assignment using a reference database such as UNITE for fungal sequences (Abarenkov et al. 2024) and SILVA 138 for bacterial sequences (Quast et al. 2013). The final step of bioinformatic analysis is data analysis and visualization using either raw or normalized data (McMurdie & Holmes 2014; Weiss et al. 2017; Cameron et al. 2021), which can focus on relative abundance, within and between sample diversity, differential abundance, core microbiome and network analysis (Peeters et al. 2021; Regueira-Iglesias et al. 2023).

Both the selection of the sequencing platform (PacBio in paper I and Illumina in paper III) and the selection of the bioinformatics pipeline, normalization method, clustering or denoising method (ASVs in paper I and OTUs in paper III), and reference database can have significant effects on the sequencing results regarding the microbiome composition (Couldrey et al. 2017; Abellan-Schneyder et al. 2021; Chiarello et al. 2022; Cook et al. 2024). More standardized state-of-the-art pipelines are needed for higher accuracy and easier comparison of sequencing results between different studies.

3.3 Isolation of nitrogen-fixing bacteria

The nitrogen-fixing bacteria were isolated from surface-sterilized Scots pine needles. The sterilization used in papers II and V was based on an unpublished pre-study, which analysed the sterilization of Scots pine needles using either ethanol, hydrogen peroxide or sodium hypochlorite with different concentrations and submersion times. The pre-study highlighted the difficulty between ensuring complete sterilization of the needle surface while preserving as much of the endophytic microbiome as possible. The two most optimal sterilization protocols proved to be submersion in 30% hydrogen peroxide for two minutes or submersion in 70% ethanol for three minutes, which were subsequently used in papers II and V.

Nitrogen-free media was used for the isolation of nitrogen-fixing bacteria in both papers II and V. An unpublished pre-study evaluated five different nitrogen-free media: combined carbon media (Baldani et al. 2014), Ashby media (Liu et al. 2012), Burk's media (Park et al. 2005), LGI-P (Baldani et al. 2014), and semi-solid NFb media (Reis et al. 2015). Based on the results, in paper II, the combined carbon media, LGI-P and semi-solid NFb media were used, while in paper V, only the combined carbon media was used. As nitrogen-fixing bacteria have diverse nutritional preferences (Baldani et al. 2014), it is beneficial to use several different nitrogen-free media to ensure the isolation of several diverse bacterial genera. However, during the isolation of bacteria in paper II, it was noticed that bacteria growing in the semi-solid NFb media were mostly incapable of growing on solid media, which made their further characterization extremely difficult.

3.4 Microbial abundance

In paper III, phospholipid-derived fatty acids (PLFAs) were used to measure the bacterial and fungal biomass, while in papers III and IV, ergosterol measurements were used to measure fungal biomass. The PLFA method is based on the quantification of extracted phospholipid fatty acids from the cell membrane (Klamer 2004). The PLFA markers are specific for a certain group of microorganisms as the cell membranes of different microbial groups contain different phospholipid fatty acids (Klamer 2004). Ergosterol measurements are similarly based on the extraction and quantification of the ergosterol, which is a primary sterol in the cell membranes of fungi (Pasanen et al. 1999). In paper III, the ergosterol content was measured using high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) connected to an optical-ultraviolet detector, while in paper IV, it was measured using gas chromatography - tandem mass spectrometry (GC-MS/MS) with an internal standard to account for ergosterol degradation. Both PLFA and ergosterol measurements are considered to be reliable, relatively rapid and sensitive (Ruzicka et al. 2000; Frostegård et al. 2011), however, they both have their disadvantages. The disadvantages of ergosterol measurements are species-specific ergosterol concentrations, absence of ergosterol in cell membranes of certain primitive fungi, and longer persistence of ergosterol in dead material, which may lead to overestimation of fungal biomass (Zhao et al. 2005; Adamczyk et al. 2024). The disadvantages of PLFAs are overlapping PLFA composition between different microbial groups and the effect of environmental conditions on PLFA turnover rate (Klamer 2004; Frostegård et al. 2011).

3.5 Enzyme activities

The analysis of extracellular enzymes activities was based on exposing the humus slurry samples to labelled substrates and measuring the rate of substrate hydrolysis. The colorimetric assays are based on the detection of a colored end product, which is produced after hydrolysis by the enzyme (Jackson et al. 2013). Fluorometric assays are similar, where after the hydrolysis of the labelled substrate, the released fluorophore emits light upon light excitation (Jackson et al. 2013). In the thesis, colorimetric assays were used for peroxidase and laccase, while fluorometric assays with 4methylumbelliferyl (MUB) labelled substrate were used for chitinase, glucosidase, xylosidase, endoglucanase and phosphatase and with 7-amido-4-methylcoumarin (AMC) labelled substrate for peptidase. Soil enzyme activity assays are usually inexpensive, rapid and accurate; however, the methods can lack the needed optimization, and the results can be misinterpreted (German et al. 2011; Nannipieri et al. 2017).

3.6 Western blot

Western blot was used to analyse the presence of nitrogenase NifH subunit protein in paper II as the NifH subunit is the building block of the dinitrogenase reductase subunit and is commonly used as a marker for nitrogen-fixing bacteria. The Western blot method includes many steps, from sample preparation, gel electrophoresis, membrane transfer, blocking, primary antibody incubation, and secondary antibody incubation to the detection of the protein (Bass et al. 2017). As the method has been extensively evolved in the last decades, there are a variety of options available for all steps (Kurien & Scofield 2006). Western blot has not been previously used to detect the NifH subunit protein in conifer needles, so a reliable protocol was developed in paper II, where SDS-PAGE was used for gel electrophoresis, the primary antibody was chicken anti-NifH, and the secondary antibody was horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat antichicken. To ensure reliable and accurate data, two negative controls (protein loading buffer and Bradyrhizobium japonicum liquid culture protein extract) and two positive controls (soybean nodule extract and purified His-tagged NifH) were used. The advantage of using the Western blot method is high sensitivity and accessibility (Kurien & Scofield 2006; Gorr & Vogel 2015; Bass et al. 2017). Even though it can be hard to establish a reproducible

Western blot protocol due to multiple steps and various options in each step (Kurien & Scofield 2006; Gorr & Vogel 2015; Bass et al. 2017), a reproducible protocol was developed for detecting nitrogenase NifH subunit in Scots pine needle protein extract in paper II.

3.7 Acetylene-reduction assay

Acetylene-reduction assay was used to indirectly estimate the nitrogenfixation in various sample types. It was used to estimate the nitrogen fixation inside Scots pine needles in paper II, for liquid bacterial cultures in papers II and V and for six-month-old Scots pine seedlings in paper IV. The method is based on the observation that nitrogenase, in addition to fixing nitrogen, is capable of reducing acetylene into ethylene, whose production can be measured using gas chromatography (Hardy et al. 1968; Hardy et al. 1973). The method includes exchanging 10% of the air with acetylene, incubation and subsequent measurement of the ethylene production. In papers II, IV and V, the incubation time was two hours to enable comparison between results. Usually, two controls are used: a water control and a negative control. The water control is used to account for any ethylene presence in the absence of a sample, while the negative control accounts for endogenous ethylene production of the sample in the absence of acetylene. Especially during needle acetylene-reduction assay measurements, it became evident that sample-specific negative controls are extremely important (see Appendix 1), and therefore, those have been used for all reported results in papers and this thesis. In the case of needle acetylene-reduction assay measurements, the sample-specific negative controls were needles collected from the same tree. For other measurements, sample-specific negative controls meant liquid cultures or seedlings undergoing the exact same treatment as samples. Furthermore, the effects of needle sample pre-treatment and light conditions during incubation were observed during acetylene-reduction measurements (see Appendix 2 and 3, respectively). Compared to other methods used for nitrogen fixation estimations, acetylene-reduction assay is inexpensive, rapid and sensitive (Hardy et al. 1973; Unkovich et al. 2008). However, the measurements only include ethylene production during the assay time, and the conversion ratio between ethylene production and nitrogen fixation differs across plant species and even growth stages (Unkovich et al. 2008; Soper et al. 2021).
3.8 Greenhouse experiment with arginine-ironhexametaphosphate

A greenhouse study was used in paper IV to examine the potential of using controlled-release organic nitrogen plant nutrition in the form of arginine-iron-hexametaphosphate (referred to as Arginine Fe-HMP) to promote the growth of Scots pine seedlings. The patented technology is based on the specific, three-way interaction between arginine, polyphosphate and iron (Näsholm et al. 2017), enabling the release of the amino acid arginine and phosphate over extended periods of time, where the release rate is dependent on the length of the polyphosphate chain (Näsholm et al. 2017). The Arginine Fe-HMP is, therefore, not a fully developed product by Arevo AB, and the test is not a head-to-head comparison between products but rather a test of the potential of an alternative, organic nitrogen controlledrelease formulation. In contrast to most of the inorganic nitrogen-based controlled-release fertilizers, Arginine Fe-HMP is biodegradable, as its slow nutrient release is not dependent on a synthetic polymer coat commonly used with inorganic nitrogen-based fertilizers (Vejan et al. 2021). The paper IV greenhouse study included three treatments: control, Arginine Fe-HMP and commercial controlled-release fertilizer (referred to as commercial CRF, in the case of this study, we used Osmocote, Substral). Each treatment included three cassettes with 60 planted seeds, and the nutrition was mixed into the non-fertilized limed peat just before Scots pine seeds were sown. The amount of nutrition added was calculated for each seedling to receive exactly 12 milligrams of nitrogen. Run-off water was collected the day after sowing to estimate nitrate leaching, and the germination rate was analysed daily during the first month. The survival rate was assessed monthly until the seedlings were harvested when they were approximately six months old. After harvest, the seedling length, dry shoot and root weight, chlorophyll content, carbon content, nitrogen content, and isotope ¹⁵N content were measured to compare the plant growth between the three treatments. Additionally, the ethylene production from washed seedlings and root ergosterol content were measured to analyse the effects of the treatments on microbial biomass and activity.

3.9 In vitro plant growth-promoting property assays

In paper V, seven different *in vitro* assays were used to evaluate the plant growth-promoting properties of endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacterial strains isolated from Scots pine needles. The assays were performed on two newly isolated bacterial strains and seven bacterial strains isolated previously in paper II. The in vitro assays evaluated phosphorus solubilization, zinc solubilization, indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) production, hydrogen peroxide production, siderophore production and activity of protease and cellulase. For zinc solubilization, hydrogen peroxide production and siderophore production, plate assays were used, while for the other properties, colorimetric assays were performed on liquid cultures. In the phosphorus solubilization assay, three different forms of phosphorus were used (tricalcium phosphate, iron (III) phosphate and aluminium phosphate), as it has been observed that the most often used method for phosphate solubilization with tricalcium phosphate overestimates the bacterial phosphorus solubilization capability (Pérez et al. 2007; Bashan et al. 2012). Usually, plate assays are simple and inexpensive, while colorimetric assays provide higher sensitivity and better quantification but often require more expensive equipment (Hossain 2024). However, even colorimetric assays can sometimes overestimate bacterial plant growth promotion potential, for example, in the assay measuring IAA production, other indole-like molecules can be detected as well (Glickmann & Dessaux 1995; Guardado-Fierros et al. 2024).

3.10 Greenhouse inoculation experiment with plant growth-promoting bacteria

A greenhouse inoculation study in paper V was used to evaluate plant growth promotion of the three most promising bacterial strains based on *in vitro* assays. The bacterial strains selected were *Bacillus* sp. #2A, *Microbacterium* sp. #25 and *Priestia megaterium* #39. The inoculation study was performed on four crop species, cucumber (*Cucumbis sativa*), corn (*Zea mays*), tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*), and kale (*Brassica oleracea*), from different plant taxonomic orders with seven replicates each to ensure reproducibility and evaluate plant growth promotion across agriculturally important crop species. The plants were inoculated with a single strain or a consortium three times, at sowing, one week after sowing and two weeks after sowing, to promote the bacterial establishment. However, the study did not evaluate the viability and the colonization of the inoculated bacterial strains. The plant growth promotion was assessed using chlorophyll content, root and shoot lengths and root and shoot dry weight. In the study, the soil and seeds with their native microbiome were used, and the effects of inoculation were measured using dry weight as per recent recommendations (Huang et al. 2016; de-Bashan & Nannipieri 2024). The inoculation study setups differ greatly between different studies in regards to growth media, inoculation technique (concerning both bacterial strains preparation and application), and plant growth promotion assessment methods, making it sometimes difficult to compare results between studies.

4. Key results and discussion

In this thesis, key results from papers I, II, III, IV and V will be discussed. The thesis references data from these papers and further data and details can be found in the respective papers.

4.1 Composition of Scots pine and Norway spruce microbiomes

The first research question that the thesis addressed in papers I, II, and III was about the composition of Scots pine and Norway spruce soil, roots and endophytic needle microbiomes. Very few previously published articles investigated the Fennoscandian boreal forest microbiomes and even fewer studies simultaneously analysed fungal and bacterial microbiomes. In papers I and III, the composition of the fungal and bacterial microbiomes and the presence of a core microbiome were analysed. In paper II, the endophytic nitrogen-fixing fungi were isolated and identified to provide more information about this unique group of bacteria.

4.1.1 Fungal microbiomes

Fungal microbiomes are an important part of the boreal forest ecosystem (Schneider et al. 2021), and papers I and III provided an insight into the fungal microbiome composition across several Scots pine and Norway spruce forest compartments. In paper I, the collected samples were bulk soil (a mixture of mineral soil and humus) and surface-sterilized needle samples from pine and spruce growing at separate plots in a common garden experiment. In paper III, the spruce humus soil layer and spruce surface-sterilized fine-roots were collected from plots of naturally regenerated spruce forest. The combined results showed that the two dominating fungal phyla

across all samples were Basidiomycota and Ascomycota, while the relative abundances of other fungal phyla were relatively low (Figure 1A). Basidiomycota relative abundance had a trend of decreasing from bulk soil, humus, fine-root to needle samples, while the Ascomycota relative abundance had the opposite trend of increasing from bulk soil, humus, fineroot to needle samples. The results were in accordance with previous studies showing that Basidiomycota and Ascomycota are some of the most common fungal phyla in the coniferous forest (Urbanová et al. 2015; Romeralo et al. 2022). It has been previously observed that generally, Basidiomycota have higher relative abundance in forest soils and Ascomycota in plant tissues (Terhonen et al. 2019). However, this thesis is the first to portray their relative abundance trends across two different boreal forest tree species and several compartments.

Looking deeper into taxonomic ranks, the fungal class with the highest relative abundance in bulk soil samples was Agaricomycetes (belonging to Basidiomycota phylum), whose relative abundance was dominant in both bulk soil samples but was higher in pine bulk soil compared to spruce bulk soil samples (Figure 1B). The second most abundant class in, especially, spruce soil was Leotiomycetes (belonging to Ascomycota phylum), which had a trend of increasing in relative abundance from spruce bulk soil, humus, fine-roots up to spruce needles, where it represented the dominant fungal class. Additionally, spruce bulk soil, humus and fine-roots showed a lower, but relatively similar relative abundance of Dothideomycetes (belonging to Ascomycota phylum). The most distinct samples were the needle samples, where pine had a high relative abundance of Arthoniomycetes (belonging to Ascomycota phylum), Pucciniomycetes (belonging to Basidiomycota phylum) and unknown fungal class/classes. The spruce needle samples had, in addition to the dominant fungal class Leotiomycetes (belonging to Ascomycota phylum), a high relative abundance of Lecanoromycetes (belonging to Ascomycota phylum). Several other fungal classes were identified across the samples, however, their relative abundances were below 10%.

The phyla and class taxonomic rank results were in accordance with previous studies reporting compositional differences between belowground and aboveground fungal microbiomes for Norway spruce (Haas et al. 2018; Li et al. 2018; Schneider et al. 2021). However, this thesis further highlighted

the differences in the compositions of fungal needle microbiomes between Scots pine and Norway spruce.

Already at the phyla and class taxonomic rank, there were several fungal OTUs/AVSs which had an unassigned taxonomy, and the number only increased looking further into taxonomic ranks such as family, genus and species (data not shown).





The suggested definition of the core microbiome describes it as a group of microbial species continuously associated with a specific environment (Berg et al. 2020), and Venn diagrams are one of the options for displaying it (Shade & Handelsman 2012). In this thesis, Venn diagrams were used to analyse how many OTUs/ASVs were shared across different samples by looking at their presence or absence without considering in how many samples the specific OTU/ASV occurred. In paper III, the results showed that the majority of the OTUs were shared between the Norway spruce humus layer and surface-sterilized fine-roots (Figure 2A), which indicates the presence of a core microbiome for these two spruce compartments. Humus had a high number of unique OTUs, while only eight unique OTUs were detected in the fine-root samples. A lower number of endophytic fungal species present inside plant roots compared to surrounding soil has been noticed in previous studies (Gottel et al. 2011; Cregger et al. 2018) and indicates root microbiome selection by the plant (Bulgarelli et al. 2013). Surprisingly, paper I results showed no shared ASVs at all between the bulk soil and endophytic needle microbiome in either Norway spruce (Figure 2B) or Scots pine (Figure 2C). There were some shared fungal ASVs between pine and spruce bulk soil samples (Figure 2D), while pine and spruce needle samples did not share any fungal ASVs (Figure 2E). Further composition analysis showed statistically significantly different compositions for both bulk soil and needle samples between pine and spruce (paper I). This suggests that in the paper I Svartberget common garden experiment, we could not detect the presence of a core microbiome across different compartments of the same tree species or across all compartments and both tree species. The presence of a core microbiome was expected as previous studies in diverse forests reported core microbiomes consisting of a few to several OTUs/ASVs shared across one or two compartments (Bonito et al. 2014; Castro et al. 2021; Romeralo et al. 2022), but a larger study looking at the phyllosphere microbiome of 56 different tree species did not detect a core microbiome (Redford et al. 2010).

One factor adding to the complexity concerning core microbiomes is their unclear definition, which differs between studies (see for example Griffin et al. (2019), Firrincieli et al. (2020) and Romeralo et al. (2022)), especially the requirement of occupancy (how many percentages of all samples the OTU/ASV needs to be detected in to still qualify as a core microbiome OTU/ASV). A more exact definition of a core microbiome and a more

streamlined analysis would be needed to be able to accurately compare potential core microbiomes between different studies. Additionally, the analysis of the core microbiome is commonly based on taxonomic data and not functional data (Lemanceau et al. 2017). It has been proposed that the core microbiome should instead be defined based on the functional traits of specific microbial species, as the plants probably select the species based on their function and not based on their taxonomy (Lemanceau et al. 2017). However, the functional core microbiome is hard to determine as species have more than one function (Rodriguez et al. 2009; Sikes et al. 2010; Cassán et al. 2020) and the sequencing of ITS probably does not provide enough information regarding the species functions, as taxonomically very close species can have different functions in their environment (Munkvold et al. 2004; Johnson et al. 2012). As the needle endophytic microbiome was completely distinct from the bulk soil microbiome, the results further support the hypothesis that plants can influence their microbiome compositions (Bulgarelli et al. 2013). Furthermore, no shared ASVs between the bulk soil and the needle microbiome suggest the existence of alternative entryways into the plant other than through root cracks and wounds (Santoyo et al. 2016; Kandel et al. 2017). One of the suggested alternative entryways is through leaf or needle stomata (Moore et al. 2006; Padda et al. 2022; Zhou et al. 2023), which could be the entryway for the unique needle fungal species detected in the paper I study.



Figure 2: Shared fungal OTUs/ASVs between different compartments and tree species based on ITS sequencing: A) spruce fine-root and humus, B) spruce needle and bulk soil, C) pine needle and bulk soil, D) pine and spruce bulk soil and E) pine and spruce needle. Observe that different sequencing methods and sample sizes have been used (spruce fine-root: Illumina, n = 72 and Svartberget nitrogen addition experiment, spruce humus: Illumina, n = 71 and Svartberget nitrogen addition experiment, spruce bulk soil and needle: PacBio, n = 8 and Svartberget common garden, and pine bulk soil and needle: PacBio, n = 6 and Svartberget common garden).

4.1.2 Bacterial microbiomes

Compared to fungal microbiomes, even less is known about boreal forest bacterial microbiomes, which were investigated in paper I. The results showed the presence of eight different bacterial phyla across Scots pine and Norway spruce bulk soil samples (Figure 3A). The most abundant phylum was Actinobacteriota, with higher relative abundance in pine compared to spruce bulk soil, and Proteobacteria with similar relative abundances across the two tree species bulk soil samples. The relative abundances of the two phyla, Acidobacteriota and Planctomycetota, were higher in spruce compared to pine samples, while the phylum Bacteroidota was mostly detected in pine bulk soil. Bacteria from the same phyla as observed in paper I study have been previously detected in association with Norway spruce and lodgepole pine (Nacke et al. 2016; Haas et al. 2018; Padda et al. 2022). Usually, higher relative abundances of Proteobacteria and Acidobacteriota were reported compared to Actinobacteriota (Carrell & Frank 2014; Nacke et al. 2016; Padda et al. 2022). In contrast to previous studies, this study found that the relative abundance of Actinobacteriota was higher than the relative abundance of Actinobacteriota was higher than the relative abundance of seven different forest trees (Urbanová et al. 2015).

The bacterial taxonomic classes showed a similar pattern to the bacterial phyla with a high relative abundance of Actinobacteria and a higher relative abundance of Acidobacteriariae in pine compared to spruce bulk soil (Figure 3B). Additionally, there was а high relative abundance of Alphaproteobacteria and Planctomycetes. Even though no previous studies compared the bulk soil bacterial microbiomes between the Norway spruce and Scots pine, the bacterial classes reported in this study have been observed in association with Norway spruce and diverse pine species growing in European forests (Choma et al. 2021; Romeralo et al. 2022).

For both fungi and bacteria, there were many sequences that could only be identified at the higher taxonomic ranks, but not at lower taxonomic ranks such as genus or species. Bacteria had a higher number of unassigned OTUs/ASVs at the species level than fungi (data not shown). The reason for observed unassigned OTUs/ASVs for both fungi and bacteria could be missing data in the databases used to annotate the OTU/ASV taxonomy during the bioinformatic analysis (Daisley & Reid 2021; Barrenechea Angeles et al. 2024). This suggests the need for further isolation, identification and characterization of microorganisms to be able to more accurately analyse and interpret the sequencing results, leading to better insight into the microbiome composition of a specific environment (Nguyen et al. 2016b; Barrenechea Angeles et al. 2024).



Figure 3: Bacterial relative abundance based on 16S rRNA sequencing in pine and spruce bulk soil looking at A) phylum and B) class (n = 6 for pine samples and n = 8 for spruce samples, both from the Svartberget common garden experiment and with PacBio platform sequencing).

4.1.3 Nitrogen-fixing bacteria

Bacteria with the ability to fix nitrogen from the atmosphere are widespread in nitrogen-limited ecosystems (Sepp et al. 2023), but little is known about their presence inside conifer tissues. It has been hypothesized that nitrogen-fixing bacteria might be inhabiting conifer needles in severely nitrogen-limited environments (Carrell & Frank 2014; Wurzburger 2016; Puri et al. 2018). To confirm their presence in Scots pine needles and better characterize this unique subset of bacteria, nitrogen-fixing endophytes were isolated on nitrogen-free media and identified in papers II and V. The 13 isolated bacterial strains from paper II belonged to the Sphingomonas, Variovorax, Novosphingobium, Microbacterium, Priestia and Bacillus genera (Figure 4 – bacterial strains #1, #2, #3, #14, #23, #24, #25, #26, #27, #28, #38-1, #38-2 and #39), while the two isolated bacterial strains in paper V belonged to Bacillus and Robbsia genera (Figure 4 - bacterial strains #1A and #2A). The findings of bacterial species belonging to these genera were in accordance with previous studies as bacterial strains belonging to these genera have been commonly isolated from tree species such as lodgepole pine, hybrid white spruce, poplar, birch and rowan (Moore et al. 2006; Izumi et al. 2008a; Puri et al. 2018). The only exception was Robbsia andropogonis, which has only been found in association with mycorrhizas of slash pine (Izumi et al. 2008b) but is otherwise a known plant pathogen with a wide host range (Duan et al. 2009). It has previously been shown that several bacterial strains belonging to Sphingomonas, Variovorax, Novosphingobium, Microbacterium, Priestia and Bacillus genera possess plant growth-promoting properties leading to increased plant growth (Çakmakçı et al. 2001; Karlidag et al. 2007; Maimaiti et al. 2007; Castanheira et al. 2014; Rangjaroen et al. 2017; Katsenios et al. 2021), therefore the bacteria isolated in papers II and V could be good candidates for plant growth promotion.

In both papers II and V, nitrogen-free media was used as that is supposed to ensure that only nitrogen-fixing bacteria are isolated, as other bacteria cannot grow without added nitrogen. However, it has been seen that certain bacterial strains without nitrogen fixation ability were capable of growing on nitrogen-free media (Doty et al. 2009; Padda et al. 2018; Puri et al. 2018). Therefore, the isolated bacterial strains were tested for their nitrogen fixation ability using the acetylene-reduction assay. The results showed that 12 out of the 15 isolated bacterial strains were able to produce ethylene, indicating nitrogen fixation, when grown in liquid cultures (papers II and V). The other three bacterial strains (#2, #14 and #38-1) are either not nitrogen-fixing and were able to grow due to nitrogen carryover (Ozawa et al. 2003) or maybe the acetylene-reduction assay conditions were not suitable for these strains, for example due to selected media, temperature or incubation time.



Figure 4: Phylogenetic tree of the isolated potential nitrogen-fixing bacteria from the Åheden field site surface-sterilized Scots pine needles based on 16S rRNA sequencing. The phylogenetic tree was created using Phylogeny.fr and the numbers represent the branching points' likelihood-ratio test values.

4.2 Effects of inorganic nitrogen addition on microbiomes

The second research question investigated the effects of nitrogen addition on boreal forest microbiomes. Paper III analysed the impact of nitrogen addition on fungal and bacterial abundance, fungal microbiome composition, and the activity of several extracellular enzymes. Paper II focused on the nitrogen addition effects on the presence and activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria inside Scots pine needles.

4.2.1 Fungal microbiomes

Addition of inorganic nitrogen, through either fertilization or atmospheric deposition, can affect the fungal communities in the boreal forest (Yan et al.

2017; Haas et al. 2018; Fu et al. 2022), however, effects may differ between sites and the exact effects on fungal community structure and function are not yet fully understood. The PLFA results from paper III showed that a high rate of nitrogen addition significantly decreased the fungal biomass in the humus soil layer (Figure 5A). Previous studies had contrasting results, as some studies reported, like paper III, a decreased fungal biomass after nitrogen addition (Janssens et al. 2010; Maaroufi et al. 2015; Maaroufi et al. 2019) and some studies reported instead an increased fungal biomass after nitrogen addition (Tahovská et al. 2020; Jörgensen et al. 2021).

The Venn diagram showed that most of the humus fungal OTUs were shared between the three nitrogen addition treatments, and there were only a few OTUs which were unique to either one or two specific nitrogen addition rates (Figure 5B). These results indicate that the observed decrease in fungal biomass might not be due to the disappearance of fungal species but rather to a changed abundance of the fungal species present in the environment. The sequencing analysis of the fungal microbiome in the humus layer showed a change in the relative abundance of the 10 most abundant OTUs (Figure 5C). The relative abundance of the species Oidiodendron pilicola, Piloderma sphaerosporum and Cortinarious caperatus decreased, while the relative abundance of Tylospora fibrillose increased with a high nitrogen addition rate. Fungi belonging to Cortinarious and Piloderma genera are known to be involved in the decomposition of lignified soil organic matter to access nitrogen, and their abundance has previously been observed to decrease with increasing nitrogen addition (Lilleskov et al. 2011; Bödeker et al. 2014). Tylospora genus fungi are known to be ectomycorrhizal fungi tolerant to high nitrogen levels (Prendergast-Miller et al. 2011).

Similar to the humus, the endophytic fine-root fungal microbiome also changed following the nitrogen addition treatment (Figure 5D). The relative abundance of several fungi, such as *Cenococcum geophilum*, *Piloderma sphaerosporum* and *Meliniomyces bicolor*, decreased with a higher nitrogen addition rate. But the relative abundance of *Phialocephala fortinii* and *Pezoloma ericae* increased with a higher nitrogen addition rate. Similar to *Piloderma* genus fungi, *Cenococcum* genus fungi have been seen to decrease with increasing nitrogen addition (Cox et al. 2010). In contrast to paper III results, the abundance of *Meliniomyces* has previously been seen to stay similar or even increase with nitrogen addition (Marupakula et al. 2021; Renaudin et al. 2023). *Phialocephala fortinii* and *Pezoloma ericae* are commonly reported fungi in the boreal forest (Summerbell 2005; Orumaa et al. 2022), but not much is known about their response to nitrogen addition.



Figure 5: Effects of inorganic nitrogen addition on Norway spruce fungal microbiome at the Svartberget nitrogen addition experiment: A) fungal PLFA (different letters represent statistical differences based on linear mixed effects models with Tukey's HSD test, n = 24), B) shared OTUs between different addition treatments (n = 47), C) relative abundance of top 10 most abundant fungi in humus for different addition treatments based on ITS sequencing (n = 23) and D) relative abundance of top 10 most abundant fungi in fine-roots for different addition treatments based on ITS sequencing (n = 24).

A change in the humus fungal microbiome composition due to nitrogen addition might lead to a shift in the activity of extracellular enzymes as diverse types of fungi play different roles in the soil decomposition process (Baldrian & Štursova 2010; Sinsabaugh 2010). For example, the decreased relative abundance of fungal species known for decomposition of lignified soil organic matter observed in paper III and previous studies (Lilleskov et al. 2001; Lilleskov et al. 2002), could lead to lower activity of oxidative and nitrogen-acquiring enzymes. Therefore, paper III analysed the activity of two nitrogen-acquiring enzymes, two oxidative enzymes, three carbon-acquiring enzymes and one phosphorus-acquiring enzyme (Figure 6). Indeed, decreased enzymatic activity after high nitrogen addition was observed for the two nitrogen-acquiring enzymes (Figure 6A - peptidase and chitinase) and one of the two oxidative enzymes (Figure 6B - for peroxidase, but not laccase). It could be that there was no difference in the laccase activity as laccases are known to not only target lignin compounds but have a wider range of substrates (Thurston 1994). The activity of one carbon-acquiring enzyme (Figure 6C - glucosidase) stayed similar with nitrogen addition, but the activity of the other two carbon-acquiring enzymes increased (Figure 6C - xylosidase and endoglucanase). The observed decrease in the activity of nitrogen-acquiring enzymes and increased activity of carbon-acquiring enzymes proposes a shift from a nitrogen-limited fungal community to a carbon-limited fungal community. The increased activity of carbonacquiring enzymes is probably not significantly affecting soil decomposition as enzymes measured in this study target labile carbon and not carbon stored in more lignified compounds. The activity of phosphorus acquiring enzyme (Figure 6D - phosphatase) did not change after nitrogen addition, which was interesting as it is predicted that the second most limiting nutrient after nitrogen in the boreal forest is phosphorus (Almeida et al. 2019; Richy et al. 2024). The unchanged activity of phosphatase indicates that at the paper III Svartberget nitrogen addition experiment field site phosphorus is probably not a growth limiting factor despite nearly 30 years of nitrogen additions of up to 50 kg nitrogen per hectare and year. Overall, the observed decrease in the activity of nitrogen-acquiring enzymes in paper III could contribute to the previously observed and reported decrease in soil respiration and organic matter decomposition after nitrogen addition (Nohrstedt et al. 1989; Janssens et al. 2010; Forsmark et al. 2021).



Figure 6: Combined summer and autumn potential enzyme activity across three levels of nitrogen addition at the Svartberget nitrogen addition experiment field site looking at A) nitrogen-acquiring enzymes, B) oxidative enzymes, C) carbon-acquiring enzymes and D) phosphorus-acquiring enzymes. Values are the natural logarithm of molar cleavage of enzyme-specific substrates standardized to the amount of carbon in each sample (n = 24, different letters represent statistical differences based on linear mixed effects models and Tukey's HSD test).

4.2.2 Bacterial microbiomes

Nitrogen addition has also been seen to affect the bacterial microbiomes in forests (Yan et al. 2017; Haas et al. 2018; Fu et al. 2022). In paper III, the results showed a significant decrease in the total bacterial biomass with increased nitrogen addition based on the PLFA analysis (Figure 7A). Additionally, the ratio between the gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria increased due to a lower decrease in the abundance of gram-positive bacteria compared to gram-negative bacteria after high nitrogen addition (Figure 7B). Studies in the tropical and subtropical forests showed the same trend of lower PLFA-measured bacterial biomass with a higher gram-positive to gramnegative bacteria ratio following high nitrogen addition (Wang et al. 2018; Zhou et al. 2019). An explanation for the observed change in the grampositive and gram-negative bacteria ratio could be a higher dependence of gram-negative bacteria on labile carbon sources, while gram-positive bacteria are capable of degrading more complex organic matter compounds containing carbon (Kramer & Gleixner 2008; Fanin et al. 2019), as increased nitrogen abundance has been associated with lower tree carbon allocation to belowground (Högberg et al. 2010; Janssens et al. 2010). Another potential explanation could be that gram-positive bacteria might be more tolerant to osmotic stress, which can temporarily incur after inorganic nitrogen fertilizer application (Eno et al. 1955; Omar & Ismail 1999; Geisseler et al. 2017). Namely, compared to gram-negative bacteria, gram-positive bacteria have a much thicker cell wall, which can sustain higher turgor pressure, better maintain cation homeostasis and is less leaky (Jordan et al. 2008; Silhavy et al. 2010; Mai-Prochnow et al. 2016; Wang et al. 2018).



Figure 7: Effects of inorganic nitrogen addition on Norway spruce humus bacterial microbiome at the Svartberget nitrogen addition experiment field site: A) total bacteria PLFA and B) ratio between gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria. Different letters represent statistical differences based on linear mixed effects models with Tukey's HSD test (n = 24).

Additionally, higher nitrogen abundance has a documented negative effect on nitrogen fixation activity in diverse forest environments (Barron et al. 2011; Gundale et al. 2011; Zheng et al. 2017). For example, high nitrogen addition has severely decreased the nitrogen fixation of cyanobacteria associated with boreal forest mosses (Gundale et al. 2013; Leppänen et al. 2013), which has even been observed at the same Åheden field site as where samples in papers II and V were collected from (Gundale et al. 2011). What

has not yet been researched is whether nitrogen addition to the forest ecosystem can also affect the presence and activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria inhabiting boreal forest conifer needles, which was the question addressed in paper II. The study found that the amount of nitrogenase NifH subunit protein was similar in needles from pine trees growing on the control and high nitrogen addition plots (Figure 8A), indicating no difference in the presence of nitrogen-fixing bacteria in needles between these two treatments. Furthermore, there was no significant difference in the bacterial nitrogenfixation activity between control and high nitrogen addition plots (Figure 8B). The study expectation was decreased activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria in needles from trees growing on high nitrogen addition plots due to previously observed decreased nitrogen fixation in connection to cyanobacteria and mosses (Gundale et al. 2013; Leppänen et al. 2013). Similar results of no correlation between nitrogen fixation and nitrogen availability have, however, been observed for limber pine needles (Moyes et al. 2016) and tropical forest tree leaves (Zheng et al. 2017). A potential explanation could be that even though nitrogen addition increases nitrogen content in needles as observed in paper II and previously (Sikström 1997; Nybakken et al. 2018), the difference is not significant enough to change the activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria following nitrogen addition. Another potential explanation is that in addition to dependence on nitrogen availability, the nitrogen fixation activity might be dependent on carbon availability, which has been indicated previously as carbon addition has been able to promote nitrogen fixation (Welsh 2000; Smercina et al. 2019; Benavides et al. 2020). It has been shown that fertilized trees allocate more carbon to aboveground parts and have higher photosynthesis rates (Manter et al. 2005; Zhao & Liu 2012; Tarvainen et al. 2016).

The exact nitrogen contribution of needle bacterial nitrogen fixation in boreal forest is not yet known, and previously reported rates across diverse forests have a wide range from grams to kilograms of nitrogen per hectare and year (Jones 1970; Granhall & Lindberg 1978; Favilli & Messini 1990; Moyes et al. 2016). The calculated extrapolated measured rate of nitrogen fixation in Scots pine needles in paper II was in the range of between 11 and 15 grams of nitrogen per hectare and year. The rate is higher than previously reported (Granhall & Lindberg 1978), in accordance with measured rates in limber pine (Moyes et al. 2016), but notably smaller compared to rates estimated for black pine and Douglas fir (Jones 1970; Favilli & Messini 1990). The calculated rate of nitrogen fixation is most often based on many assumptions regarding seasonal, temperature, and light intensity variation, therefore, it needs to be interpreted with caution. Additionally, acetylene-reduction assay measurements only show a time-limit view of the nitrogen fixation rate. Nevertheless, the nitrogen fixed through nitrogen-fixing bacteria inhabiting Scots pine needles is very low compared to the amount needed for pine yearly growth, which is approximately 50 kg nitrogen per hectare and year (Korhonen et al. 2013), while the extrapolated rates of nitrogen fixed per hectare and year at the field site of paper II were between 11 and 15 grams. However, it might be an important long-term source of nitrogen for the Fennoscandian boreal forest, considering the forest's nitrogen cycle over centuries.



Figure 8: Inorganic nitrogen addition effects on nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles at Åheden field site: A) western blot detecting NifH subunit protein of nitrogenase enzyme (n = 12, different letters indicate statistical differences based on two independent samples t-test) and B) acetylene-reduction assay on needles showing ethylene production (n = 12, different letters indicate statistical differences based on two independent samples t-test).

4.3 Alternatives to inorganic nitrogen fertilization

The third research question investigated alternatives to adding inorganic nitrogen fertilizers to promote the growth of tree and crop seedlings grown under greenhouse conditions. Paper IV analysed whether a new controlled-release organic nitrogen formulation could promote the growth of Scots pine seedlings. Paper V studied the plant growth-promoting potential of bacterial

strains isolated from Scots pine needles *in vitro* and *in vivo* using four different crop species.

4.3.1 Organic nitrogen-based nutrition

One of the suggested sustainable alternatives to inorganic nitrogen fertilizers applied in conifer nurseries to promote tree seedlings growth is plant nutrition based on organic nitrogen. In comparison to inorganic nitrogen fertilizers, application of organic nitrogen may minimize nitrate leaching from the growth media, sustain associated microbiota and support a higher root-to-shoot ratio, making the seedlings more persistent to, e.g. dry soil conditions (Öhlund & Näsholm 2002; Gruffman et al. 2012). Paper IV analysed if Arginine Fe-HMP, a controlled-release organic nitrogen-based plant nutrition technology by Arevo AB, could promote plant growth similarly to a commercially available controlled-release inorganic nitrogenbased fertilizer. Arginine Fe-HMP is based on a complex between the amino acid arginine, polyphosphate and iron, and it is biodegradable as its slow nutrient release is controlled by the polyphosphate chain length (Näsholm et al. 2017). An explorative chemical analysis of Arginine Fe-HMP confirmed a successful synthesis of arginine-phosphate-iron complex with uniform elemental distribution and morphological consistency (paper IV). Results further showed the presence of expected functional groups and poor crystallinity of the Arginine Fe-HMP complex, which may improve its solubility and bioavailability to seedlings (paper IV). A greenhouse study was set up to evaluate Scots pine seedling growth for six months under three different treatments: non-fertilized control, addition of Arginine Fe-HMP or addition of commercial CRF. The results showed that Arginine Fe-HMP did promote plant growth as seedlings had higher biomass compared to the control treatment (Figure 9). The growth promotion by Arginine Fe-HMP and commercial CRF were similar as there were no significant differences in either seedling dry root or shoot weight between the two treatments (Figure 9A and 9B, respectively). Furthermore, analysis of run-off water from the growth media showed that Arginine Fe-HMP treatment had significantly lower nitrate leaching compared to commercial CRF (paper IV). No effect on the root-to-shoot ratio from the different nitrogen treatments was observed in this study (paper IV), contrasting previous studies showing a higher root-to-shoot ratio following the addition of organic nitrogen nutrition compared to inorganic nitrogen fertilization of conifer seedlings (Gruffman

et al. 2012). However, there have been a few studies showing no effect of arginine-based nutrition on the root-to-shoot ratio (Heiskanen et al. 2009; Lim et al. 2022). It could be that the root-to-shoot ratio was similar between the two nitrogen treatments in paper IV study as in contrast to previous studies using weekly additions of the arginine-based nutrition, paper IV study was the first with controlled-release nutrition formulation application only at the beginning of the study. Therefore, differences might have been seen if higher nitrogen addition rates had been used or if nutrition would have been applied more frequently. Overall, the study in paper IV showed that the controlled-release organic nitrogen-based plant nutrition Arginine Fe-HMP can promote plant growth as well as commercially available controlled-release inorganic nitrogen-based fertilizer with the benefit of being biodegradable, having slow nutrient release and having significantly lower nitrate leaching.



Figure 9: Scots pine seedling dry weights of A) root and B) shoot after six-months long greenhouse experiment using three different nitrogen treatments: control, the addition of inorganic nitrogen-based nutrition Arginine Fe-HMP and the addition of commercial CRF. Different letters indicate statistical significance based on one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD test (n = 30).

Previous studies also reported that organic nitrogen-based nutrition has a less negative effect on the mycorrhization of the conifer roots compared to inorganic nitrogen fertilization (Avolio et al. 2009; Gruffman et al. 2012). Therefore, it was hypothesized that treatment with Arginine Fe-HMP would lead to less negative effects on root fungal biomass and bacterial nitrogen fixation in Scots pine seedlings compared to commercial CRF. Ergosterol, a known fungal biomass marker (Lau et al. 2006; Gruffman et al. 2013), showed the highest ergosterol concentration for control seedlings (Figure

10A). However, as their roots were very small, the ergosterol content per whole seedling dry root was the lowest of all treatments. The ergosterol concentration was similar for both Arginine Fe-HMP and commercial CRF treatments but lower compared to control seedlings, while ergosterol contents were higher compared to control seedlings. The result was in accordance with a previous study showing similar fungal abundance for organic and inorganic nitrogen treatments (Gruffman et al. 2013). The investigation of the nitrogen-fixing capacity associated with the pine seedlings showed the highest rate for control seedlings and similarly lower for both Arginine Fe-HMP and commercial CRF (Figure 10B). As the control seedlings did not get any additional nitrogen, they were highly nitrogen-limited, and the nitrogen fixation of seedlings was expectedly the highest. It was surprising that Arginine Fe-HMP showed similar results in both ergosterol content and nitrogen-fixation capacity to commercial CRF as studies on organic nitrogen nutrition showed lesser negative treatment effects on microbiomes compared to inorganic nitrogen-based fertilization (Vaario et al. 2009; Gruffman et al. 2012). However, the previous studies used liquid arginine-based nutrition, while paper IV analysed a novel controlled-release arginine-based nutrition formulation, which could explain the difference between the results. Arginine Fe-HMP could be further developed to reach the goal of a neutral or even positive effect on the associated fungal and bacterial microbiomes and an inclusion of potassium to ensure complete nitrogen-phosphorus-potassium nutrition.



Figure 10: The effect of three different nitrogen treatments (control, Arginine Fe-HMP and commercial CRF) on A) ergosterol concentration (n = 15, different letters indicate statistical significance based on one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD test) and B) ethylene production in pine seedlings after six-month long greenhouse experiment (n = 10, different letters indicate statistical significance based on Kruskal-Wallis test followed by pairwise comparisons with Bonferonni's adjusted value).

4.3.2 Plant growth-promoting bacteria

Another sustainable alternative to inorganic nitrogen fertilizers could be the use of PGPB as inoculants to promote plant growth. In paper V, the plant growth-promoting ability of nine isolated nitrogen-fixing bacteria was assessed using in vitro plant growth-promoting property assays. We used bacterial strains isolated from Scots pine needles as it has been suggested that severely nitrogen-limited environments such as boreal forests harbor many excellent PGPB candidates (Ryan et al. 2008). Seven in vitro assays were used to assess the potential of PGPB to solubilize nutrients, and produce plant hormones, cell wall degrading enzymes and compounds involved in plant pathogen protection. All assayed bacterial strains were capable of solubilizing tricalcium phosphate (Figure 11A), however, they were unable to solubilize either iron (III) phosphate, aluminium phosphate or zinc. It has been reported previously that many bacteria are capable of solubilizing tricalcium phosphate but cannot solubilize harder-to-dissolve forms such as iron (III) phosphate and aluminium phosphate (Pérez et al. 2007; Bashan et al. 2012). The ability to solubilize nutrients, which are limited in the environment (such as zinc and phosphorus), is important as changing these nutrients into plant-available forms can have a substantial effect on plant growth (Saravanan et al. 2007; Rana et al. 2020). None of the nine bacteria were capable of hydrogen cyanide production, while all but one bacterial strain did produce siderophores (Figure 11B). Both siderophore and hydrogen cyanide production are involved in plant protection against pathogens (Jasim et al. 2013; Olanrewaju et al. 2017). It has been previously reported that the ability to produce hydrogen cyanide might be limited within the PGPB (Antoun et al. 1998). Another important plant growth-promoting ability is the production of plant hormones such as IAA, as they play a role in plant development and defence (Olanrewaju et al. 2017). The assay results showed that all bacterial strains were able to produce IAA in various amounts (Figure 11C), however, it is possible that their IAA production is overestimated as the assay might also show the presence of other indole-like molecules (Glickmann & Dessaux 1995). Further, all bacterial strains had protease activity (Figure 11D), and all but one bacterial strain showed cellulase activity (Figure 11E). The activities of both cell wall degrading enzymes are important for the endophytic bacterial lifestyle and protection against plant pathogens (Kandel et al. 2017; Puri et al. 2020b). The nine bacterial strains analysed in in vitro assays showed good plant growthpromoting potential as most of them showed activity in five out of seven assays.



Figure 11: Plant growth-promoting property assays to evaluate A) tricalcium phosphate solubilization, B) siderophore production, C) IAA production, D) protease activity and E) cellulase activity by selected bacteria isolated from Scots pine needles at the Åheden field site (n = 3, different letters indicate statistical significance based on one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD test).

To further analyse the plant growth promotion of isolated bacteria, a greenhouse experiment with the three best bacterial strains based on their performance in the seven in vitro assays was performed. The greenhouse experiment included the use of soil as a growth medium and the presence of both soil and seed naturally occurring microbiome. This approach contrasted most of the previous studies on conifer-isolated PGPB, which were performed using a sterile sand mixture as a growth medium (Padda et al. 2015; Puri et al. 2020a; Padda et al. 2021). While studies using artificial growth media are important for a better understanding of PGPB inoculation and plant growth promotion potential, their results can rarely be translated into successful field applications (Compant et al. 2010; Gamalero & Glick 2011; Gaiero et al. 2013). Therefore, the use of soil with its native microbiome has been recommended (Etesami & Maheshwari 2018; de-Bashan & Nannipieri 2024). The greenhouse study in paper V included four crops from different taxonomic plant orders: corn, cucumber, kale and tomato, which were inoculated with either single bacterial strains Bacillus sp. #2A, Microbacterium sp. #25 and Priestia megaterium #39 or their consortium.

The inoculation treatment with either one of the bacterial strains or the consortium did not show any promotion of plant dry weight for either corn, cucumber, kale or tomato (Figure 12). The results for chlorophyll content and root and shoot length showed a similar trend (paper V). It could be that the neutral results were observed as the inoculated bacterial strains were unable to compete with the native soil and seed microbiome (Shishido et al. 1999; Germaine et al. 2004). Another potential reason could be the use of naturally nutrient-abundant growth media, as it has been previously observed that plant growth promotion is higher in nutrient-limited growth media (Egamberdiyeva 2007; de Souza et al. 2012). Additionally, it has been suggested that PGPB might have a higher effect on plant growth promotion of their host species (Boddey & Dobereiner 1988; Lucy et al. 2004). Therefore, additional long-term experiments using Scots pine seedlings would be interesting, even though shorter unpublished pre-studies did not show promising results (Appendix 4). In conclusion, the results of paper V showed that even though bacterial strains had promising results in in vitro plant growth-promoting assays, they were unable to promote crop growth in the in vivo greenhouse experiment. It has been previously suggested that negative results in inoculation studies are under-reported in the literature



(Bacilio et al. 2017), which could lead to an overestimation of PGPB's potential as a sustainable means of promoting plant growth.

Figure 12: Total dry weight of around five-week-old corn, cucumber, kale and tomato plants after inoculation with individual bacterial strains (*Bacillus* sp. #2A, *Microbacterium* sp. #25 and *Priestia megaterium* #39) or consortium compared to control non-inoculated plants. The data was analysed by two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD test (n = 7). The big letters show statistical differences between crop species, and the small letters show the statistical differences between different inoculation treatments.

5. Conclusions and future perspectives

The thesis, together with papers I-V, expanded the knowledge regarding the Scots pine and Norway spruce microbiomes in the Fennoscandian boreal forest in connection to nitrogen addition and assessed two alternatives to inorganic nitrogen fertilization to promote plant growth in greenhouse settings.

In addition to the description of pine- and spruce-associated microbiomes compositions, the microbiome analysis corroborated the suggestion that the needle endophytic microbiome is distinct from the soil and endophytic root microbiome. While humus and endophytic fine-root microbiomes shared the majority of fungal OTUs, the bulk soil and endophytic needle microbiomes did not share any fungal ASVs at all. This suggests that the needle endophytic microbiome is not a subset of the soil and root microbiomes but most probably includes species that enter the plant through alternative entry points such as stomata or above-ground wounds. Interestingly, even though pine and spruce trees were growing at the same Svartberget common garden field site, they shared only a few fungal ASVs in bulk soil samples and no fungal ASVs in the endophytic needle samples. These results corroborate the suggestion that plant species can influence the composition of their associated microbiomes.

Analysing the effects of inorganic nitrogen addition on fungal microbiomes at the Svartberget nitrogen addition experiment field site showed that even after more than 20 years of yearly fertilization, the majority of fungal OTUs were shared between the three nitrogen treatments (0, 12.5 and 50 kg nitrogen per hectare and year). These results indicate that the observed decreased fungal biomass after high nitrogen addition was probably due to changed fungal abundance and not the disappearance of fungal species. In addition to changing the fungal relative abundances, the high

nitrogen addition also resulted in statistically significantly different activities of several extracellular enzymes connected to carbon and nitrogen acquisition, which can have an important effect on the boreal forest carbon and nitrogen cycles.

The thesis results showed that the presence and activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria in pine needles at the Åheden field site staved similar even after years of high nitrogen addition (50 kg nitrogen per hectare and year). The results were in contrast to previously measured nitrogen fixation of cyanobacteria in association with mosses at the same field site as their nitrogen fixation decreased following high nitrogen addition (Gundale et al. 2011). One of the potential explanations for the observed difference between needles and mosses could be that nitrogen fixation rates may be connected to photosynthesis rates and carbon availability. This was additionally indicated by the observed importance of light intensity for nitrogen fixation during needle acetylene-reduction assay (Appendix 3). Previous studies showed that fertilized conifer trees have higher photosynthesis rates compared to control trees (Manter et al. 2005; Zhao & Liu 2012), which could mean a higher carbon availability for bacterial nitrogen fixation in needles. Contrary, due to bigger crowns of the fertilized pines at this field site (From et al. 2016), less light might be available to mosses, which could result in lower moss photosynthesis rates and consequently lower carbon availability for cyanobacterial and moss associated nitrogen fixation.

Two greenhouse experiments evaluated the possibility of using organic nitrogen-based controlled-release plant nutrition and inoculation with PGPB instead of the commonly used inorganic nitrogen fertilizers. Organic nitrogen-based Arginine Fe-HMP plant nutrition showed similar plant growth promotion and microbiome effects as commercial inorganic nitrogen controlled-release fertilizers with lower nitrate leaching, showing good potential as a more sustainable biodegradable alternative to commercial controlled-release fertilizers. In contrast, the inoculation of crop plants with PGPB did not result in improved plant growth. The neutral results could be due to the use of soil as growth media with naturally abundant nitrogen and the presence of the native microbiome. It could be that the native soil microbiome already includes bacteria possessing plant growth-promoting properties, as most PGPB have been isolated from natural environments. However, if PGPB are to be used in either agriculture or forestry, they must

be able to compete with the native microbiome and promote plant growth under natural settings.

Even though this thesis provided knowledge regarding boreal forest microbiomes in connection to nitrogen and analysed potential sustainable alternatives for plant growth promotion, the work is not finished, and many new questions arose during the thesis. Among others, future studies could include the microbiome composition analysis of further conifer compartments (such as stems and branches) and include more tree species to better assess the plant influence on the microbiome composition. Seasonality studies would be needed to better understand the microbiome composition changes and nitrogen-fixation rate differences throughout the year. Additional studies could investigate the potential connection between nitrogen fixation in needles and photosynthesis rates. In connection to sustainable alternatives to inorganic nitrogen fertilization, a study could test if the application of organic nitrogen-based controlled-release nutrition Arginine Fe-HPM could lead to better drought and cold acclimation as suggested for other organic nitrogen-based compounds (Sigala et al. 2020; Sigala et al. 2021). Future studies looking into PGPB would be needed to better understand the interactions between inoculated PGPB and the native microbiome to ensure a successful inoculation of plants. Ultimately, there is no lack of open questions and potential future studies due to the complexity of the boreal forest microbiomes and their multitude of interactions.

References

- Abarenkov, K., Nilsson, R.H., Larsson, K.H., Taylor, A.F.S., May, T.W., Froslev, T.G., Pawlowska, J., Lindahl, B., Poldmaa, K., Truong, C., Vu, D., Hosoya, T., Niskanen, T., Piirmann, T., Ivanov, F., Zirk, A., Peterson, M., Cheeke, T.E., Ishigami, Y., Jansson, A.T., Jeppesen, T.S., Kristiansson, E., Mikryukov, V., Miller, J.T., Oono, R., Ossandon, F.J., Pauperio, J., Saar, I., Schigel, D., Suija, A., Tedersoo, L. & Koljalg, U. (2024). The UNITE database for molecular identification and taxonomic communication of fungi and other eukaryotes: sequences, taxa and classifications reconsidered. Nucleic Research. D791-D797. Acids 52(D1), https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkad1039
- Abellan-Schneyder, I., Matchado, M.S., Reitmeier, S., Sommer, A., Sewald, Z., Baumbach, J., List, M. & Neuhaus, K. (2021). Primer, Pipelines, Parameters: Issues in 16S rRNA Gene Sequencing. *mSphere*, 6(1), e01202-20. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSphere.01202-20
- Adamczyk, B., Sietio, O.M., Strakova, P., Prommer, J., Wild, B., Hagner, M., Pihlatie, M., Fritze, H., Richter, A. & Heinonsalo, J. (2019). Plant roots increase both decomposition and stable organic matter formation in boreal forest soil. *Nature Communications*, 10(1), 3982. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11993-1
- Adamczyk, S., Lehtonen, A., Makipaa, R. & Adamczyk, B. (2024). A step forward in fungal biomass estimation - a new protocol for more precise measurements of soil ergosterol with liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry and comparison of extraction methods. *New Phytologist*, 241(6), 2333-2336. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.19450
- Aghai, M.M., Khan, Z., Joseph, M.R., Stoda, A.M., Sher, A.W., Ettl, G.J. & Doty, S.L. (2019). The Effect of Microbial Endophyte Consortia on *Pseudotsuga menziesii* and *Thuja plicata* Survival, Growth, and Physiology Across Edaphic Gradients. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 10, 1353. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01353
- Allison, S., Weintraub, M., Gartner, T. & Waldrop, M. (2010). Evolutionary-Economic Principles as Regulators of Soil Enzyme Production and Ecosystem Function. In: Shukla, G. & Varma, A. (eds) Soil Enzymology. Springer. 229-243. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-14225-3 12
- Almeida, J.P., Rosenstock, N.P., Forsmark, B., Bergh, J. & Wallander, H. (2019). Ectomycorrhizal community composition and function in a spruce forest

transitioning between nitrogen and phosphorus limitation. *Fungal Ecology*, 40, 20-31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2018.05.008

- Anand, R., Grayston, S. & Chanway, C. (2013). N₂-fixation and seedling growth promotion of lodgepole pine by endophytic *Paenibacillus polymyxa*. *Microbial Ecology*, 66(2), 369-74. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-013-0196-1
- Andrews, M., Raven, J.A. & Lea, P.J. (2013). Do plants need nitrate? The mechanisms by which nitrogen form affects plants. *Annals of Applied Biology*, 163(2), 174-199. https://doi.org/10.1111/aab.12045
- Antoun, H., Beauchamp, C.J., Goussard, N., Chabot, R. & Lalande, R. (1998).
 Potential of Rhizobium and Bradyrhizobium species as plant growth promoting rhizobacteria on non-legumes: Effect on radishes (*Raphanus sativus* L.). *Plant and Soil*, 204(1), 57-67. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1004326910584
- Argiroff, W.A., Zak, D.R., Pellitier, P.T., Upchurch, R.A. & Belke, J.P. (2022). Decay by ectomycorrhizal fungi couples soil organic matter to nitrogen availability. *Ecology Letters*, 25(2), 391-404. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13923
- Avila Clasen, L., Permin, A., Horwath, A.B., Metcalfe, D.B. & Rousk, K. (2023). Do Nitrogen and Phosphorus Additions Affect Nitrogen Fixation Associated with Tropical Mosses? *Plants*, 12(7), 1443. https://doi.org/10.3390/plants12071443
- Avolio, M.L., Tuininga, A.R., Lewis, J.D. & Marchese, M. (2009). Ectomycorrhizal responses to organic and inorganic nitrogen sources when associating with two host species. *Mycological Research*, 113(Part 8), 897-907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mycres.2009.05.001
- Bacilio, M., Moreno, M., Lopez-Aguilar, D.R. & Bashan, Y. (2017). Scaling from the growth chamber to the greenhouse to the field: Demonstration of diminishing effects of mitigation of salinity in peppers inoculated with plant growth-promoting bacterium and humic acids. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 119, 327-338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2017.07.002
- Bal, A., Anand, R., Berge, O. & Chanway, C.P. (2012). Isolation and identification of diazotrophic bacteria from internal tissues of *Pinus contorta* and *Thuja plicata*. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 42(4), 807-813. https://doi.org/10.1139/x2012-023
- Baldani, J.I., Reis, V.M., Videira, S.S., Boddey, L.H. & Baldani, V.L.D. (2014). The art of isolating nitrogen-fixing bacteria from non-leguminous plants using N-free semi-solid media: a practical guide for microbiologists. *Plant and Soil*, 384(1-2), 413-431. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-014-2186-6
- Baldrian, P. & Štursova, M. (2010). Enzymes in Forest Soils. In: Shukla, G. & Varma, A. (eds) Soil Enzymology. Springer. 61-73. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-14225-3_4

- Barrenechea Angeles, I., Nguyen, N.L., Greco, M., Tan, K.S. & Pawlowski, J. (2024). Assigning the unassigned: A signature-based classification of rDNA metabarcodes reveals new deep-sea diversity. *PLoS One*, 19(2), e0298440. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0298440
- Barron, A.R., Purves, D.W. & Hedin, L.O. (2011). Facultative nitrogen fixation by canopy legumes in a lowland tropical forest. *Oecologia*, 165(2), 511-20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-010-1838-3
- Bashan, Y., Kamnev, A.A. & de-Bashan, L.E. (2012). Tricalcium phosphate is inappropriate as a universal selection factor for isolating and testing phosphate-solubilizing bacteria that enhance plant growth: a proposal for an alternative procedure. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 49(4), 465-479. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-012-0737-7
- Bass, J.J., Wilkinson, D.J., Rankin, D., Phillips, B.E., Szewczyk, N.J., Smith, K. & Atherton, P.J. (2017). An overview of technical considerations for Western blotting applications to physiological research. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine* & *Science in Sports*, 27(1), 4-25. https://doi.org/10.1111/sms.12702
- Beck, G., Thybring, E.E. & Thygesen, L.G. (2018). Brown-rot fungal degradation and de-acetylation of acetylated wood. *International Biodeterioration & Biodegradation*, 135, 62-70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ibiod.2018.09.009
- Bell-Doyon, P., Bellavance, V., Bélanger, L., Mazerolle, M.J. & Villarreal A, J.C. (2022). Bacterial, fungal, and mycorrhizal communities in the soil differ between clearcuts and insect outbreaks in the boreal forest 50 years after disturbance. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 523, 120493. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2022.120493
- Benavides, M., Duhamel, S., Van Wambeke, F., Shoemaker, K.M., Moisander, P.H., Salamon, E., Riemann, L. & Bonnet, S. (2020). Dissolved organic matter stimulates N₂ fixation and *nifH* gene expression in *Trichodesmium*. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 367(4), fnaa034. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsle/fnaa034
- Bentley, B.L. (1987). Nitrogen Fixation by Epiphylls in a Tropical Rainforest. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*, 74(2), 234-241. https://doi.org/10.2307/2399396
- Berg, G., Kusstatscher, P., Abdelfattah, A., Cernava, T. & Smalla, K. (2021). Microbiome Modulation-Toward a Better Understanding of Plant Microbiome Response to Microbial Inoculants. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 12, 650610. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.650610
- Berg, G., Rybakova, D., Fischer, D., Cernava, T., Verges, M.C., Charles, T., Chen, X., Cocolin, L., Eversole, K., Corral, G.H., Kazou, M., Kinkel, L., Lange, L., Lima, N., Loy, A., Macklin, J.A., Maguin, E., Mauchline, T., McClure, R., Mitter, B., Ryan, M., Sarand, I., Smidt, H., Schelkle, B., Roume, H., Kiran, G.S., Selvin, J., Souza, R.S.C., van Overbeek, L., Singh, B.K.,
Wagner, M., Walsh, A., Sessitsch, A. & Schloter, M. (2020). Microbiome definition re-visited: old concepts and new challenges. *Microbiome*, 8(1), 103. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-020-00875-0

- Bhattacharjee, R.B., Singh, A. & Mukhopadhyay, S.N. (2008). Use of nitrogenfixing bacteria as biofertiliser for non-legumes: prospects and challenges. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 80(2), 199-209. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-008-1567-2
- Boddey, R.M. & Dobereiner, J. (1988). Nitrogen fixation associated with grasses and cereals: Recent results and perspectives for future research. *Plant and Soil*, 108(1), 53-65. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02370099
- Bödeker, I.T., Clemmensen, K.E., de Boer, W., Martin, F., Olson, A. & Lindahl, B.D. (2014). Ectomycorrhizal *Cortinarius* species participate in enzymatic oxidation of humus in northern forest ecosystems. *New Phytologist*, 203(1), 245-56. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12791
- Bonito, G., Reynolds, H., Robeson, M.S., 2nd, Nelson, J., Hodkinson, B.P., Tuskan, G., Schadt, C.W. & Vilgalys, R. (2014). Plant host and soil origin influence fungal and bacterial assemblages in the roots of woody plants. *Molecular Ecology*, 23(13), 3356-70. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12821
- Bradshaw, C.J.A. & Warkentin, I.G. (2015). Global estimates of boreal forest carbon stocks and flux. *Global and Planetary Change*, 128, 24-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2015.02.004
- Bulgarelli, D., Schlaeppi, K., Spaepen, S., Ver Loren van Themaat, E. & Schulze-Lefert, P. (2013). Structure and functions of the bacterial microbiota of plants. *Annual Review of Plant Biology*, 64, 807-38. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-arplant-050312-120106
- Çakmakçı, R., Kantar, F. & Sahin, F. (2001). Effect of N₂-fixing bacterial inoculations on yield of sugar beet and barley. *Journal of Plant Nutrition* and Soil Science, 164(5), 527-531. https://doi.org/10.1002/1522-2624(200110)164:5<527::Aid-jpln527>3.0.Co;2-1
- Callahan, B.J., McMurdie, P.J. & Holmes, S.P. (2017). Exact sequence variants should replace operational taxonomic units in marker-gene data analysis. *ISME Journal*, 11(12), 2639-2643. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2017.119
- Cameron, E.S., Schmidt, P.J., Tremblay, B.J., Emelko, M.B. & Muller, K.M. (2021). Enhancing diversity analysis by repeatedly rarefying next generation sequencing data describing microbial communities. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 22302. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-01636-1
- Canfield, D.E., Glazer, A.N. & Falkowski, P.G. (2010). The evolution and future of Earth's nitrogen cycle. *Science*, 330(6001), 192-6. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1186120
- Carrell, A.A., Carper, D.L. & Frank, A.C. (2016). Subalpine conifers in different geographical locations host highly similar foliar bacterial endophyte

communities. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 92(8), fiw124. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiw124

- Carrell, A.A. & Frank, A.C. (2014). *Pinus flexilis* and *Picea engelmannii* share a simple and consistent needle endophyte microbiota with a potential role in nitrogen fixation. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 5, 333. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2014.00333
- Cassán, F., Coniglio, A., López, G., Molina, R., Nievas, S., de Carlan, C.L.N., Donadio, F., Torres, D., Rosas, S., Pedrosa, F.O., de Souza, E., Zorita, M.D., de-Bashan, L. & Mora, V. (2020). Everything you must know about *Azospirillum* and its impact on agriculture and beyond. *Biology and Fertility* of Soils, 56(4), 461-479. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-020-01463-y
- Castanheira, N., Dourado, A.C., Alves, P.I., Cortes-Pallero, A.M., Delgado-Rodriguez, A.I., Prazeres, A., Borges, N., Sanchez, C., Barreto Crespo, M.T. & Fareleira, P. (2014). Annual ryegrass-associated bacteria with potential for plant growth promotion. *Microbiological Research*, 169(9-10), 768-79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2013.12.010
- Castro, D., Schneider, A.N., Holmlund, M., Näsholm, T., Street, N.R. & Hurry, V. (2021). Effects of Early, Small-Scale Nitrogen Addition on Germination and Early Growth of Scots Pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) Seedlings and on the Recruitment of the Root-Associated Fungal Community. *Forests*, 12(11), 1589. https://doi.org/10.3390/f12111589
- Chanway, C.P., Anand, R. & Yang, H. (2014). Nitrogen Fixation Outside and Inside Plant Tissues. In: Ohyama, T. (ed.) Advances in Biology and Ecology of Nitrogen Fixation. IntechOpen. 3-21. https://doi.org/10.5772/57532
- Chen, J., Heikkinen, J., Hobbie, E.A., Rinne-Garmston, K.T., Penttila, R. & Makipaa, R. (2019). Strategies of carbon and nitrogen acquisition by saprotrophic and ectomycorrhizal fungi in Finnish boreal *Picea abies*dominated forests. *Fungal Biology*, 123(6), 456-464. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funbio.2019.03.005
- Chen, J., Zhao, G., Wei, Y., Dong, Y., Hou, L. & Jiao, R. (2021). Isolation and screening of multifunctional phosphate solubilizing bacteria and its growthpromoting effect on Chinese fir seedlings. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 9081. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-88635-4
- Chiarello, M., McCauley, M., Villeger, S. & Jackson, C.R. (2022). Ranking the biases: The choice of OTUs vs. ASVs in 16S rRNA amplicon data analysis has stronger effects on diversity measures than rarefaction and OTU identity threshold. *PLoS One*, 17(2), e0264443. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0264443
- Chodak, M., Klimek, B., Azarbad, H. & Jaźwa, M. (2015). Functional diversity of soil microbial communities under Scots pine, Norway spruce, silver birch and mixed boreal forests. *Pedobiologia*, 58(2-3), 81-88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedobi.2015.04.002

- Choma, M., Šamonil, P., Kaštovská, E., Bárta, J., Tahovská, K., Valtera, M. & Šantrůčková, H. (2021). Soil Microbiome Composition along the Natural Norway Spruce Forest Life Cycle. *Forests*, 12(4), 410. https://doi.org/10.3390/f12040410
- Clasen, L.A., Alvarenga, D.O., Wang, Y., Andersen, R.F. & Rousk, K. (2025). Rapid response of moss-associated nitrogen fixation to nutrient additions in tropical montane cloud forests with different successional stages. *Biogeochemistry*, 168(1), 12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-024-01195-3
- Compant, S., Clément, C. & Sessitsch, A. (2010). Plant growth-promoting bacteria in the rhizo- and endosphere of plants: Their role, colonization, mechanisms involved and prospects for utilization. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 42(5), 669-678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.11.024
- Cook, R., Brown, N., Rihtman, B., Michniewski, S., Redgwell, T., Clokie, M., Stekel, D.J., Chen, Y., Scanlan, D.J., Hobman, J.L., Nelson, A., Jones, M.A., Smith, D. & Millard, A. (2024). The long and short of it: benchmarking viromics using Illumina, Nanopore and PacBio sequencing technologies. *Microbial Genomics*, 10(2), 001198. https://doi.org/10.1099/mgen.0.001198
- Couldrey, C., Keehan, M., Johnson, T., Tiplady, K., Winkelman, A., Littlejohn, M.D., Scott, A., Kemper, K.E., Hayes, B., Davis, S.R. & Spelman, R.J. (2017). Detection and assessment of copy number variation using PacBio long-read and Illumina sequencing in New Zealand dairy cattle. *Journal of Dairy Science*, 100(7), 5472-5478. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2016-12199
- Cox, F., Barsoum, N., Lilleskov, E.A. & Bidartondo, M.I. (2010). Nitrogen availability is a primary determinant of conifer mycorrhizas across complex environmental gradients. *Ecology Letters*, 13(9), 1103-13. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01494.x
- Cregger, M.A., Veach, A.M., Yang, Z.K., Crouch, M.J., Vilgalys, R., Tuskan, G.A. & Schadt, C.W. (2018). The Populus holobiont: dissecting the effects of plant niches and genotype on the microbiome. *Microbiome*, 6(1), 31. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0413-8
- Cronquist, A. (2019). On the Relationship between Taxonomy and Evolution. *Taxon*, 18(2), 177-187. https://doi.org/10.2307/1218675
- Cusack, D.F., Silver, W. & McDowell, W.H. (2009). Biological Nitrogen Fixation in Two Tropical Forests: Ecosystem-Level Patterns and Effects of Nitrogen Fertilization. *Ecosystems*, 12(8), 1299-1315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-009-9290-0
- Daisley, B.A. & Reid, G. (2021). BEExact: a Metataxonomic Database Tool for High-Resolution Inference of Bee-Associated Microbial Communities. *mSystems*, 6(2), 10.1128. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00082-21

- de-Bashan, L. & Nannipieri, P. (2024). Recommendations for plant growthpromoting bacteria inoculation studies. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 60(3), 259-261. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-024-01798-w
- de Souza, R., Beneduzi, A., Ambrosini, A., da Costa, P.B., Meyer, J., Vargas, L.K., Schoenfeld, R. & Passaglia, L.M.P. (2012). The effect of plant growthpromoting rhizobacteria on the growth of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) cropped in southern Brazilian fields. *Plant and Soil*, 366(1-2), 585-603. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1430-1
- DeLuca, T.H., Zackrisson, O., Nilsson, M.C. & Sellstedt, A. (2002). Quantifying nitrogen-fixation in feather moss carpets of boreal forests. *Nature*, 419(6910), 917-20. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature01051
- Doty, S.L., Oakley, B., Xin, G., Kang, J.W., Singleton, G., Khan, Z., Vajzovic, A. & Staley, J.T. (2009). Diazotrophic endophytes of native black cottonwood and willow. *Symbiosis*, 47(1), 23-33. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03179967
- Duan, Y.P., Sun, X., Zhou, L.J., Gabriel, D.W., Benyon, L.S. & Gottwald, T. (2009). Bacterial Brown Leaf Spot of Citrus, a New Disease Caused by Burkholderia andropogonis. Plant Disease, 93(6), 607-614. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-93-6-0607
- Edwards, U., Rogall, T., Blocker, H., Emde, M. & Bottger, E.C. (1989). Isolation and direct complete nucleotide determination of entire genes. Characterization of a gene coding for 16S ribosomal RNA. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 17(19), 7843-53. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/17.19.7843
- Egamberdiyeva, D. (2007). The effect of plant growth promoting bacteria on growth and nutrient uptake of maize in two different soils. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 36(2-3), 184-189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2007.02.005
- Eno, C.F., Blue, W.G. & Good, J.M. (1955). The Effect of Anhydrous Ammonia on Nematodes, Fungi, Bacteria, and Nitrification in Some Florida Soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 19(1), 55-58. https://doi.org/10.2136/sssaj1955.03615995001900010013x
- Esseen, P.-A., Ehnström, B., Ericson, L. & Sjöberg, K. (1992). Boreal Forests—The Focal Habitats of Fennoscandia. In: Hansson, L. (ed.) *Ecological Principles* of Nature Conservation. Springer. 252-325. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-3524-9 7
- Etesami, H. & Maheshwari, D.K. (2018). Use of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPRs) with multiple plant growth promoting traits in stress agriculture: Action mechanisms and future prospects. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental* Safety, 156, 225-246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.03.013
- Fanin, N., Kardol, P., Farrell, M., Nilsson, M.-C., Gundale, M.J. & Wardle, D.A. (2019). The ratio of Gram-positive to Gram-negative bacterial PLFA markers as an indicator of carbon availability in organic soils. *Soil Biology*

and Biochemistry, 128, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2018.10.010

- Favilli, F. & Messini, A. (1990). Nitrogen fixation at phyllospheric level in coniferous plants in Italy. *Plant and Soil*, 128(1), 91-95. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf00009400
- Fernandez, C.W. & Kennedy, P.G. (2016). Revisiting the 'Gadgil effect': do interguild fungal interactions control carbon cycling in forest soils? *New Phytologist*, 209(4), 1382-94. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13648
- Firrincieli, A., Khorasani, M., Frank, A.C. & Doty, S.L. (2020). Influences of Climate on Phyllosphere Endophytic Bacterial Communities of Wild Poplar. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 11, 203. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2020.00203
- Floudas, D., Binder, M., Riley, R., Barry, K., Blanchette, R.A., Henrissat, B., Martinez, A.T., Otillar, R., Spatafora, J.W., Yadav, J.S., Aerts, A., Benoit, I., Boyd, A., Carlson, A., Copeland, A., Coutinho, P.M., de Vries, R.P., Ferreira, P., Findley, K., Foster, B., Gaskell, J., Glotzer, D., Gorecki, P., Heitman, J., Hesse, C., Hori, C., Igarashi, K., Jurgens, J.A., Kallen, N., Kersten, P., Kohler, A., Kues, U., Kumar, T.K., Kuo, A., LaButti, K., Larrondo, L.F., Lindquist, E., Ling, A., Lombard, V., Lucas, S., Lundell, T., Martin, R., McLaughlin, D.J., Morgenstern, I., Morin, E., Murat, C., Nagy, L.G., Nolan, M., Ohm, R.A., Patyshakuliyeva, A., Rokas, A., Ruiz-Duenas, F.J., Sabat, G., Salamov, A., Samejima, M., Schmutz, J., Slot, J.C., St John, F., Stenlid, J., Sun, H., Sun, S., Syed, K., Tsang, A., Wiebenga, A., Young, D., Pisabarro, A., Eastwood, D.C., Martin, F., Cullen, D., Grigoriev, I.V. & Hibbett, D.S. (2012). The Paleozoic origin of enzymatic lignin decomposition reconstructed from 31 fungal genomes. *Science*, 336(6089), 1715-9. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1221748
- Forsmark, B., Nordin, A., Rosenstock, N.P., Wallander, H. & Gundale, M.J. (2021). Anthropogenic nitrogen enrichment increased the efficiency of belowground biomass production in a boreal forest. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 155, 108154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2021.108154
- Fowler, D., Coyle, M., Skiba, U., Sutton, M.A., Cape, J.N., Reis, S., Sheppard, L.J., Jenkins, A., Grizzetti, B., Galloway, J.N., Vitousek, P., Leach, A., Bouwman, A.F., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Dentener, F., Stevenson, D., Amann, M. & Voss, M. (2013). The global nitrogen cycle in the twenty-first century. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B Biological Science*, 368(1621), 20130164. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0164
- Frank, A.C., Saldierna Guzman, J.P. & Shay, J.E. (2017). Transmission of Bacterial Endophytes. *Microorganisms*, 5(4), 70. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms5040070
- From, F., Lundmark, T., Mörling, T., Pommerening, A. & Nordin, A. (2016). Effects of simulated long-term N deposition on *Picea abies* and *Pinus sylvestris*

growth in boreal forest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 46(11), 1396-1403. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2016-0201

- Frostegård, Å., Tunlid, A. & Bååth, E. (2011). Use and misuse of PLFA measurements in soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 43(8), 1621-1625. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.11.021
- Fu, Y., Yan, G., Liu, G., Huang, B., Sun, X., Wang, X., Xing, Y. & Wang, Q. (2022). Responses of the rhizosphere microbiome to long-term nitrogen addition in a boreal forest. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 52(7), 1071-1087. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2022-0001
- Gaiero, J.R., McCall, C.A., Thompson, K.A., Day, N.J., Best, A.S. & Dunfield, K.E. (2013). Inside the root microbiome: bacterial root endophytes and plant growth promotion. *American Journal of Botany*, 100(9), 1738-50. https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.1200572
- Galloway, J.N., Aber, J.D., Erisman, J.W., Seitzinger, S.P., Howarth, R.W., Cowling, E.B. & Cosby, B.J. (2003). The Nitrogen Cascade. *BioScience*, 53(4), 341–356. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2003)053[0341:Tnc]2.0.Co;2
- Gamalero, E. & Glick, B.R. (2011). Mechanisms Used by Plant Growth-Promoting Bacteria. In: Maheshwari, D. (ed.) *Bacteria in Agrobiology: Plant Nutrient Management*. Springer. 17-46. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-21061-7_2
- Gardes, M., White, T.J., Fortin, J.A., Bruns, T.D. & Taylor, J.W. (1991). Identification of indigenous and introduced symbiotic fungi in ectomycorrhizae by amplification of nuclear and mitochondrial ribosomal DNA. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 69(1), 180-190. https://doi.org/10.1139/b91-026
- Gauthier, S., Bernier, P., Kuuluvainen, T., Shvidenko, A.Z. & Schepaschenko, D.G. (2015). Boreal forest health and global change. *Science*, 349(6250), 819-22. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaa9092
- Geisseler, D., Linquist, B.A. & Lazicki, P.A. (2017). Effect of fertilization on soil microorganisms in paddy rice systems – A meta-analysis. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 115, 452-460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2017.09.018
- Germaine, K., Keogh, E., Garcia-Cabellos, G., Borremans, B., Lelie, D., Barac, T., Oeyen, L., Vangronsveld, J., Moore, F.P., Moore, E.R., Campbell, C.D., Ryan, D. & Dowling, D.N. (2004). Colonisation of poplar trees by gfp expressing bacterial endophytes. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 48(1), 109-18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsec.2003.12.009
- German, D.P., Weintraub, M.N., Grandy, A.S., Lauber, C.L., Rinkes, Z.L. & Allison, S.D. (2011). Optimization of hydrolytic and oxidative enzyme methods for ecosystem studies. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 43(7), 1387-1397. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2011.03.017

- Ghadamgahi, F., Tarighi, S., Taheri, P., Saripella, G.V., Anzalone, A., Kalyandurg, P.B., Catara, V., Ortiz, R. & Vetukuri, R.R. (2022). Plant Growth-Promoting Activity of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* FG106 and Its Ability to Act as a Biocontrol Agent against Potato, Tomato and Taro Pathogens. *Biology*, 11(1), 140. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology11010140
- Gil, F., Taf, R., Mikula, K., Skrzypczak, D., Izydorczyk, G., Moustakas, K. & Chojnacka, K. (2024). Advancing sustainable agriculture: Converting dairy wastes into amino acid fertilizers. *Sustainable Chemistry and Pharmacy*, 42, 101782. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scp.2024.101782
- Glickmann, E. & Dessaux, Y. (1995). A critical examination of the specificity of the Salkowski reagent for indolic compounds produced by phytopathogenic bacteria. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 61(2), 793-6. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.61.2.793-796.1995
- Gorr, T.A. & Vogel, J. (2015). Western blotting revisited: critical perusal of underappreciated technical issues. *Proteomics - Clinical Applications*, 9(3-4), 396-405. https://doi.org/10.1002/prca.201400118
- Gottel, N.R., Castro, H.F., Kerley, M., Yang, Z., Pelletier, D.A., Podar, M., Karpinets, T., Uberbacher, E., Tuskan, G.A., Vilgalys, R., Doktycz, M.J. & Schadt, C.W. (2011). Distinct microbial communities within the endosphere and rhizosphere of *Populus deltoides* roots across contrasting soil types. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 77(17), 5934-44. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.05255-11
- Granhall, U. & Lindberg, T. (1978). Nitrogen Fixation in Some Coniferous Forest Ecosystems. *Ecological Bulletins*, 26, 178-192.
- Gray, M.W., Sankoff, D. & Cedergren, R.J. (1984). On the evolutionary descent of organisms and organelles: a global phylogeny based on a highly conserved structural core in small subunit ribosomal RNA. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 12(14), 5837-52. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/12.14.5837
- Griffin, E.A., Harrison, J.G., Kembel, S.W., Carrell, A.A., Joseph Wright, S., Carson, W.P. & de Vries, F. (2019). Plant host identity and soil macronutrients explain little variation in sapling endophyte community composition: Is disturbance an alternative explanation? *Journal of Ecology*, 107(4), 1876-1889. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13145
- Grossnickle, S.C. (2005). Importance of root growth in overcoming planting stress. New Forests, 30(2-3), 273-294. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11056-004-8303-2
- Gruffman, L., Ishida, T., Nordin, A. & Näsholm, T. (2012). Cultivation of Norway spruce and Scots pine on organic nitrogen improves seedling morphology and field performance. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 276, 118-124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.03.030
- Gruffman, L., Palmroth, S. & Näsholm, T. (2013). Organic nitrogen uptake of Scots pine seedlings is independent of current carbohydrate supply. *Tree Physiology*, 33(6), 590-600. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpt041

- Guardado-Fierros, B.G., Tuesta-Popolizio, D.A., Lorenzo-Santiago, M.A., Rodriguez-Campos, J. & Contreras-Ramos, S.M. (2024). Comparative study between Salkowski reagent and chromatographic method for auxins quantification from bacterial production. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 15, 1378079. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2024.1378079
- Gundale, M.J., Bach, L.H. & Nordin, A. (2013). The impact of simulated chronic nitrogen deposition on the biomass and N₂-fixation activity of two boreal feather moss-cyanobacteria associations. *Biology Letters*, 9(6), 20130797. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2013.0797
- Gundale, M.J., Deluca, T.H. & Nordin, A. (2011). Bryophytes attenuate anthropogenic nitrogen inputs in boreal forests. *Global Change Biology*, 17(8), 2743-2753. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02407.x
- Gundale, M.J., From, F., Bach, L.H. & Nordin, A. (2014). Anthropogenic nitrogen deposition in boreal forests has a minor impact on the global carbon cycle. *Global Change Biology*, 20(1), 276-86. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12422
- Haas, J.C., Street, N.R., Sjödin, A., Lee, N.M., Högberg, M.N., Näsholm, T. & Hurry, V. (2018). Microbial community response to growing season and plant nutrient optimisation in a boreal Norway spruce forest. *Soil Biology* and Biochemistry, 125, 197-209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2018.07.005
- Haase, D.L., Rose, R. & Trobaugh, J. (2006). Field Performance of Three Stock Sizes of Douglas-fir Container Seedlings Grown with Slow-release Fertilizer in the Nursery Growing Medium. *New Forests*, 31(1), 1-24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11056-004-5396-6
- Häggström, B., Hajek, J., Nordin, A. & Öhlund, J. (2024). Effects of Planting Position, Seedling Size, and Organic Nitrogen Fertilization on the Establishment of Scots Pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and Norway Spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst) Seedlings. *Forests*, 15(4), 703. https://doi.org/10.3390/f15040703
- Han, Y., He, J., Li, M., Peng, Y., Jiang, H., Zhao, J., Li, Y. & Deng, F. (2024). Unlocking the Potential of Metagenomics with the PacBio High-Fidelity Sequencing Technology. *Microorganisms*, 12(12), 2482. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms12122482
- Hansen, B., Kristensen, E.S., Grant, R., Høgh-Jensen, H., Simmelsgaard, S.E. & Olesen, J.E. (2000). Nitrogen leaching from conventional versus organic farming systems — a systems modelling approach. *European Journal of Agronomy*, 13(1), 65-82. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1161-0301(00)00060-5
- Hardy, R.W., Holsten, R.D., Jackson, E.K. & Burns, R.C. (1968). The acetyleneethylene assay for N₂ fixation: laboratory and field evaluation. *Plant Physiology*, 43(8), 1185-207. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.43.8.1185

- Hardy, R.W.F., Burns, R.C. & Holsten, R.D. (1973). Applications of the acetyleneethylene assay for measurement of nitrogen fixation. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 5(1), 47-81. https://doi.org/10.1016/0038-0717(73)90093-x
- Harrison, K.A., Bol, R. & Bardgett, R.D. (2007). Preferences for different nitrogen forms by coexisting plant species and soil microbes. *Ecology*, 88(4), 989-99. https://doi.org/10.1890/06-1018
- Hedwall, P.-O., Gong, P., Ingerslev, M. & Bergh, J. (2014). Fertilization in northern forests – biological, economic and environmental constraints and possibilities. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 29(4), 301-311. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2014.926096
- Heiskanen, J., Lahti, M., Luoranen, J. & Rikala, R. (2009). Nutrient loading has a transitory effect on the nitrogen status and growth of outplanted Norway spruce seedlings. *Silva Fennica*, 43(2), 210. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.210
- Högberg, M.N., Briones, M.J.I., Keel, S.G., Metcalfe, D.B., Campbell, C., Midwood, A.J., Thornton, B., Hurry, V., Linder, S., Näsholm, T. & Hogberg, P. (2010). Quantification of effects of season and nitrogen supply on tree below-ground carbon transfer to ectomycorrhizal fungi and other soil organisms in a boreal pine forest. *New Phytologist*, 187(2), 485-493. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03274.x
- Högberg, P., Näsholm, T., Franklin, O. & Högberg, M.N. (2017). Tamm Review: On the nature of the nitrogen limitation to plant growth in Fennoscandian boreal forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 403, 161-185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.04.045
- Högberg, P., Wellbrock, N., Högberg, M.N., Mikaelsson, H. & Stendahl, J. (2021).
 Large differences in plant nitrogen supply in German and Swedish forests –
 Implications for management. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 482, 118899. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2020.118899
- Hossain, T.J. (2024). Methods for screening and evaluation of antimicrobial activity: A review of protocols, advantages, and limitations. *European Journal of Microbiology and Immunology*, 14(2), 97-115. https://doi.org/10.1556/1886.2024.00035
- Hu, T., Chitnis, N., Monos, D. & Dinh, A. (2021). Next-generation sequencing technologies: An overview. *Human Immunology*, 82(11), 801-811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humimm.2021.02.012
- Huang, P., de-Bashan, L., Crocker, T., Kloepper, J.W. & Bashan, Y. (2016). Evidence that fresh weight measurement is imprecise for reporting the effect of plant growth-promoting (rhizo)bacteria on growth promotion of crop plants. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 53(2), 199-208. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-016-1160-2
- Huhta, V., Persson, T. & Setälä, H. (1998). Functional implications of soil fauna diversity in boreal forests. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 10(3), 277-288. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0929-1393(98)00126-7

- Hunt, G.A. (1989). Effect of Controlled-Release Fertilizers on Growth and Mycorrhizae in Container-Grown Engelmann Spruce. Western Journal of Applied Forestry, 4(4), 129-131. https://doi.org/10.1093/wjaf/4.4.129
- Ievinsh, G. & Ozola, D. (1998). Spatial Distribution of Ethylene Production by Individual Needles Along a Shoot of *Pinus sylvestris* L.: Relationship with Peroxidase Activity. *Annals of Botany*, 82(4), 489-495. https://doi.org/10.1006/anbo.1998.0713
- Ievinsh, G. & Tillberg, E. (1995). Stress-induced Ethylene Biosynthesis in Pine Needles: A Search for the putative 1 -aminocyclopropane-l-carboxylic Acid-Independent Pathway. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 145(3), 308-314. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0176-1617(11)81895-x
- Iqbal, M., Jamshaid, M., Zahid, M.A., Andreasson, E., Vetukuri, R.R. & Stenberg, J.A. (2021). Biological control of strawberry crown rot, root rot and grey mould by the beneficial fungus *Aureobasidium pullulans*. *BioControl*, 66(4), 535-545. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10526-021-10083-w
- Izumi, H., Anderson, I.C., Killham, K. & Moore, E.R. (2008a). Diversity of predominant endophytic bacteria in European deciduous and coniferous trees. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 54(3), 173-9. https://doi.org/10.1139/w07-134
- Izumi, H., Cairney, J.W., Killham, K., Moore, E., Alexander, I.J. & Anderson, I.C. (2008b). Bacteria associated with ectomycorrhizas of slash pine (*Pinus elliottii*) in south-eastern Queensland, Australia. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 282(2), 196-204. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2008.01122.x
- Jackson, C.R., Tyler, H.L. & Millar, J.J. (2013). Determination of microbial extracellular enzyme activity in waters, soils, and sediments using high throughput microplate assays. *Journal of Visualized Experiments*, 80, e50399. https://doi.org/10.3791/50399
- Jangra, A., Kumar, K., Maikhuri, S., Bhandari, M.S., Pandey, S., Singh, H. & Barthwal, S. (2024). Unveiling stress-adapted endophytic bacteria: Characterizing plant growth-promoting traits and assessing crossinoculation effects on *Populus deltoides* under abiotic stress. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry*, 210, 108610. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2024.108610
- Janssens, I.A., Dieleman, W., Luyssaert, S., Subke, J.A., Reichstein, M., Ceulemans, R., Ciais, P., Dolman, A.J., Grace, J., Matteucci, G., Papale, D., Piao, S.L., Schulze, E.D., Tang, J. & Law, B.E. (2010). Reduction of forest soil respiration in response to nitrogen deposition. *Nature Geoscience*, 3(5), 315-322. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo844
- Jariwala, H., Santos, R.M., Lauzon, J.D., Dutta, A. & Wai Chiang, Y. (2022). Controlled release fertilizers (CRFs) for climate-smart agriculture practices: a comprehensive review on release mechanism, materials, methods of

preparation, and effect on environmental parameters. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 29(36), 53967-53995. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-20890-y

- Jasim, B., John Jimtha, C., Jyothis, M. & Radhakrishnan, E.K. (2013). Plant growth promoting potential of endophytic bacteria isolated from *Piper nigrum*. *Plant Growth Regulation*, 71(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10725-013-9802-y
- Johnson, D., Martin, F., Cairney, J.W.G. & Anderson, I.C. (2012). The importance of individuals: intraspecific diversity of mycorrhizal plants and fungi in ecosystems. *New Phytologist*, 194(3), 614-628. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04087.x
- Jones, K. (1970). Nitrogen Fixation in the Phyllosphere of the Douglas Fir, *Pseudotsuga douglasii. Annals of Botany*, 34(1), 239-244. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aob.a084358
- Jones, K. (1982). Nitrogen Fixation in the Canopy of Temperate Forest Trees: A Reexamination. *Annals of Botany*, 50(3), 329-334. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.aob.a086372
- Jordan, S., Hutchings, M.I. & Mascher, T. (2008). Cell envelope stress response in Gram-positive bacteria. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 32(1), 107-46. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.2007.00091.x
- Jörgensen, K., Granath, G., Strengbom, J. & Lindahl, B.D. (2021). Links between boreal forest management, soil fungal communities and below-ground carbon sequestration. *Functional Ecology*, 36(2), 392-405. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13985
- Juntunen, M.-L. & Rikala, R. (2001). Fertilization practice in Finnish forest nurseries from the standpoint of environmental impact. *New Forests*, 21(2), 141-158. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1011837800185
- Kandel, S.L., Joubert, P.M. & Doty, S.L. (2017). Bacterial Endophyte Colonization and Distribution within Plants. *Microorganisms*, 5(4), 77. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms5040077
- Karlidag, H., Esitken, A., Turan, M. & Sahin, F. (2007). Effects of root inoculation of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) on yield, growth and nutrient element contents of leaves of apple. *Scientia Horticulturae*, 114(1), 16-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scienta.2007.04.013
- Katsenios, N., Andreou, V., Sparangis, P., Djordjevic, N., Giannoglou, M., Chanioti, S., Stergiou, P., Xanthou, M.Z., Kakabouki, I., Vlachakis, D., Djordjevic, S., Katsaros, G. & Efthimiadou, A. (2021). Evaluation of Plant Growth Promoting Bacteria Strains on Growth, Yield and Quality of Industrial Tomato. *Microorganisms*, 9(10), 2099. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9102099
- Khan, M.Y., Nadeem, S.M., Sohaib, M., Waqas, M.R., Alotaibi, F., Ali, L., Zahir, Z.A. & Al-Barakah, F.N.I. (2022). Potential of plant growth promoting

bacterial consortium for improving the growth and yield of wheat under saline conditions. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 13, 958522. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.958522

- Kim, H., Kim, S. & Jung, S. (2020). Instruction of microbiome taxonomic profiling based on 16S rRNA sequencing. *Journal of Microbiology*, 58(3), 193-205. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12275-020-9556-y
- Klamer, M. (2004). Estimation of conversion factors for fungal biomass determination in compost using ergosterol and PLFA 18:2ω6,9. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 36(1), 57-65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2003.08.019
- Kong, Z., Hart, M. & Liu, H. (2018). Paving the Way from the Lab to the Field: Using Synthetic Microbial Consortia to Produce High-Quality Crops. Frontiers in Plant Science, 9, 1467. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01467
- Korhonen, J.F.J., Pihlatie, M., Pumpanen, J., Aaltonen, H., Hari, P., Levula, J., Kieloaho, A.J., Nikinmaa, E., Vesala, T. & Ilvesniemi, H. (2013). Nitrogen balance of a boreal Scots pine forest. *Biogeosciences*, 10(2), 1083-1095. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-1083-2013
- Koskimaki, J.J., Pirttila, A.M., Ihantola, E.L., Halonen, O. & Frank, A.C. (2015). The intracellular Scots pine shoot symbiont *Methylobacterium extorquens* DSM13060 aggregates around the host nucleus and encodes eukaryote-like proteins. *mBio*, 6(2), e00039-15. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00039-15
- Kozich, J.J., Westcott, S.L., Baxter, N.T., Highlander, S.K. & Schloss, P.D. (2013). Development of a dual-index sequencing strategy and curation pipeline for analyzing amplicon sequence data on the MiSeq Illumina sequencing platform. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 79(17), 5112-20. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01043-13
- Kramer, C. & Gleixner, G. (2008). Soil organic matter in soil depth profiles: Distinct carbon preferences of microbial groups during carbon transformation. *Soil Biology* and *Biochemistry*, 40(2), 425-433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.09.016
- Kües, U. (2015). Fungal enzymes for environmental management. Current Opinion in Biotechnology, 33, 268-78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2015.03.006
- Kurien, B.T. & Scofield, R.H. (2006). Western blotting. *Methods*, 38(4), 283-93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2005.11.007
- Kyaschenko, J., Clemmensen, K.E., Karltun, E. & Lindahl, B.D. (2017). Belowground organic matter accumulation along a boreal forest fertility gradient relates to guild interaction within fungal communities. *Ecology Letters*, 20(12), 1546-1555. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12862
- Laforest-Lapointe, I., Messier, C. & Kembel, S.W. (2016). Host species identity, site and time drive temperate tree phyllosphere bacterial community structure. *Microbiome*, 4(1), 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-016-0174-1

- Lau, A.P.S., Lee, A.K.Y., Chan, C.K. & Fang, M. (2006). Ergosterol as a biomarker for the quantification of the fungal biomass in atmospheric aerosols. *Atmospheric Environment*, 40(2), 249-259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2005.09.048
- Lemanceau, P., Blouin, M., Muller, D. & Moenne-Loccoz, Y. (2017). Let the Core Microbiota Be Functional. *Trends in Plant Science*, 22(7), 583-595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2017.04.008
- Leonowicz, A., Matuszewska, A., Luterek, J., Ziegenhagen, D., Wojtas-Wasilewska, M., Cho, N.S., Hofrichter, M. & Rogalski, J. (1999). Biodegradation of lignin by white rot fungi. *Fungal Genetics and Biology*, 27(2-3), 175-85. https://doi.org/10.1006/fgbi.1999.1150
- Leppänen, S.M., Salemaa, M., Smolander, A., Mäkipää, R. & Tiirola, M. (2013). Nitrogen fixation and methanotrophy in forest mosses along a N deposition gradient. *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 90, 62-69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2012.12.006
- Li, G. & Coleman, G.D. (2019). Nitrogen storage and cycling in trees. In: Cánovas, F. M. (ed.) *Molecular Physiology and Biotechnology of Trees*. Elsevier Ltd. 127-155. https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.abr.2018.11.004
- Li, Y., Wu, X., Chen, T., Wang, W., Liu, G., Zhang, W., Li, S., Wang, M., Zhao, C., Zhou, H. & Zhang, G. (2018). Plant Phenotypic Traits Eventually Shape Its Microbiota: A Common Garden Test. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 9, 2479. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02479
- Lilleskov, E.A., Fahey, T.J., Horton, T.R. & Lovett, G.M. (2002). Belowground Ectomycorrhizal Fungal Community Change over a Nitrogen Deposition Gradient in Alaska. *Ecology*, 83(1), 104-115. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2002)083[0104:Befcco]2.0.Co;2
- Lilleskov, E.A., Fahey, T.J. & Lovett, G.M. (2001). Ectomycorrhizal Fungal Aboveground Community Change over an Atmospheric Nitrogen Deposition Gradient. *Ecological Applications*, 11(2), 397-410. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2001)011[0397:Efacco]2.0.Co;2
- Lilleskov, E.A., Hobbie, E.A. & Horton, T.R. (2011). Conservation of ectomycorrhizal fungi: exploring the linkages between functional and taxonomic responses to anthropogenic N deposition. *Fungal Ecology*, 4(2), 174-183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2010.09.008
- Lilleskov, E.A., Kuyper, T.W., Bidartondo, M.I. & Hobbie, E.A. (2019). Atmospheric nitrogen deposition impacts on the structure and function of forest mycorrhizal communities: A review. *Environmental Pollution*, 246, 148-162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.11.074
- Lim, H., Jämtgård, S., Oren, R., Gruffman, L., Kunz, S. & Näsholm, T. (2022). Organic nitrogen enhances nitrogen nutrition and early growth of *Pinus* sylvestris seedlings. *Tree Physiology*, 42(3), 513-522. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpab127

- Lindahl, B.D. & Tunlid, A. (2015). Ectomycorrhizal fungi potential organic matter decomposers, yet not saprotrophs. *New Phytologist*, 205(4), 1443-1447. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13201
- Liu, J., Peng, M. & Li, Y. (2012). Phylogenetic diversity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria and the nifH gene from mangrove rhizosphere soil. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 58(4), 531-9. https://doi.org/10.1139/w2012-016
- Lucy, M., Reed, E. & Glick, B.R. (2004). Applications of free living plant growthpromoting rhizobacteria. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*, 86(1), 1-25. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:ANTO.0000024903.10757.6e
- Maaroufi, N.I., Nordin, A., Hasselquist, N.J., Bach, L.H., Palmqvist, K. & Gundale, M.J. (2015). Anthropogenic nitrogen deposition enhances carbon sequestration in boreal soils. *Global Change Biology*, 21(8), 3169-80. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12904
- Maaroufi, N.I., Nordin, A., Palmqvist, K., Hasselquist, N.J., Forsmark, B., Rosenstock, N.P., Wallander, H. & Gundale, M.J. (2019). Anthropogenic nitrogen enrichment enhances soil carbon accumulation by impacting saprotrophs rather than ectomycorrhizal fungal activity. *Global Change Biology*, 25(9), 2900-2914. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14722
- Mai-Prochnow, A., Clauson, M., Hong, J. & Murphy, A.B. (2016). Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria differ in their sensitivity to cold plasma. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 38610. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep38610
- Maimaiti, J., Zhang, Y., Yang, J., Cen, Y.P., Layzell, D.B., Peoples, M. & Dong, Z. (2007). Isolation and characterization of hydrogen-oxidizing bacteria induced following exposure of soil to hydrogen gas and their impact on plant growth. *Environmental Microbiology*, 9(2), 435-44. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2006.01155.x
- Mandlik, J.S., Patil, A.S. & Singh, S. (2024). Next-Generation Sequencing (NGS): Platforms and Applications. *Journal of Pharmacy and BioAllied Sciences*, 16(Suppl 1), S41-S45. https://doi.org/10.4103/jpbs.jpbs_838_23
- Manter, D.K., Kavanagh, K.L. & Rose, C.L. (2005). Growth response of Douglasfir seedlings to nitrogen fertilization: importance of Rubisco activation state and respiration rates. *Tree Physiology*, 25(8), 1015-21. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/25.8.1015
- Marchal, K. & Vanderleyden, J. (2000). The "oxygen paradox" of dinitrogen-fixing bacteria. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 30(5-6), 363-373. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003740050017
- Marciulyniene, D., Marciulynas, A., Lynikiene, J., Vaiciukyne, M., Gedminas, A. & Menkis, A. (2021). DNA-Metabarcoding of Belowground Fungal Communities in Bare-Root Forest Nurseries: Focus on Different Tree Species. *Microorganisms*, 9(1), 150. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9010150

- Martinez-Espinosa, R.M., Cole, J.A., Richardson, D.J. & Watmough, N.J. (2011). Enzymology and ecology of the nitrogen cycle. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 39(1), 175-8. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST0390175
- Marupakula, S., Mahmood, S., Clemmensen, K.E., Jacobson, S., Hogbom, L. & Finlay, R.D. (2021). Root associated fungi respond more strongly than rhizosphere soil fungi to N fertilization in a boreal forest. *Science of the Total Environment*, 766, 142597. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142597
- Marupakula, S., Mahmood, S. & Finlay, R.D. (2016). Analysis of single root tip microbiomes suggests that distinctive bacterial communities are selected by *Pinus sylvestris* roots colonized by different ectomycorrhizal fungi. *Environmental* Microbiology, 18(5), 1470-83. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.13102
- McMurdie, P.J. & Holmes, S. (2014). Waste not, want not: why rarefying microbiome data is inadmissible. *PLOS Computational Biology*, 10(4), e1003531. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003531
- Méndez-Bravo, A., Herrera-Cornelio, L.C., García-Toscano, D.F., Kiel-Martínez, A.L., Guevara-Avendaño, E., Ramírez-Vázquez, M., Pérez-Bautista, Y., Méndez-Bravo, A. & Reverchon, F. (2023). Beneficial effects of selected rhizospheric and endophytic bacteria, inoculated individually or in combination, on non-native host plant development. *Rhizosphere*, 26, 100693. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rhisph.2023.100693
- Menge, D.N., Levin, S.A. & Hedin, L.O. (2009). Facultative versus obligate nitrogen fixation strategies and their ecosystem consequences. *The American Naturalist*, 174(4), 465-77. https://doi.org/10.1086/605377
- Millberg, H., Boberg, J. & Stenlid, J. (2015). Changes in fungal community of Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) needles along a latitudinal gradient in Sweden. *Fungal Ecology*, 17, 126-139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2015.05.012
- Moore, F.P., Barac, T., Borremans, B., Oeyen, L., Vangronsveld, J., van der Lelie, D., Campbell, C.D. & Moore, E.R. (2006). Endophytic bacterial diversity in poplar trees growing on a BTEX-contaminated site: the characterisation of isolates with potential to enhance phytoremediation. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 29(7), 539-56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.syapm.2005.11.012
- Moyes, A.B., Kueppers, L.M., Pett-Ridge, J., Carper, D.L., Vandehey, N., O'Neil, J. & Frank, A.C. (2016). Evidence for foliar endophytic nitrogen fixation in a widely distributed subalpine conifer. *New Phytologist*, 210(2), 657-68. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13850
- Munkvold, L., Kjoller, R., Vestberg, M., Rosendahl, S. & Jakobsen, I. (2004). High functional diversity within species of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *New Phytologist*, 164(2), 357-364. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01169.x

- Nacke, H., Goldmann, K., Schoning, I., Pfeiffer, B., Kaiser, K., Castillo-Villamizar, G.A., Schrumpf, M., Buscot, F., Daniel, R. & Wubet, T. (2016). Fine Spatial Scale Variation of Soil Microbial Communities under European Beech and Norway Spruce. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7, 2067. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.02067
- Nannipieri, P., Trasar-Cepeda, C. & Dick, R.P. (2017). Soil enzyme activity: a brief history and biochemistry as a basis for appropriate interpretations and metaanalysis. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 54(1), 11-19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-017-1245-6
- Näsholm, T., Högberg, P., Franklin, O., Metcalfe, D., Keel, S.G., Campbell, C., Hurry, V., Linder, S. & Högberg, M.N. (2013). Are ectomycorrhizal fungi alleviating or aggravating nitrogen limitation of tree growth in boreal forests? *New Phytologist*, 198(1), 214-221. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12139
- Näsholm, T., Öhlund, J. & Holmlund, M. (2017). Solid phase fertilizer composition. PCT/SE2017/050504.
- Näsholm, T. & Persson, J. (2001). Plant acquisition of organic nitrogen in boreal forests. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 111(4), 419-426. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1399-3054.2001.1110401.x
- Nguyen, D., Boberg, J., Ihrmark, K., Stenström, E. & Stenlid, J. (2016a). Do foliar fungal communities of Norway spruce shift along a tree species diversity gradient in mature European forests? *Fungal Ecology*, 23, 97-108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2016.07.003
- Nguyen, N.H., Song, Z., Bates, S.T., Branco, S., Tedersoo, L., Menke, J., Schilling, J.S. & Kennedy, P.G. (2016b). FUNGuild: An open annotation tool for parsing fungal community datasets by ecological guild. *Fungal Ecology*, 20, 241-248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2015.06.006
- Nilsson, O. (2020). Establishment and growth of Scots pine and Norway spruce: a comparison between species. Diss. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.20803.43042
- Nohrstedt, H.Ö., Arnebrant, K., Bååth, E. & Söderström, B. (1989). Changes in carbon content, respiration rate, ATP content, and microbial biomass in nitrogen-fertilized pine forest soils in Sweden. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 19(3), 323-328. https://doi.org/10.1139/x89-048
- Nordin, A., Strengbom, J., Witzell, J., Näsholm, T. & Ericson, L. (2005). Nitrogen Deposition and the Biodiversity of Boreal Forests: Implications for the Nitrogen Critical Load. *Ambio*, 34(1), 20-24. https://doi.org/10.1579/0044-7447-34.1.20
- Nybakken, L., Lie, M.H., Julkunen-Tiitto, R., Asplund, J. & Ohlson, M. (2018). Fertilization Changes Chemical Defense in Needles of Mature Norway Spruce (*Picea abies*). Frontiers in Plant Science, 9, 770. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.00770

- Öhlund, J. & Näsholm, T. (2002). Low nitrogen losses with a new source of nitrogen for cultivation of conifer seedlings. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 36(22), 4854-9. https://doi.org/10.1021/es025629b
- Öhlund, J. & Näsholm, T. (2004). Regulation of organic and inorganic nitrogen uptake in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) seedlings. *Tree Physiology*, 24(12), 1397-402. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/24.12.1397
- Olanrewaju, O.S., Glick, B.R. & Babalola, O.O. (2017). Mechanisms of action of plant growth promoting bacteria. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 33(11), 197. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-017-2364-9
- Omar, S.A. & Ismail, M.A. (1999). Microbial populations, ammonification and nitrification in soil treated with urea and inorganic salts. *Folia Microbiologica*, 44(2), 205-12. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02816244
- Orumaa, A., Agan, A., Anslan, S., Drenkhan, T., Drenkhan, R., Kauer, K., Koster, K., Tedersoo, L. & Metslaid, M. (2022). Long-term effects of forest fires on fungal community and soil properties along a hemiboreal Scots pine forest fire chronosequence. *Science of The Total Environment*, 851(Part 1), 158173. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.158173
- Ozawa, T., Ohwaki, A. & Okumura, K. (2003). Isolation and Characterization of Diazotrophic Bacteria from the surface-sterilized roots of some legumes. Scientific report of the Graduate School of Agriculture and Biological Sciences Osaka Prefecture University, 55, 29-36. https://doi.org/10466/1058
- Padda, K.P., Puri, A. & Chanway, C. (2019). Endophytic nitrogen fixation a possible 'hidden' source of nitrogen for lodgepole pine trees growing at unreclaimed gravel mining sites. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 95(11), fiz172. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiz172
- Padda, K.P., Puri, A. & Chanway, C.P. (2015). Effect of GFP tagging of *Paenibacillus polymyxa* P2b-2R on its ability to promote growth of canola and tomato seedlings. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 52(3), 377-387. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-015-1083-3
- Padda, K.P., Puri, A. & Chanway, C.P. (2018). Isolation and identification of endophytic diazotrophs from lodgepole pine trees growing at unreclaimed gravel mining pits in central interior British Columbia, Canada. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 48(12), 1601-1606. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2018-0347
- Padda, K.P., Puri, A. & Chanway, C.P. (2021). Long-term effects of inoculating lodgepole pine seedlings with plant growth-promoting bacteria originating from a disturbed gravel mining ecosystem. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 51(4), 533-545. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2020-0333
- Padda, K.P., Puri, A., Nguyen, N.K., Philpott, T.J. & Chanway, C.P. (2022). Evaluating the rhizospheric and endophytic bacterial microbiome of

pioneering pines in an aggregate mining ecosystem post-disturbance. *Plant and Soil*, 474(1-2), 213-232. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-022-05327-2

- Pan, Y., Birdsey, R.A., Fang, J., Houghton, R., Kauppi, P.E., Kurz, W.A., Phillips, O.L., Shvidenko, A., Lewis, S.L., Canadell, J.G., Ciais, P., Jackson, R.B., Pacala, S.W., McGuire, A.D., Piao, S., Rautiainen, A., Sitch, S. & Hayes, D. (2011). A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests. *Science*, 333(6045), 988-93. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1201609
- Pan, Y., Birdsey, R.A., Phillips, O.L., Houghton, R.A., Fang, J., Kauppi, P.E., Keith, H., Kurz, W.A., Ito, A., Lewis, S.L., Nabuurs, G.J., Shvidenko, A., Hashimoto, S., Lerink, B., Schepaschenko, D., Castanho, A. & Murdiyarso, D. (2024). The enduring world forest carbon sink. *Nature*, 631(8021), 563-569. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-024-07602-x
- Park, M., Kim, C., Yang, J., Lee, H., Shin, W., Kim, S. & Sa, T. (2005). Isolation and characterization of diazotrophic growth promoting bacteria from rhizosphere of agricultural crops of Korea. *Microbiological Research*, 160(2), 127-33. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2004.10.003
- Pasanen, A.L., Yli-Pietila, K., Pasanen, P., Kalliokoski, P. & Tarhanen, J. (1999). Ergosterol content in various fungal species and biocontaminated building materials. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 65(1), 138-42. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.65.1.138-142.1999
- Paungfoo-Lonhienne, C., Visser, J., Lonhienne, T.G.A. & Schmidt, S. (2012). Past, present and future of organic nutrients. *Plant and Soil*, 359(1-2), 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1357-6
- Peeters, J., Thas, O., Shkedy, Z., Kodalci, L., Musisi, C., Owokotomo, O.E., Dyczko, A., Hamad, I., Vangronsveld, J., Kleinewietfeld, M., Thijs, S. & Aerts, J. (2021). Exploring the Microbiome Analysis and Visualization Landscape. *Frontiers in Bioinformatics*, 1, 774631. https://doi.org/10.3389/fbinf.2021.774631
- Penrose, D.M., Moffatt, B.A. & Glick, B.R. (2001). Determination of 1aminocycopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC) to assess the effects of ACC deaminase-containing bacteria on roots of canola seedlings. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 47(1), 77-80. https://doi.org/10.1139/w00-128
- Pérez, E., Sulbarán, M., Ball, M.M. & Yarzábal, L.A. (2007). Isolation and characterization of mineral phosphate-solubilizing bacteria naturally colonizing a limonitic crust in the south-eastern Venezuelan region. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 39(11), 2905-2914. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2007.06.017
- Pirttilä, A.M. & Frank, A.C. (eds) (2018). Endophytes of Forest Trees: Biology and Applications. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-1599-8
- Pirttilä, A.M., Laukkanen, H., Pospiech, H., Myllyla, R. & Hohtola, A. (2000). Detection of intracellular bacteria in the buds of Scotch pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) by in situ hybridization. *Applied and Environmental*

Microbiology, 66(7), 3073-7. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.66.7.3073-3077.2000

- Pohjanen, J., Koskimaki, J.J., Sutela, S., Ardanov, P., Suorsa, M., Niemi, K., Sarjala, T., Haggman, H. & Pirttila, A.M. (2014). Interaction with ectomycorrhizal fungi and endophytic *Methylobacterium* affects nutrient uptake and growth of pine seedlings in vitro. *Tree Physiology*, 34(9), 993-1005. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpu062
- Prendergast-Miller, M.T., Baggs, E.M. & Johnson, D. (2011). Nitrous oxide production by the ectomycorrhizal fungi *Paxillus involutus* and *Tylospora fibrillosa*. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 316(1), 31-5. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2010.02187.x
- Priha, O., Grayston, S.J., Hiukka, R., Pennanen, T. & Smolander, A. (2001). Microbial community structure and characteristics of the organic matter in soils under *Pinus sylvestris*, *Picea abies* and *Betula pendula* at two forest sites. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 33(1), 17-24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003740000281
- Puri, A., Padda, K.P. & Chanway, C.P. (2015a). Can a diazotrophic endophyte originally isolated from lodgepole pine colonize an agricultural crop (corn) and promote its growth? *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 89, 210-216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.07.012
- Puri, A., Padda, K.P. & Chanway, C.P. (2015b). Evidence of nitrogen fixation and growth promotion in canola (*Brassica napus* L.) by an endophytic diazotroph *Paenibacillus polymyxa* P2b-2R. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 52(1), 119-125. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-015-1051-y
- Puri, A., Padda, K.P. & Chanway, C.P. (2018). Evidence of endophytic diazotrophic bacteria in lodgepole pine and hybrid white spruce trees growing in soils with different nutrient statuses in the West Chilcotin region of British Columbia, Canada. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 430, 558-565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.08.049
- Puri, A., Padda, K.P. & Chanway, C.P. (2020a). Evaluating lodgepole pine endophytes for their ability to fix nitrogen and support tree growth under nitrogen-limited conditions. *Plant and Soil*, 455(1-2), 271-287. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-020-04687-x
- Puri, A., Padda, K.P. & Chanway, C.P. (2020b). In vitro and in vivo analyses of plant-growth-promoting potential of bacteria naturally associated with spruce trees growing on nutrient-poor soils. Applied Soil Ecology, 149, 103538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2020.103538
- Puri, A., Padda, K.P. & Chanway, C.P. (2020c). Sustaining the growth of Pinaceae trees under nutrient-limited edaphic conditions via plant-beneficial bacteria. *PLoS One*, 15(8), e0238055. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238055
- Qiao, C., Liu, L., Hu, S., Compton, J.E., Greaver, T.L. & Li, Q. (2015). How inhibiting nitrification affects nitrogen cycle and reduces environmental

impacts of anthropogenic nitrogen input. *Global Change Biology*, 21(3), 1249-57. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12802

- Quast, C., Pruesse, E., Yilmaz, P., Gerken, J., Schweer, T., Yarza, P., Peplies, J. & Glockner, F.O. (2013). The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and web-based tools. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 41(Database issue), D590-6. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1219
- Rana, K.L., Kour, D., Kaur, T., Devi, R., Yadav, A.N., Yadav, N., Dhaliwal, H.S. & Saxena, A.K. (2020). Endophytic microbes: biodiversity, plant growthpromoting mechanisms and potential applications for agricultural sustainability. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*, 113(8), 1075-1107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10482-020-01429-y
- Rangjaroen, C., Sungthong, R., Rerkasem, B., Teaumroong, N., Noisangiam, R. & Lumyong, S. (2017). Untapped Endophytic Colonization and Plant Growth-Promoting Potential of the Genus *Novosphingobium* to Optimize Rice Cultivation. *Microbes and Environments*, 32(1), 84-87. https://doi.org/10.1264/jsme2.ME16112
- Ray, P., Lakshmanan, V., Labbe, J.L. & Craven, K.D. (2020). Microbe to Microbiome: A Paradigm Shift in the Application of Microorganisms for Sustainable Agriculture. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 11, 622926. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.622926
- Redford, A.J., Bowers, R.M., Knight, R., Linhart, Y. & Fierer, N. (2010). The ecology of the phyllosphere: geographic and phylogenetic variability in the distribution of bacteria on tree leaves. *Environmental Microbiology*, 12(11), 2885-93. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2010.02258.x
- Regueira-Iglesias, A., Balsa-Castro, C., Blanco-Pintos, T. & Tomás, I. (2023). Critical review of 16S rRNA gene sequencing workflow in microbiome studies: From primer selection to advanced data analysis. *Molecular Oral Microbiology*, 38(5), 347-399. https://doi.org/10.1111/omi.12434
- Reis, V.M., Baldani, V.L.D. & Baldani, J.I. (2015). Isolation, Identification and Biochemical Characterization of *Azospirillum* spp. and Other Nitrogen-Fixing Bacteria. In: Cassán, F., Okon, Y. & Creus, C. (eds) *Handbook for Azospirillum*. Springer. 3-26. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-06542-7_1.
- Renaudin, M., Khlifa, R., Legault, S., Kembel, S.W., Kneeshaw, D., Moore, J.-D. & Houle, D. (2023). Long-Term Simulated Nitrogen Deposition Has Moderate Impacts on Soil Microbial Communities across Three Bioclimatic Domains of the Eastern Canadian Forest. *Forests*, 14(6), 1124. https://doi.org/10.3390/f14061124
- Rhoads, A. & Au, K.F. (2015). PacBio Sequencing and Its Applications. *Genomics, Proteomics* & *Bioinformatics*, 13(5), 278-89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gpb.2015.08.002

- Richardson, K., Steffen, W., Lucht, W., Bendtsen, J., Cornell, S.E., Donges, J.F., Druke, M., Fetzer, I., Bala, G., von Bloh, W., Feulner, G., Fiedler, S., Gerten, D., Gleeson, T., Hofmann, M., Huiskamp, W., Kummu, M., Mohan, C., Nogues-Bravo, D., Petri, S., Porkka, M., Rahmstorf, S., Schaphoff, S., Thonicke, K., Tobian, A., Virkki, V., Wang-Erlandsson, L., Weber, L. & Rockstrom, J. (2023). Earth beyond six of nine planetary boundaries. *Science Advances*, 9(37), eadh2458. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.adh2458
- Richy, E., Fort, T., Odriozola, I., Kohout, P., Barbi, F., Martinovic, T., Tupek, B., Adamczyk, B., Lehtonen, A., Makipaa, R. & Baldrian, P. (2024). Phosphorus limitation promotes soil carbon storage in a boreal forest exposed to long-term nitrogen fertilization. *Global Change Biology*, 30(9), e17516. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.17516
- Rodríguez-Rodríguez, J.C., Fenton, N.J., Bergeron, Y. & Kembel, S.W. (2023). Soil and tree phyllosphere microbial communities differ between coniferous and broadleaf deciduous boreal forests. *Plant and Soil*, 488(1-2), 233-253. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-023-05959-y
- Rodriguez, R.J., White, J.F., Jr., Arnold, A.E. & Redman, R.S. (2009). Fungal endophytes: diversity and functional roles. *New Phytologist*, 182(2), 314-330. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2009.02773.x
- Romeralo, C., Martín-García, J., Martínez-Álvarez, P., Muñoz-Adalia, E.J., Gonçalves, D.R., Torres, E., Witzell, J. & Diez, J.J. (2022). Pine species determine fungal microbiome composition in a common garden experiment. *Fungal Ecology*, 56, 101137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2021.101137
- Rosling, A., Landeweert, R., Lindahl, B.D., Larsson, K.H., Kuyper, T.W., Taylor, A.F.S. & Finlay, R.D. (2003). Vertical distribution of ectomycorrhizal fungal taxa in a podzol soil profile. *New Phytologist*, 159(3), 775-783. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1469-8137.2003.00829.x
- Routa, J., Kilpeläinen, A., Ikonen, V.P., Asikainen, A., Venäläinen, A. & Peltola, H. (2019). Effects of intensified silviculture on timber production and its economic profitability in boreal Norway spruce and Scots pine stands under changing climatic conditions. *Forestry*, 92(5), 648-658. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpz043
- Rua, M.A., Wilson, E.C., Steele, S., Munters, A.R., Hoeksema, J.D. & Frank, A.C. (2016). Associations between Ectomycorrhizal Fungi and Bacterial Needle Endophytes in Pinus radiata: Implications for Biotic Selection of Microbial Communities. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7, 399. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00399
- Ruzicka, S., Edgerton, D., Norman, M. & Hill, T. (2000). The utility of ergosterol as a bioindicator of fungi in temperate soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 32(7), 989-1005. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0038-0717(00)00009-2

- Ryan, R.P., Germaine, K., Franks, A., Ryan, D.J. & Dowling, D.N. (2008). Bacterial endophytes: recent developments and applications. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 278(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2007.00918.x
- Saleem, M., Nawaz, F., Hussain, M.B. & Ikram, R.M. (2021). Comparative Effects of Individual and Consortia Plant Growth Promoting Bacteria on Physiological and Enzymatic Mechanisms to Confer Drought Tolerance in Maize (*Zea mays L.*). Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition, 21(4), 3461-3476. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42729-021-00620-y
- Santoyo, G., Moreno-Hagelsieb, G., Orozco-Mosqueda Mdel, C. & Glick, B.R. (2016). Plant growth-promoting bacterial endophytes. *Microbiological Research*, 183, 92-9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2015.11.008
- Saravanan, V.S., Madhaiyan, M. & Thangaraju, M. (2007). Solubilization of zinc compounds by the diazotrophic, plant growth promoting bacterium Gluconacetobacter diazotrophicus. *Chemosphere*, 66(9), 1794-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.07.067
- Savci, S. (2012). An Agricultural Pollutant: Chemical Fertilizer. International Journal of Environmental Science and Development, 3, 73-80. https://doi.org/10.7763/ijesd.2012.V3.191
- Schneider, A.N., Castro, D., Holmlund, M., Näsholm, T., Hurry, V. & Street, N.R. (2024). Effects of small-scale outplanting fertilization on conifer seedling growth and fungal community establishment. *Trees, Forests and People*, 16, 100568. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tfp.2024.100568
- Schneider, A.N., Sundh, J., Sundstrom, G., Richau, K., Delhomme, N., Grabherr, M., Hurry, V. & Street, N.R. (2021). Comparative Fungal Community Analyses Using Metatranscriptomics and Internal Transcribed Spacer Amplicon Sequencing from Norway Spruce. *mSystems*, 6(1), 10.1128. https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00884-20
- Schulten, H.R. & Schnitzer, M. (1997). The chemistry of soil organic nitrogen: a review. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 26(1), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1007/s003740050335
- Sepp, S.K., Vasar, M., Davison, J., Oja, J., Anslan, S., Al-Quraishy, S., Bahram, M., Bueno, C.G., Cantero, J.J., Fabiano, E.C., Decocq, G., Drenkhan, R., Fraser, L., Garibay Oriel, R., Hiiesalu, I., Koorem, K., Koljalg, U., Moora, M., Mucina, L., Opik, M., Polme, S., Partel, M., Phosri, C., Semchenko, M., Vahter, T., Vasco Palacios, A.M., Tedersoo, L. & Zobel, M. (2023). Global diversity and distribution of nitrogen-fixing bacteria in the soil. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 14, 1100235. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2023.1100235
- Shade, A. & Handelsman, J. (2012). Beyond the Venn diagram: the hunt for a core microbiome. *Environmental Microbiology*, 14(1), 4-12. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02585.x

- Shishido, M., Breuil, C. & Chanway, C.P. (1999). Endophytic colonization of spruce by plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, 29(2), 191-196. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.1999.tb00610.x
- Shvidenko, A. & Apps, M. (2006). The International Boreal Forest Research Association: Understanding Boreal Forests and Forestry in a Changing World. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, 11(1), 5-32. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11027-006-0986-6
- Sigala, J.A., Oliet, J.A. & Uscola, M. (2021). Assessing growth, frost tolerance, and acclimation of pine seedlings with contrasted dormancy strategies as influenced by organic nitrogen supply. *Journal of Plant Physiology*, 173(3), 1105-1119. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppl.13506
- Sigala, J.A., Uscola, M., Oliet, J.A. & Jacobs, D.F. (2020). Drought tolerance and acclimation in *Pinus ponderosa* seedlings: the influence of nitrogen form. *Tree Physiology*, 40(9), 1165-1177. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpaa052
- Sikes, B.A., Powell, J.R. & Rillig, M.C. (2010). Deciphering the relative contributions of multiple functions within plant-microbe symbioses. *Ecology*, 91(6), 1591-7. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-1858.1
- Sikström, U. (1997). Effects of low-dose liming and nitrogen fertilization on stemwood growth and needle properties of *Picea abies* and *Pinus sylvestris*. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 95(3), 261-274. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-1127(97)00025-x
- Silhavy, T.J., Kahne, D. & Walker, S. (2010). The bacterial cell envelope. *Cold* Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, 2(5), a000414. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a000414
- Sinsabaugh, R.L. (2010). Phenol oxidase, peroxidase and organic matter dynamics of soil. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 42(3), 391-404. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2009.10.014
- Sinsabaugh, R.L., Lauber, C.L., Weintraub, M.N., Ahmed, B., Allison, S.D., Crenshaw, C., Contosta, A.R., Cusack, D., Frey, S., Gallo, M.E., Gartner, T.B., Hobbie, S.E., Holland, K., Keeler, B.L., Powers, J.S., Stursova, M., Takacs-Vesbach, C., Waldrop, M.P., Wallenstein, M.D., Zak, D.R. & Zeglin, L.H. (2008). Stoichiometry of soil enzyme activity at global scale. *Ecology Letters*, 11(11), 1252-1264. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01245.x
- Slatko, B.E., Gardner, A.F. & Ausubel, F.M. (2018). Overview of Next-Generation Sequencing Technologies. *Current Protocols in Molecular Biology*, 122(1), e59. https://doi.org/10.1002/cpmb.59
- Smercina, D.N., Evans, S.E., Friesen, M.L. & Tiemann, L.K. (2019). To Fix or Not To Fix: Controls on Free-Living Nitrogen Fixation in the Rhizosphere. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology Journal*, 85(6), e02546-18. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02546-18

- Solvin, T., Sundheim Fløistad, I. & Bakkebø Fjellstad, K. (2021). *Statistics: Forest Seeds and Plants in the Nordic Region*. The Nordic Genetic Resource Centre.
- Song, Q., Song, X., Deng, X., Luo, J., Wang, J., Min, K. & Song, R. (2021). Effects of plant growth promoting Rhizobacteria microbial on the growth, rhizosphere soil properties, and bacterial community of *Pinus sylvestris* var. *mongolica* seedlings. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research*, 36(4), 249-262. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2021.1917649
- Song, Z., Lu, Y., Liu, X., Wei, C., Oladipo, A. & Fan, B. (2020). Evaluation of Pantoea eucalypti FBS135 for pine (Pinus massoniana) growth promotion and its genome analysis. Journal of Applied Microbiology, 129(4), 958-970. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.14673
- Soper, F.M., Simon, C. & Jauss, V. (2021). Measuring nitrogen fixation by the acetylene reduction assay (ARA): is 3 the magic ratio? *Biogeochemistry*, 152(2-3), 345-351. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-021-00761-3
- Spitzer, C.M., Jamtgard, S., Larsson, M.J. & Gundale, M.J. (2025). Aboveground and belowground trait coordination across twelve boreal forest tree species. *Scientific Reports*, 15(1), 680. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-024-84162-0
- Sponseller, R.A., Gundale, M.J., Futter, M., Ring, E., Nordin, A., Nasholm, T. & Laudon, H. (2016). Nitrogen dynamics in managed boreal forests: Recent advances and future research directions. *Ambio*, 45(Suppl 2), 175-87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-015-0755-4
- Summerbell, R.C. (2005). Root endophyte and mycorrhizosphere fungi of black spruce, *Picea mariana*, in a boreal forest habitat: influence of site factors on fungal distributions. *Studies in Mycology*, 53, 121-145. https://doi.org/10.3114/sim.53.1.121
- Tahovská, K., Choma, M., Kaštovská, E., Oulehle, F., Bárta, J., Šantrůčková, H. & Moldan, F. (2020). Positive response of soil microbes to long-term nitrogen input in spruce forest: Results from Gårdsjön whole-catchment N-addition experiment. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 143, 107732. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2020.107732
- Tang, Q., Puri, A., Padda, K.P. & Chanway, C.P. (2017). Biological nitrogen fixation and plant growth promotion of lodgepole pine by an endophytic diazotroph *Paenibacillus polymyxa* and its GFP-tagged derivative. *Botany*, 95(6), 611-619. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjb-2016-0300
- Tarvainen, L., Lutz, M., Rantfors, M., Näsholm, T. & Wallin, G. (2016). Increased Needle Nitrogen Contents Did Not Improve Shoot Photosynthetic Performance of Mature Nitrogen-Poor Scots Pine Trees. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7, 1051. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01051
- Taylor, B.N. & Menge, D.N.L. (2018). Light regulates tropical symbiotic nitrogen fixation more strongly than soil nitrogen. *Nature Plants*, 4(9), 655-661. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41477-018-0231-9

- Tedersoo, L., Bahram, M., Polme, S., Koljalg, U., Yorou, N.S., Wijesundera, R., Villarreal Ruiz, L., Vasco-Palacios, A.M., Thu, P.Q., Suija, A., Smith, M.E., Sharp, C., Saluveer, E., Saitta, A., Rosas, M., Riit, T., Ratkowsky, D., Pritsch, K., Poldmaa, K., Piepenbring, M., Phosri, C., Peterson, M., Parts, K., Partel, K., Otsing, E., Nouhra, E., Njouonkou, A.L., Nilsson, R.H., Morgado, L.N., Mayor, J., May, T.W., Majuakim, L., Lodge, D.J., Lee, S.S., Larsson, K.H., Kohout, P., Hosaka, K., Hiiesalu, I., Henkel, T.W., Harend, H., Guo, L.D., Greslebin, A., Grelet, G., Geml, J., Gates, G., Dunstan, W., Dunk, C., Drenkhan, R., Dearnaley, J., De Kesel, A., Dang, T., Chen, X., Buegger, F., Brearley, F.Q., Bonito, G., Anslan, S., Abell, S. & Abarenkov, K. (2014). Fungal biogeography. Global diversity and geography of soil Science. fungi. 346(6213), 1256688. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1256688
- Terhonen, E., Blumenstein, K., Kovalchuk, A. & Asiegbu, F.O. (2019). Forest Tree Microbiomes and Associated Fungal Endophytes: Functional Roles and Impact on Forest Health. *Forests*, 10(1), 42. https://doi.org/10.3390/f10010042
- Thiagarajan, A., MacDonald, M.T. & Lada, R. (2016). Environmental and Hormonal Physiology of Postharvest Needle Abscission in Christmas Trees. *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, 35(1), 1-17. https://doi.org/10.1080/07352689.2015.1133965
- Thurston, C.F. (1994). The structure and function of fungal laccases. *Microbiology*, 140(1), 19-26. https://doi.org/10.1099/13500872-140-1-19
- Tormanen, T. & Smolander, A. (2022). Biological nitrogen fixation in logging residue piles of different tree species after final felling. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 303, 113942. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.113942
- Unkovich, M., Herridge, D., Peoples, M., Cadisch, G., Boddey, R., Giller, K., Alves, B. & Chalk, P. (2008). *Measuring plant-associated nitrogen fixation in agricultural systems*. Australian Centre for International Agricultural Research.
- Urbanová, M., Šnajdr, J. & Baldrian, P. (2015). Composition of fungal and bacterial communities in forest litter and soil is largely determined by dominant trees. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 84, 53-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.02.011
- Uroz, S., Buée, M., Deveau, A., Mieszkin, S. & Martin, F. (2016a). Ecology of the forest microbiome: Highlights of temperate and boreal ecosystems. *Soil Biology* and *Biochemistry*, 103, 471-488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2016.09.006
- Uroz, S., Oger, P., Tisserand, E., Cebron, A., Turpault, M.P., Buee, M., De Boer, W., Leveau, J.H. & Frey-Klett, P. (2016b). Specific impacts of beech and Norway spruce on the structure and diversity of the rhizosphere and soil

microbial communities. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 27756. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep27756

- Uscola, M., Villar-Salvador, P., Oliet, J. & Warren, C.R. (2017). Root uptake of inorganic and organic N chemical forms in two coexisting Mediterranean forest trees. *Plant and Soil*, 415(1-2), 387-392. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-017-3172-6
- Vaario, L.-M., Tervonen, A., Haukioja, K., Haukioja, M., Pennanen, T. & Timonen, S. (2009). The effect of nursery substrate and fertilization on the growth and ectomycorrhizal status of containerized and outplanted seedlings of *Picea abies*. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 39(1), 64-75. https://doi.org/10.1139/x08-156
- Vejan, P., Khadiran, T., Abdullah, R. & Ahmad, N. (2021). Controlled release fertilizer: A review on developments, applications and potential in agriculture. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 339, 321-334. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2021.10.003
- Vitousek, P.M., Menge, D.N., Reed, S.C. & Cleveland, C.C. (2013). Biological nitrogen fixation: rates, patterns and ecological controls in terrestrial ecosystems. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B Biological Science*, 368(1621), 20130119. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0119
- Wang, C., Lu, X., Mori, T., Mao, Q., Zhou, K., Zhou, G., Nie, Y. & Mo, J. (2018). Responses of soil microbial community to continuous experimental nitrogen additions for 13 years in a nitrogen-rich tropical forest. *Soil Biology* and Biochemistry, 121, 103-112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2018.03.009
- Weiss, S., Xu, Z.Z., Peddada, S., Amir, A., Bittinger, K., Gonzalez, A., Lozupone, C., Zaneveld, J.R., Vazquez-Baeza, Y., Birmingham, A., Hyde, E.R. & Knight, R. (2017). Normalization and microbial differential abundance strategies depend upon data characteristics. *Microbiome*, 5(1), 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-017-0237-y
- Welsh, D.T. (2000). Nitrogen fixation in seagrass meadows: Regulation, plantbacteria interactions and significance to primary productivity. *Ecology Letters*, 3(1), 58-71. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2000.00111.x
- Wijayawardene, N.N., Hyde, K.D., Mikhailov, K.V., Péter, G., Aptroot, A., Pires-Zottarelli, C.L.A., Goto, B.T., Tokarev, Y.S., Haelewaters, D., Karunarathna, S.C., Kirk, P.M., de A. Santiago, A.L.C.M., Saxena, R.K., Schoutteten, N., Wimalasena, M.K., Aleoshin, V.V., Al-Hatmi, A.M.S., Ariyawansa, K.G.S.U., Assunção, A.R., Bamunuarachchige, T.C., Baral, H.-O., Bhat, D.J., Błaszkowski, J., Boekhout, T., Boonyuen, N., Brysch-Herzberg, M., Cao, B., Cazabonne, J., Chen, X.-M., Coleine, C., Dai, D.-Q., Daniel, H.-M., da Silva, S.B.G., de Souza, F.A., Dolatabadi, S., Dubey, M.K., Dutta, A.K., Ediriweera, A., Egidi, E., Elshahed, M.S., Fan, X., Felix, J.R.B., Galappaththi, M.C.A., Groenewald, M., Han, L.-S., Huang, B.,

Hurdeal, V.G., Ignatieva, A.N., Jerônimo, G.H., de Jesus, A.L., Kondratyuk, S., Kumla, J., Kukwa, M., Li, Q., Lima, J.L.R., Liu, X.-Y., Lu, W., Lumbsch, H.T., Madrid, H., Magurno, F., Marson, G., McKenzie, E.H.C., Menkis, A., Mešić, A., Nascimento, E.C.R., Nassonova, E.S., Nie, Y., Oliveira, N.V.L., Ossowska, E.A., Pawłowska, J., Peintner, U., Pozdnyakov, I.R., Premarathne, B.M., Priyashantha, A.K.H., Quandt, C.A., Queiroz, M.B., Rajeshkumar, K.C., Raza, M., Roy, N., Samarakoon, M.C., Santos, A.A., Santos, L.A., Schumm, F., Selbmann, L., Selçuk, F., Simmons, D.R., Simakova, A.V., Smith, M.T., Sruthi, O.P., Suwannarach, N., Tanaka, K., Tibpromma, S., Tomás, E.O., Ulukapı, M., Van Vooren, N., Wanasinghe, D.N., Weber, E., Wu, Q., Yang, E.F., Yoshioka, R., Youssef, N.H., Zandijk, A., Zhang, G.-Q., Zhang, J.-Y., Zhao, H., Zhao, R., Zverkov, O.A., Thines, M. & Karpov, S.A. (2024). Classes and phyla of the kingdom Fungi. *Fungal Diversity*, 128(1), 1-165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13225-024-00540-z

- Wurzburger, N. (2016). Old-growth temperate forests harbor hidden nitrogen-fixing bacteria. *New Phytologist*, 210(2), 374-6. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13925
- Xiong, C., B, K.S., Zhu, Y.G., Hu, H.W., Li, P.P., Han, Y.L., Han, L.L., Zhang, Q.B., Wang, J.T., Liu, S.Y., Wu, C.F., Ge, A.H., Zhang, L.M. & He, J.Z. (2024). Microbial species pool-mediated diazotrophic community assembly in crop microbiomes during plant development. *mSystems*, 9(4), e0105523. https://doi.org/10.1128/msystems.01055-23
- Yan, G., Xing, Y., Xu, L., Wang, J., Dong, X., Shan, W., Guo, L. & Wang, Q. (2017). Effects of different nitrogen additions on soil microbial communities in different seasons in a boreal forest. *Ecosphere*, 8(7), e01879. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1879
- Younas, H., Nazir, A., Bareen, F.E. & Thies, J.E. (2023). Metabolic profile and molecular characterization of endophytic bacteria isolated from *Pinus* sylvestris L. with growth-promoting effect on sunflower. *Environmental* Science and Pollution Research, 30(14), 40147-40161. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-022-25118-7
- Zhang, Q., Li, Y., Wang, M., Wang, K., Meng, F., Liu, L., Zhao, Y., Ma, L., Zhu, Q., Xu, W. & Zhang, F. (2021). Atmospheric nitrogen deposition: A review of quantification methods and its spatial pattern derived from the global monitoring networks. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 216, 112180. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2021.112180
- Zhao, C. & Liu, Q. (2012). Effects of soil warming and nitrogen fertilization on leaf physiology of *Pinus tabulaeformis* seedlings. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum*, 34(5), 1837-1846. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11738-012-0982-2

- Zhao, X.R., Lin, Q. & Brookes, P.C. (2005). Does soil ergosterol concentration provide a reliable estimate of soil fungal biomass? *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 37(2), 311-317. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.07.041
- Zheng, M., Zhang, W., Luo, Y., Mori, T., Mao, Q., Wang, S., Huang, J., Lu, X. & Mo, J. (2017). Different responses of asymbiotic nitrogen fixation to nitrogen addition between disturbed and rehabilitated subtropical forests. *Science of the Total Environment*, 601-602, 1505-1512. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.06.036
- Zhou, J., Liu, X., Xie, J., Lyu, M., Zheng, Y., You, Z., Fan, Y., Lin, C., Chen, G., Chen, Y. & Yang, Y. (2019). Nitrogen Addition Affects Soil Respiration Primarily through Changes in Microbial Community Structure and Biomass in a Subtropical Natural Forest. *Forests*, 10(5), 435. https://doi.org/10.3390/f10050435
- Zhou, W., Shi, W., Soltis, P.S., Soltis, D.E. & Xiang, Q.J. (2023). Foliar endophyte diversity in Eastern Asian-Eastern North American disjunct tree species influences of host identity, environment, phylogeny, and geographic isolation. *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 14, 1274746. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2023.1274746

Popular science summary

Bacteria and fungi are an important part of the boreal forest even if they are sometimes hard or impossible to notice. Both play a role in plant and soil health and growth, but compared to plants, animals and insects, not much is known about them. Therefore, this PhD thesis focused on discovering more about this intriguing part of the boreal forest by looking at Scots pine and Norway spruce associated fungal and bacterial communities.

The first question the thesis addressed was the composition of the fungal and bacterial communities in the boreal forest. The results showed that the composition of both communities was dependent on the compartment as differences were observed between soil, root and needle fungal and bacterial communities. While soil and root samples shared several fungal species, the needle samples were completely different from the soil samples for both Norway spruce and Scots pine. Part of the observed bacterial community are also nitrogen-fixing bacteria, which have the ability to change atmospheric nitrogen into a form that is available to plants for their growth. To better understand this community, several nitrogen-fixing bacteria from Scots pine needles were isolated and identified, showing the variety of these bacteria inside needles.

The second research question focused on the effect of inorganic nitrogen addition on boreal forest bacterial and fungal communities. Nitrogen is an important element in the boreal forest as tree growth is largely dependent on its availability in the environment. Therefore, inorganic nitrogen addition, through fertilization or deposition, can significantly affect the boreal forest, including bacterial and fungal communities. The results showed that the fungal and bacterial biomass declined, and the composition of fungal community changed after high nitrogen addition. The change in the fungal community consequently changed the activity of enzymes, which are exuded by fungi to be able to take up nutrients. The thesis also analysed if inorganic nitrogen addition affected the presence or activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria. The results showed that both their presence and activity were similar between the control and nitrogen addition boreal forest plots.

The third research question assessed two alternatives to inorganic nitrogen fertilization to promote plant growth in a greenhouse, as it is known that inorganic nitrogen can lead to negative environmental consequences. The first alternative, which was an organic nitrogen-based nutrition called Arginine Fe-HMP, showed similar plant growth promotion as currently used inorganic nitrogen fertilizers. However, as the use of this organic nitrogen fertilizer led to lower nitrate leakage and the production did not use nonbiodegradable and fossil fuel-dependent substrates, Arginine Fe-HMP showed good potential as a more sustainable option than inorganic nitrogen fertilizers. The second option was the use of so-called plant growthpromoting bacteria, which are bacteria that possess certain properties that can help plants grow better. While the bacteria did possess several of these properties, they were not able to promote the growth of tomatoes, corn, cucumber or kale in a greenhouse experiment. It could be that they were unable to compete with the other bacteria and fungi already present in the soil and inside the seed.

Together, the three research questions provided more information and knowledge about the mostly hidden part of the boreal forest, which often gets overlooked due to its size.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Bakterier och svampar är en viktig del av den boreala skogen även om de oftast är svåra eller omöjliga att se med blotta ögat. Båda organismgrupperna spelar viktiga roller för att säkerställa skogsekosystemens funktion, men jämfört med växter, djur och insekter är deras värld mindre utforskad. Denna doktorsavhandling syftade till att utforska och beskriva några tidigare inte så väl studerade frågor om svamp- och bakteriesamhällens olika roller i skogen.

Den första frågan handlade om hur artsammansättningen av svamp- och bakteriesamhällen skiljde sig mellan marken där träden växer samt trädens rötter och barr. Man fann att många svamparter var desamma i marken och inuti trädrötterna medan inuti barren fanns helt andra arter. Det fanns också betydande skillnader mellan tall och gran. I en särskild undersökning av tallbarr fann man att inuti barren fanns kvävefixerande bakterier, det vill säga bakterier som kan omvandla luftens kvävgas till kväveformer som växter kan använda för sin tillväxt. De kvävefixerande bakterierna i barren sekvenserades vilket betyder att man med hjälp av DNA analys tog reda på vilka arter av bakterier det handlade om. Kvävefixerande bakterier i barr har inte tidigare studerats i någon stor omfattning och studien bekräftade att kvävefixering i barr i skogar i norra Sverige kan bidra till skogarnas kväveförsörjning.

Den andra forskningsfrågan fokuserade på vad som händer med skogens bakterie- och svampsamhällen om man tillsätter kvävegödsel. Eftersom all tillväxt i nordliga skogar normalt sett är begränsad av kvävetillgången får kvävegödsling ofta en märkbar effekt på skogen då träden till exempel börjar växa bättre. Det är mindre väl känt vad som händer med bakterierna och svamparna när man kvävegödslar. Resultaten i denna avhandling visade att efter nästan 30 års tillsats av 50 kg kväve per hektar och år hade förekomsten av svampar och bakterier minskat. Detta gällde dock inte för de kvävefixerande bakterierna i tallbar. Dessa påverkades inte av gödslingen utan var lika vanligt förekommande och fixerade lika mycket kväve från luften i barren på tallar som växte på ogödslade kontrollytor som på gödslade ytor.

Den tredje forskningsfrågan utvärderade två alternativ till vanlig oorganisk kvävegödsling i växthus, eftersom det är känt att till exempel av kväve från växthusodling kan leda läckage till negativa miljökonsekvenser. Det första alternativet kallas för Arginine Fe-HMP. När man gödslade trädplantor med detta eller med vanliga oorganiska kvävegödselmedel fanns det inga skillnader i planttillväxten beroende på vilket gödselmedel plantorna fick. Dock skedde mycket mindre nitratläckage från plantorna som gödslats med Arginine Fe-HMP så detta gödselmedel var mer miljövänligt än det konventionella. Det andra alternativet var tillsats av tillväxtfrämjande bakterier. I detta fall handlade det om de kvävefixerande bakterierna från tallbarren som i olika tester hade visat sig ha också många andra positiva egenskaper än kvävefixeringen. Dock kunde de inte främja tillväxten av tomater, majs, gurka eller grönkål i ett växthusexperiment. Det kan bero på att de inte kunde konkurrera med andra bakterier och svampar som redan fanns i jorden som användes för odlingen.

Avhandlingen belyser komplexiteten hos den mestadels dolda delen av den boreala skogen. Svampar och bakterier förbises ofta på grund av sin ringa storlek, men deras närvaro har avgörande betydelse för skogarnas hälsa. Ju mer vi lär om dem, desto mer förstår vi hur vi påverkar dem med olika åtgärder vi gör i skogen. Dessutom kan vi upptäcka hur vi kan ta deras egenskaper i anspråk för att tillexempel förbättra hur vi odlar olika grödor.

Acknowledgements

I think this part of the thesis might be the hardest to write...

Not because I am not thankful for all of the opportunities, support, guidance and help I received during (more than) the last four years, but because it is impossible to express all my gratefulness and to list each and every thing and person I am grateful for. But I guess I can try to do my best (with an added grain of humor):

First of all, I would like to thank my main supervisor **Annika**, who I feel has taken me under her wing when I was finishing my bachelor studies. In fact, you have been my mentor for a very long time, and I am extremely grateful for all the opportunities, feedback and support I received during that time. It has been a fun and unique experience to have a supervisor who rarely (if ever) said no to my ideas and plans, even though you did sometimes try to convince me that some of my ideas were not the best (rightfully so!). So, thank you again for your guidance and for allowing me to explore my ideas and learn from my mistakes.

I would like to thank my co-supervisor **Regina**, who stepped in as one of my co-supervisors already when I was planning my master's thesis. You were extremely helpful whenever I had a question regarding laboratory work. Through your help and guidance, I learned how the publishing system works, how to approach laboratory problems and, in general, how to be a good researcher. And it was definitely an adventure to attend my first conference with you (I mean what destination can beat Svalbard!?!).

Torgny, thank you for completing my PhD supervisor team. Even though we did not collaborate on so many projects, I always valued your ideas, comments and feedback. I always perceived you as the most critical one out of my supervisors (maybe wrongly), but it was good as it made me reexamine and re-evaluate the ideas, methods and approaches more carefully, which helped.

All in all, I am super grateful to have had such an amazing team of supervisors, but have to admit it was incredibly hard to find a meeting time that fit everybody!

Anita, thank you for teaching me about nitrogen fixation and acetylenereduction assay. I am grateful to have had your guidance and for your help with getting acetylene gas whenever I asked (as I was too worried to do it by myself after doing the safety assessment sheet).

Ann-Katrin, I am not sure how I would manage all the administrative tasks without your help. I feel like I had quite a few unique administrative problems during my PhD and I am so glad I received your help with all of them.

Justine, it has been such a fun experience working with you. You made every day a fun and exciting day as so many things seemed to happen when you were around. And I am still glad we managed to save the samples from the trash (it happens, right?!?).

Anne, thank you for being the best (and the only) master's student I had. It was so amazing to see you become more independent and knowledgeable during your master's thesis project and I am glad you decided to continue on with PhD studies. It must say something about my supervisor abilities, I hope?

I would also like to thank all my **co-authors** on the different papers as I could not manage without you. A special thank you to **Michael** for all the useful feedback, which made the joint papers much more cohesive and focused. And **Benjamin**, it was an honor to work with you during the last few years. You were the first PhD student I met, and you gave me so much insight and advice regarding the PhD process (even though I could also see the negative sides of being a PhD student; but good to get the real picture, right?). And I will never forget how well you handled the situation when during my cleaning of the HPLC machine, the column managed to get stuck turned the wrong way. (I was upset and distressed, but somehow you managed to save the day!)

I would also like to thank members of the **Nordin group**, who were there for part or most of my PhD journey. **Matej**, **Bodil**, **Isabella** and **Marcus**, it has been fun to discuss our PhD projects and complain about them at the same time. During all the meetings and excursions, I have also learned so much from you regarding forest management, and I appreciated your critical feedback even if I was not always happy receiving it (I mean, who is?). And Marcus, it has been an honour to share being the last two PhD students in the group, it makes us a bit special I think (just kidding!).

Thank you also to all the past and present **Silviculture group** and **C/N group** for all the interesting meetings and discussions. Even though I might not have completely understood all the details regarding your projects (sorry for that), it was always fascinating how many things are still unknown. I would also like to thank the **Soil nutrient cycling group in Skara**, as they kindly took me in during the last few months, gave me an occasional office and included me in their meetings (surprisingly, it was really nice to be able to occasionally join an in-person meeting).

Laura, I cannot imagine my PhD without you! Even though we never managed to come up with an idea for a joint article (maybe sometime in the future?), you were somehow part of most of my PhD. It was fun (and sometimes tiring) to take on the challenges such as being department PhD representatives, organising the 12th SPPS PhD conference and organising all Outside of Academia seminars together. Attending the summer school in France, a conference on Hawaii and spending some days exploring both places are some of the best memories of my PhD (even if we sometimes almost got lost). And I am glad that even though we did so many things together, we somehow still stayed friends (impressive!?!).

I am also extremely grateful to my **family**! I would not be where I am today without your guidance, help and inspiration. I have to say I have always, always felt supported by both my **grandparents** and my **parents Mateja** and **Grega**, even though (at least my grandparents) might have preferred me to stay closer to home. And I am very thankful that my parents are the type of Slovene parents who do travel to visit their child! I do not know what I would do without your help with moving (so many times during my whole studies), bringing my (amazing) car to the north and regular Skype talks.
Finally, I would like to thank my husband **Anton**, who has been with me for most of my PhD journey. I know it has not always been easy to support me during this time (especially when I was in a bad mood), so I really appreciate that I could always count and lean on you during this time. Sometimes I wonder if we should have gone for the last name Bizjaksson instead of Bizjak-Johansson, but now with this thesis published with the last name Bizjak-Johansson, it is unfortunately too late to change our minds. Anyway, thank you for always being happy to see me when you come home from work! I hope that continues!

Appendices

During the PhD project, many different laboratory assays and experiments allowed me to learn more about the methods used, try a specific method on other sample types or test my ideas. Many of these experiments were not included in neither the papers nor the main thesis text, even though I learned a lot through them. Therefore, the four most important and interesting, based on my opinion, are included in this appendix. Appendices 1-3 describe the effects of specific conditions and pre-treatments on acetylene-reduction assay measurements, while Appendix 4 describes two short experiments of Scots pine seedling inoculation with PGPB.

Appendix 1

An unusually high variation in the needle negative controls was measured in the second summer of acetylene-reduction assay measurements on Scots pine needles. Negative controls are needles treated in the same way as acetylene-reduction assay samples but without injected acetylene and should account for endogenous ethylene production. A more thorough analysis of the results suggested that the endogenous ethylene production could be sample-dependent. An experiment was designed where needles from 12 different trees were sampled to look at sample-specific needle endogenous ethylene production. Three replicates for each tree were used and treated as negative controls for the acetylene-reduction assay. The measured ethylene production rates after a two-hour-long incubation revealed that endogenous ethylene production is tree-specific (Appendix Figure 1). There were several statistically significant differences in endogenous ethylene production between the twelve trees, and the variation for each tree was usually minimal. Due to the results, sample-specific negative controls were used for all acetylene-reduction assay measurements reported in either the papers or the thesis.



Appendix Figure 1: Ethylene production rates for acetylene-reduction assay negative controls with Scots pine needles of several trees. Different letters indicate statistical differences based on one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD (n = 3).

Appendix 2

It was additionally noticed during the acetylene-reduction assay measurements on needles that different needle pre-treatments might have an effect on the measured ethylene production. An experiment was designed with four different pre-treatments and three replicates per pre-treatment. The pre-treatments were: needles (no pre-treatment), washed needles (washed three times with sterile deionized water for 20 seconds), ethanol sterilized needles (submerged for two minutes in 70% ethanol and washed three times with sterile deionized water for 20 seconds) and hydrogen peroxide sterilized needles (submerged for two minutes in 30% hydrogen peroxide and washed three times with sterile deionized water for 20 seconds). While washed needles and ethanol sterilized needles showed a bit higher average ethylene production compared to control needles (Appendix Figure 2), the difference was not statistically significant. However, the hydrogen peroxide sterilized needles had a significantly higher ethylene production compared to other treatments. One potential explanation could be endogenous ethylene production in needles due to stress (Thiagarajan et al. 2016) caused by submersion in hydrogen peroxide. Another explanation could be a potential correlation between ethylene production and needle hydrogen peroxide detoxifying capacity, as previous studies showed exogenous hydrogen peroxide induced an increased ethylene production in a concentration-dependent manner (Ievinsh & Tillberg 1995; Ievinsh & Ozola 1998). In any case, the experiment showed that surface sterilisation with hydrogen peroxide can lead to an overestimation of nitrogen fixation in Scots pine needles. Therefore, the needles were not surface sterilized with hydrogen peroxide or pre-treated in any other way during the acetylene reduction assay measurements for paper II.



Appendix Figure 2: Ethylene production rates during acetylene-reduction assay for Scots pine needles that had undergone a washing/sterilization pre-treatment. Different letters indicate statistical differences based on one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD (n = 3).

Appendix 3

Another interesting observation during acetylene-reduction assay measurements was the effect of light on the measured ethylene production. To investigate this effect a bit better, an experiment was set up with three replicates per treatment in a way that either control non-sterilized needles or sterilized needles (submerged for two minutes in 30% hydrogen peroxide and washed three times with sterile deionized water for 20 seconds) were incubated in darkness or under light conditions overnight before the

experiment and during the acetylene-reduction assay incubation. The results showed that regardless of the needle pre-treatment, the darkness treatment showed significantly lower ethylene production compared to light treatment (Appendix Figure 3). The results indicate that the nitrogen fixation in the needles could be connected to light intensity, further suggesting a potential connection to photosynthesis. Previous studies in tropical forests did show a connection between light and nitrogen fixation rate (Bentley 1987; Taylor & Menge 2018), but more experiments would be needed to make any concrete conclusions. However, based on the results of this experiment, it was made sure that all samples were incubated under light conditions for the measurements reported in the papers.



Appendix Figure 3: Ethylene production rates for: A) non-sterilized needles and B) sterilized needles, incubated under constant light or in complete darkness (overnight before the experiment and during the experiment incubation). Different letters indicate statistical differences based on two independent samples t-test (n = 3).

Appendix 4

Previous studies suggested that certain PGPB are better at promoting the growth of their original host plants compared to non-host plants (Boddey & Dobereiner 1988; Lucy et al. 2004). Two small experiments were used to test if inoculation of Scots pine seedlings with PGPB isolated from the needles of this species could result in a higher ethylene production, indirectly showing nitrogen fixation. The nitrogen fixation activity in seedlings was

used as many of the previously published articles indicated that inoculation with nitrogen-fixing bacteria caused plant growth promotion through the uptake of nitrogen introduced by bacterial nitrogen fixation (Anand et al. 2013; Padda et al. 2019). In the first experiment, one-year-old Scots pine seedlings with six replicates per treatment were used, while in the second experiment, a few-months-old seedlings with three replicates per treatment were used. In both cases, the bacteria Bacillus paralicheniformis #1, Microbacterium sp. #25 and Priestia megaterium #39 were used for inoculation either as individual bacterial strains or in a consortium. Seedlings were inoculated with six millilitres of bacterial liquid culture with $OD_{600} =$ 0.4 for single bacterial strains, with two millilitres of each bacterial liquid culture with $OD_{600} = 0.4$ for consortium and with six millilitres of liquid Luria Broth media for control seedlings. The seedlings were inoculated again two weeks after the initial inoculation. Their nitrogen fixation rate was measured approximately two months after the initial inoculation in the first experiment and around one month after the initial inoculation in the second experiment. Both the results of the first experiment (Appendix Figure 4A) and second experiment (Appendix Figure 4B) showed no statistically significant differences between the treatments. The results indicated that seedling inoculation with nitrogen-fixing bacteria did not have any effect on the seedlings nitrogen fixation measured a few weeks after the initial inoculation. The results could be due to inefficient competition of the inoculated bacterial strains with the naturally present soil microbiome, as bacterial strain establishment was not followed (de-Bashan & Nannipieri 2024). While the two experiments did not show promising results regarding Scots pine seedling growth promotion by the selected bacteria, it would have been interesting to do a longer experiment, where the initial inoculation would be done at the time of the sowing and seedling growth would be assessed after several months of growth.



Appendix Figure 4: Ethylene production of inoculated Scots pine seedlings with individual bacterial strain, consortium or control: A) inoculated one-year-old seedlings analysed two months after initial inoculation (n = 6) and B) few months old seedlings analysed after one month after initial inoculation (n = 3). Different letters indicate statistical significance based on one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's HSD test.

Π



Tree Physiology 43, 1354–1364 https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpad048

Research paper

Presence and activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles in a boreal forest: a nitrogen-addition experiment

Tinkara Bizjak¹, Anita Sellstedt², Regina Gratz^{1,3,4} and Annika Nordin¹

¹Umeå Plant Science Centre (UPSC), Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, 901 83 Umeå, Sweden; ²Umeå Plant Science Centre (UPSC), Department of Plant Physiology, Umeå University, 901 87 Umeå, Sweden; ³Department of Forest Ecology and Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, 901 83 Umeå, Sweden; ⁴Corresponding author (regina.gratz@slu.se)

Received December 6, 2022; Revised April 11, 2023; handling Editor David Whitehead

Endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacteria have been detected and isolated from the needles of conifer trees growing in North American boreal forests. Because boreal forests are nutrient-limited, these bacteria could provide an important source of nitrogen for tree species. This study aimed to determine their presence and activity in a Scandinavian boreal forest, using immunodetection of nitrogenase enzyme subunits and acetylene-reduction assays of native Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) needles. The presence and rate of nitrogen fixation by endophytic bacteria were compared between control plots and fertilized plots in a nitrogen-addition experiment. In contrast to the expectation that nitrogen-fixation rates would decline in fertilized plots, as seen, for instance, with nitrogen-fixing bacteria associated with bryophytes, there was no difference in the presence or activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria between the two treatments. The extrapolated calculated rate of nitrogen fixation relevant for the forest stand was 20 g N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹, which is rather low compared with Scots pine annual nitrogen-fixing bacteria isolated from the needles on nitrogen-free media, 10 showed in vitro nitrogen fixation. In summary, 16S rRNA sequencing identified the species as belonging to the genera *Bacillus, Variovorax, Novosphingobium, Sphingomonas, Microbacterium* and *Priestia*, which was confirmed by Illumina whole-genome sequencing. Our results confirm the presence of endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles and suggest that they could be important for the long-term nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles of spine needles and suggest that they could be important for the long-term nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles and suggest that they could be important for the long-term nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles and suggest that they could be important for the long-term nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles and suggest that they could be important for the long-term nitrogen-f

Keywords: diazotrophic bacteria, forest fertilization, needle endophyte, NifH, nitrogenase activity, Pinus sylvestris.

Introduction

To date, all plant species studied appear to be inhabited by endophytic bacteria (Santoyo et al. 2016), which are defined as microorganisms that reside in plants but do not cause any symptoms of disease (Wilson 1995). Endophytes can be symbionts, latent pathogens or harmless cohabitants (Chanway et al. 2014). Endophytic bacteria possess a diverse set of plant growth-promoting properties that can positively affect, for example, phytohormone balance (Bhattacharjee et al. 2008), nutrient acquisition (Santoyo et al. 2016), growth and yield (Ryan et al. 2008, Khan et al. 2012), protection against pathogens (Wei et al. 2014), propagation (Quambusch et al. 2014) and the response to abiotic stress. An important endophytic bacterial community that can help with nutrient acquisition comprises diazotrophic bacteria, which are capable of fixing nitrogen from the atmosphere. The multi-subunit enzyme responsible for the energy-demanding process of nitrogen fixation is nitrogenase (Doty et al. 2016), encoded by the structural genes *nifH*, *nifD* and *nifK*, and regulated by *nifA* (Marchal and Vanderleyden 2000). Of these genes, *nifH* is most commonly used as a marker for nitrogen-fixing bacteria (Zhang et al. 2007). Nitrogenase is extremely oxygen-sensitive (Marchal and Vanderleyden 2000) and its activity is upregulated by phosphorus (Reed et al. 2007, Matson et al. 2014), and probably also by carbohydrates because of the high energy demand of nitrogen fixation (Welsh 2000, Zheng et al. 2017, Benavides et al. 2020). It is less clear,

[©] The Author(s) 2023. Published by Oxford University Press.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted reuse, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

however, how a supply of externally added mineral nitrogen fertilizer affects nitrogen fixation. Many studies have shown adverse effects of external nitrogen application or higher natural nitrogen soil availability on nitrogen fixation (Barron et al. 2011, Gundale et al. 2011, Zheng et al. 2017, Nishida and Suzaki 2018), but some have shown no effects (Moyes et al. 2016, Zheng et al. 2017). Nitrogen fixation could also be downregulated by higher nitrogen concentrations in the environment, as indicated by studies where higher nitrogen-fixation rates have been measured in tissues with a higher carbon-to-nitrogen (C/N) ratio (Granhall and Lindberg 1978, Leppänen et al. 2013, Tormanen and Smolander 2022).

In the boreal forest, where plant growth is strongly nitrogenlimited, it has been suggested that in addition to the nitrogenfixing symbiosis between cyanobacteria and mosses (DeLuca et al. 2002), endophytic nitrogen fixation provides an important additional source of nitrogen (Moyes et al. 2016). Coniferous needles could offer a good habitat for endophytic nitrogenfixing bacteria, by protecting against adverse environmental conditions and competitors (Yang et al. 2016), and potentially a supply of carbohydrates and energy (Wurzburger 2016). The advantage for conifers would be a potential nitrogen source, either through direct supply from microbe to tree, or through degraded microbial material as a result of a relatively quick microbial turnover (Wurzburger 2016). The possible presence of nitrogen-fixing bacteria inside coniferous needles has been indicated by sequencing data (Carrell and Frank 2014, Haas et al. 2018), and complementary culturing methods have been used to isolate diverse nitrogen-fixing bacteria from a wide range of trees, including some conifers (Doty et al. 2009, Bal et al. 2012, Puri et al. 2018). Usually, their nitrogen-fixing ability is confirmed using either polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification to detect the presence of the nifH gene, or an acetylene-reduction assay (ARA) to measure their nitrogenfixation ability (Gupta and Roper 2010, Bal et al. 2012). The most commonly occurring bacterial genera represented in nitrogen-fixing bacteria isolated from coniferous needles are Sphingomonas, Bacillus, Rhizobium, Pseudomonas, Caballeronia and Paenibacillus (Moore et al. 2006, Izumi et al. 2008, Puri et al. 2018). Using ARA, bacterial nitrogen fixation has been measured in needles from limber pine (Pinus flexilis) from North American subalpine forest (Moyes et al. 2016), Scots pine (Pinus sylvestris) and Norway spruce (Picea abies) from the Scandinavian boreal forest (Granhall and Lindberg 1978), and black pine (Pinus nigra) and Douglas fir (Pseudotsuga menziesii) from Italy (Favilli and Messini 1990). Furthermore, nitrogen fixation has been measured using labelled ¹⁵N in Douglas fir needles from the temperate forest (Jones 1970). However, the estimated rates of nitrogen fixation between the studies differ significantly, with the amounts of fixed nitrogen ranging from grams to kilograms per hectare and year (Jones 1970, Granhall and Lindberg 1978, Favilli and Messini 1990, Moyes et al. 2016).

Nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles 1355

In contrast to previously published studies focussing on the presence and activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria inside needles of native conifer species in the boreal forest, our study is, as far as we know, the first to compare the activity of endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacteria using a nitrogen-addition experiment. The Scots pine was chosen as the study species because, alongside the Norway spruce, it is a dominant tree species in the nitrogen-limited Scandinavian boreal forest (Berlin et al. 2010). The study aimed to confirm the presence of endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacteria inside Scots pine needles, by measuring nitrogen fixation and assessing the effect of nitrogen fertilization on their activity, and isolating and identifying the nitrogen-fixing bacteria. The following hypotheses were addressed: (i) nitrogenfixing bacteria are present in Scots pine needles; (ii) the bacteria are actively fixing nitrogen and their activity in needles decreases with inorganic nitrogen fertilization; (iii) isolated bacteria, identified by 16S rRNA and whole-genome sequencing, belong to similar genera as found in other conifer species; and (iv) isolated nitrogen-fixing bacteria can fix nitrogen in vitro.

Materials and methods

Field site and sample collection

The samples were collected from the Åheden research forest in northern Sweden (N 64° 14', E 19° 48'). The area in which the field site was located has a mean annual precipitation of 600 mm, a mean annual temperature of 1 °C (Forsmark et al. 2020) and an estimated regional atmospheric nitrogen deposition of less than 2 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (Pihl Karlsson et al. 2012). The Åheden research forest is a naturally regenerated boreal forest dominated by approximately 150-year-old Scots pine (From et al. 2016), with some scattered Norway spruce trees in the sub-canopy. The ground vegetation is predominately lingonberry (Vaccinium vitis-idaea), heather (Calluna vulgaris), red-stemmed feathermoss (Pleurozium schreberi), fork mosses (Dicranum spp.), reindeer lichen (Cladonia rangiferina) and scrubby cup lichen (Cladonia arbuscula) (Gundale et al. 2011). In 2004, five different nitrogen treatments were established at Åheden in 0.1-ha plots; since then the plots have been fertilized yearly with 0, 3, 6, 12 and 50 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹, respectively, in the form of solid ammonium nitrate granules (NH₄NO₃). Each nitrogen treatment has six replicates in a randomized block design (Forsmark et al. 2020).

For this study, the plots fertilized with 0 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (referred to as control plots) and 50 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ (referred to as fertilized plots) were selected, as they represented the most contrasting environments at the site. Samples were harvested from two trees from each of the six replicate plots per treatment (n = 12 per treatment); tree selection was based on proximity to the centre of the plot and representation of the general appearance, health and size of the trees within the plot. For immunodetection analysis and bacterial isolation, needles

1356 Bizjak et al.

from several branches of the same tree were harvested in the summer of 2021, by aseptically collecting 1-year-old (Meredieu 2002) Scots pine needles, which were stored on dry ice for transportation to the laboratory. Several branches from each tree to be used for ARA were aseptically harvested in the summer of 2022 across six sampling days, and stored on ice until analysed in the laboratory. However, at both sampling time points the samples were collected from the same trees and 1-year-old needles were selected as we wanted only healthy green needles.

Protein extraction and immunodetection of NifH protein

One-year-old Scots pine needles were surface sterilized in a vertical laminar flow hood by submersion in 30% hydrogen peroxide for 2 min with continuous shaking, followed by three washes in sterile deionized water for 20 s. Excess water was evaporated by inverting the samples onto sterile filter paper. The surface-sterilized needles were then stored at $-80\ ^\circ\text{C}$ until the start of the experiment. For total protein isolation, the needles were ground to a fine powder using a pestle and mortar, under constant cooling with liquid nitrogen. Total protein was then extracted by adding 2× protein loading buffer (124 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.6, 5% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), 4% dithiothreitol and 20% glycerol) to the sample, centrifuging at 4 °C for 5 min at maximum speed, and heating the transferred supernatant at 95 °C for 5 min. Samples were separated by SDS-PAGE (12% Mini-PROTEAN[®] TGX[™] Precast Protein Gels, Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), with equivalent protein amounts loaded for each sample (measured with a Qubit™ Protein Assay Kit, Invitrogen, Waltham, MA, USA). The separated proteins were transferred onto a nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham Protran, GE Healthcare, Chicago, IL, USA) and stained with Ponceau S as a control for successful transfer. Immunodetection was performed as follows: membranes were blocked for 25 min in 5% (w/v) milk solution dissolved in Tris-buffered saline, 0.1% Tween 20 (TBST) (5% milk powder in 20-mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 180-mM NaCl and 0.1% Tween-20), followed by a 1.5-h incubation at room temperature in a 1:2000 dilution of the primary anti-NifH antibody (Agrisera, Vännäs, Sweden) in TBST containing 2.5% (w/v) milk. After three 15-min wash steps with TBST, the membranes were incubated for 1 h in a dilution of a secondary antibody in TBST containing 2.5% (w/v) milk. The antibody used was horseradish peroxidaseconjugated goat anti-chicken (1:20,000) (Agrisera, Vännäs, Sweden). Again, three 15-min wash steps were performed with TBST. Signal detection was carried out using Pierce™ ECL Western Blotting Substrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) on Azure c600 (Azure Biosystems, Dublin, CA, USA), and quantified using ImageJ (Schneider et al. 2012). To estimate the size of the bands, a PageRuler Prestained Protein Ladder (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used. To confirm antibody specificity we used positive controls (soybean nodule extract, purified NifH protein with His-tag (Agrisera)) and negative controls (2× protein loading buffer, *Bradyrhizobium japonicum* liquid culture protein extract), which did not yield in a western blot signal.

Acetylene-reduction assay

The branches harvested for ARA were stored under constant light conditions at room temperature overnight. The next day, for each sample 1-year-old needles were collected from several different branches of the same tree and divided into six subsamples; half of the samples were used to measure acetylene reduction, and half to correct for needle endogenous ethylene production. The needles from each subsample were put into 50 ml glass vials and 8 ml sterile deionized water was added. The ARA was performed as described previously (Richau et al. 2017) with the following modifications: after sealing the glass vials with a rubber septum and replacing 10% of the air with acetylene gas, the samples were incubated at room temperature for 2 h under constant light conditions before 1 ml air was removed with a syringe and analysed for ethylene production on a gas chromatograph (Shimadzu GC-8A, Kyoto, Japan). After the experiment, the needles were dried at 60 °C for 48 h and their dry mass was measured. Because of the high variation in endogenous needle ethylene production observed between individual trees, the ethylene production rates were corrected for sample-specific endogenous ethylene production. Additionally, water samples with injected acetylene were used to correct for any ethylene present due to injected acetylene gas. Specifically, both negative control values were subtracted from the measured acetylene reduction rates from samples, which affected the reported final ethylene production rate.

Carbon and nitrogen content

Dried 1-year-old Scots pine needles from the ARA were ground to a fine powder in a bead mill (Retsch, Haan, Germany), and the carbon and nitrogen content was measured using an Isotope Ratio Mass spectrometer (DeltaV, Thermo Fisher Scientific) coupled with an Elemental analyser (Flash EA 2000, Thermo Fisher Scientific) (Werner et al. 1999).

Isolation of nitrogen-fixing bacteria

Half of the 1-year-old Scots pine needles from each sample were surface sterilized by submersion in 30% hydrogen peroxide for 2 min with continuous shaking, and the other half by submersion in 70% ethanol for 3 min with continuous shaking. Two different sterilization methods were used to increase the total number of bacteria isolated. The needles were then washed three times for 20 s with sterile deionized water, and the excess water was removed by inverting the tube onto sterile filter paper. Five needle pairs were imprinted on tryptic soy agar (TSA) plates (15 g $\rm I^{-1}$ casein peptone, 5 g $\rm I^{-1}$ soy peptone, 5 g $\rm I^{-1}$ NaCl and 15 g $\rm I^{-1}$ agar), and the plates were incubated at 28 °C for 10 days to confirm the surface sterility of the samples. The

same five needle pairs were ground in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) buffer (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 10 mM Na₂HPO₄, 1.8 mM KH₂PO₄, pH 7.4) using FastDNA Spin Kit tubes and beads and a FastPrep instrument (MP Biomedicals, Irvine, CA, USA). The crude extract was filtered using sterile Miracloth with a pore size of 22–25 μ m (Merck Millipore, Burlington, MA, USA), and the filtrate was centrifuged at 5000 r.p.m. for 10 min at 8 °C. The pellet was resuspended in PBS buffer and inoculated on nitrogen-free media (semi-solid NFb (Baldani et al. 2014), combined carbon media (CCM) without yeast extract (Baldani et al. 2014) and LGI-P (Reis et al. 2015). The plates (CCM and LGI-P) and tubes (NFb) were incubated at 28 °C for 10 days. Individual colonies were observed and re-cultured on TSA plates.

16S rRNA and whole-genome bacterial sequencing

For 16S rRNA Sanger sequencing of isolated bacteria, the bacteria were grown on TSA plates overnight. Bacterial material was then transferred into an extraction buffer (0.05 M NaOH, 0.25% SDS), which was heated at 97 °C for 15 min before the sample was centrifuged for 4 min at 10,000 r.p.m. The collected supernatant was diluted with Tris-EDTA (TE) buffer (10 mM Tris, 1 mM EDTA, pH 8.0) and the extract was used in a PCR with the 16S ribosomal ribonucleic acid (rRNA) primers 27F/1492R (Heuer et al. 1997). The PCR was carried out using a DreamTag Hot Start PCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's instructions, with 1 μ l of bacterial extract, 0.5 μ M forward and reverse primers, and an annealing temperature of 55 °C. Based on agarose gel separation, all the isolated bacteria had a band of around 1500 bp, so the PCR products were cleaned with ExoSAP-IT PCR Product Cleanup (Applied Biosystems, Waltham, MA, USA) before tube Sanger sequencing (Eurofins, Luxembourg City, Luxembourg). The obtained sequences were analysed using Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST) (Altschul et al. 1990) and compared with sequences already in the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) database. A phylogenetic tree showing the similarities between the strains was produced using Phylogeny,fr (Dereeper et al. 2008) according to Gratz et al. (2021), using MUSCLE alignment, Gblocks curation, PhyML phylogeny and TreeDyn tree rendering, but with likelihoodratio test (minimum of SH-like and Chi2-based) instead of bootstrapping.

For whole genome sequencing, liquid Luria broth (LB) media (10 g l^{-1} tryptone, 5 g l^{-1} yeast extract and 10 g l^{-1} NaCl) was inoculated with isolated bacteria overnight before being centrifuged for 5 min at 10,000 r.p.m. The pellet was resuspended in a smaller amount of liquid LB media and the deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) was isolated using a DNeasy PowerSoil Kit (Qiagen, Venlo, The Netherlands). The amount and quality of the DNA were assessed using Nanodrop before being sent for sequencing and bioinformatic analysis (CD

Genomics, New York City, NY, USA through Genohub, Austin, TX, USA). For sequencing, an Illumina NovaSeq6000 (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) was used with pair-end 2× 150 base pair sequencing and at least 3 million reads per sample. For the bioinformatic analysis, the two pairs of reads were merged, 1000 sequences were randomly selected, and BLAST (Altschul et al. 1990) was used to compare the obtained sequences with sequences already in the NCBI database (NCBI, Bethesda, MD, USA). The identity was determined based on the sequence hit count. Additionally, Read Assembly and Annotation Pipeline Tool (RAPT) (NCBI, Bethesda, MD, USA) was used for de novo assembly of the bacterial genomes using SKESA and annotation of the genome using Prokaryotic Genome Annotation Pipeline to check for the presence of *nif* genes within the whole genome sequence.

The bacterial 16S rNRA sequences were deposited in GenBank (NCBI), and the unassembled Illumina whole genome sequences were deposited in the Sequence Read Archive (NCBI) (Sayers et al. 2022) (Table S1 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online). Bacterial cultures were deposited in the NCCB collection (Westerdijk Fungal Biodiversity Institute, Utrecht, The Netherlands) (Table S1 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online).

In vitro nitrogen fixation of isolated bacteria

The nitrogen-fixation ability of isolated bacteria was measured by ARA. Bacteria were grown in either liquid CCM without yeast extract (bacteria #1, 23, 24, 25, 27, 39) or liquid LGI-P media (bacteria #2, 3, 14, 26, 28, 38-1, 38-2) for 24 h at 28 °C, and then their OD₆₀₀ measured. The bacteria were transferred to glass vials sealed with a rubber septum; 10% of the air was replaced by acetylene and, after a 2-h incubation at 30 °C with constant shaking, the ethylene production was measured using a gas chromatograph (Shimadzu GC-8A, Kyoto, Japan). The bacterial OD₆₀₀ was measured again after the experiment and this value was used to normalize the ethylene production. Calculated ethylene production rates were corrected for spontaneous acetylene reduction and any endogenous ethylene production by either the media or the bacteria.

Statistics

All data were analysed using SPSS Statistics 27 (IBM, Armonk, NY, USA). For data from the immunodetection of NifH protein, ARA on needles, in vitro ARA on bacterial cultures, and carbon and nitrogen content, the assumptions of normal distribution and equal variance were checked. For all datasets, both assumptions were met, as well as the assumption of independence. The data from the immunodetection of NifH protein, and carbon and nitrogen content, were then analysed using a two-sample independent *t*-test. In vitro ARA measurements on isolated bacteria were analysed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by a Tukey honestly significant difference



Figure 1. NifH band signal intensity for immunodetection with anti-NifH antibody (mean + SE), indicating the presence of nitrogenase enzyme in 1-year-old Scots pine needles from trees grown in control and nitrogenfertilized plots (0 and 50 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹, respectively) (n = 12 per treatment, two-sample *t*-test P = 0.84, bars with different letters are significantly different).

(HSD) test. For the ARA on needles, a two-way ANOVA was used, using sampling day and nitrogen treatment as variables. A linear regression model was used to analyse the relationship between ARA in 1-year-old Scots pine needles and the C/N ratio. The regression coefficient was tested to see whether there was a statistically significant relationship between the two variables.

Results

The presence of nitrogen-fixing bacteria inside surface-sterilized needles was analysed using immunoblotting of the NifH protein, which is one of the nitrogenase enzyme's subunits. Our analyses indicated that nitrogen-fixing bacteria were present in the needles from both control and nitrogen-fertilized plots (Table S2 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online, Figure 1), and the signal intensity of the NifH band was similar between the two treatments (two-sample *t*-test, P = 0.84), with values of 5309 and 5481, respectively. This indicated a similar amount of nitrogenase protein in both treatments (Figure 1).

As the presence of nitrogenase protein does not mean active nitrogen fixation, ARA was used to measure the nitrogenase activity indirectly. As well as reducing dinitrogen to ammonia, nitrogenase enzymes can also reduce acetylene to ethylene, which can be detected with this method. We measured the nitrogenase activity in needles from both the control plots and inorganic nitrogen-fertilized plots (Table S3 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online). The average nitrogenase activity was slightly higher in needles from fertilized plots than in control plots (Figure 2), but the difference was not significant (two-way ANOVA, P = 0.11). The fixation rate for needles from control plots was 0.09 nmol ethylene h⁻¹ and g⁻¹ dry needles. There was, however, a significant effect of sampling day, with a difference in



Figure 2. Ethylene production rate (mean + SE) per hour and gram dry mass of 1-year-old Scots pine needles, indicating nitrogenase enzyme activity in the needles of trees gown in control and nitrogen-fertilized plots (0 and 50 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹, respectively) (n = 12 per treatment, two-sample *t*-test P = 0.11, bars with different letters are significantly different).

nitrogen fixation rates between different sampling dates (twoway ANOVA, P = 0.02), highlighting the importance of including a sufficient number of negative controls in the measurement protocol for each sampling date.

To determine the possible relevance of the nitrogen-fixation activity for the forest, the nitrogen-fixation rates were extrapolated to provide an estimate for the forest stand. We assumed equal nitrogen-fixation rates across the whole canopy regardless of needle position, an equal rate of nitrogen fixation during the whole growth period, as measured in our study, a 150-day growth period (Goude et al. 2019), a constant 12-h period of daylight (Moyes et al. 2016), and a conversion factor between ethylene production and nitrogen fixation of 3:1 (Hardy et al. 1968). Using an average leaf area index for Scots pine forest across the Swedish boreal forest (Appiah Mensah et al. 2020), the calculated nitrogen-fixation rate for control plots was approximately 11 g N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹.

The carbon and nitrogen content of the needles was investigated to see whether they could affect the nitrogen fixation rates. The average carbon content for needles from the control plots was 51.0 g C g⁻¹ dry mass and from fertilized plots 51.5 g C g⁻¹ dry mass, which was not statistically significant (two-sample *t*-test, P = 0.07). The nitrogen content did differ between the two treatments, however, with average nitrogen content in needles from control plots of 0.93 g N g⁻¹ dry mass. This difference was statistically significant (two-sample *t*-test, P < 0.01). There was no significant linear regression relationship between the measured C/N ratios and ethylene production rates (ethylene production rates = $-0.0018 \times C/N$ ratio + 0.19, $R^2 = 0.097$, P = 0.14) of the needles.

To identify bacteria possibly responsible for the nitrogenase protein content and activity, potential nitrogen-fixing bacteria

Table 1. Potential nitrogen-fixing bacteria isolated from 1-year-old Scots pine needles. The trees were grown in control plots (0 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹) or long-term nitrogen-fertilized plots (50 kg N ha⁻¹ year⁻¹), and the bacteria were isolated on different nitrogen-free media (CCM, LGI-P or NFb). The genus of each isolated bacterium was determined by whole-genome sequencing.

Bacteria	Nitrogen treatment	Plate	Species
1	0 kg N ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	CCM	Bacillus paralicheniformis
23	0 kg N ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	CCM	Unclassified Novosphingobium
24	0 kg N ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	CCM	Unclassified Novosphingobium
25	0 kg N ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	CCM	Microbacterium sp.
27	0 kg N ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	CCM	Sphingomonas sp.
2	0 kg N ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	LGI-P	Bacillus paralicheniformis
3	0 kg N ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	LGI-P	Bacillus paralicheniformis
26	0 kg N ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	LGI-P	Variovorax paradoxus
28	0 kg N ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	NFb	Variovorax paradoxus
39	50 kg N ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	CCM	Priestia megaterium
14	50 kg N ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	LGI-P	Bacillus paralicheniformis
38-1	50 kg N ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	NFb	Novosphingobium pokkalii
38-2	50 kg N ha ⁻¹ year ⁻¹	NFb	Variovorax paradoxus



Figure 3. A phylogenetic tree (produced using Phylogeny.fr) of the 13 potentially nitrogen-fixing bacteria, based on 16S rRNA sequencing. The numbers represent the likelihood-ratio test values of the branching points.

were isolated from surface-sterilized needles from trees grown in either control or nitrogen-fertilized plots. Three different nitrogen-free media (CCM, LGI-P and NFb) were used, and 13 distinct bacterial colonies were successfully isolated. The bacteria were identified using 16S rRNA Sanger sequencing and Illumina whole-genome sequencing. The 16S rRNA sequences revealed that the isolated bacteria belonged to several different genera: Bacillus, Microbacterium, Variovorax, Priestia, Novosphingobium and Sphingomonas (Figure 3). More specifically, whole-genome sequencing identified the bacteria isolated from control plots as three Bacillus paralicheniformis, two unclassified Novosphingobium, two Variovorax paradoxus, one Microbacterium sp. and one Sphingomonas sp. (Table 1). Of the bacteria isolated from nitrogen-fertilized plots, one was identified as Priestia megaterium, one as B. paralicheniformis, one as V. paradoxus and one as Novosphingobium pokkalii (Table 1). The presence of *nif* genes was looked at using the assembled and annotated genome and we could detect the presence of sequence for NifU protein in bacteria 1, 2, 3, 14, 23, 24, 27, 38-1 and 39.

To confirm the ability of the 13 isolated bacteria to fix nitrogen, ethylene production was measured during ARA on liquid



Figure 4. The nitrogenase activity, measured indirectly through ethylene production, of liquid cultures of 13 isolated bacteria (mean + SE). Bars with different letters are significantly different (one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey HSD test, P < 0.05).

bacterial cultures. Ten of the 13 isolated bacterial colonies were able to fix nitrogen under specific conditions, producing ethylene to various degrees (Figure 4). Bacterium 25 (*Microbacterium* sp.) had the highest nitrogenase activity, whereas bacteria 2 (*B. paralicheniformis*), 14 (*B. paralicheniformis*) and 38-1 (*N. pokkalii*) were not capable of nitrogen fixation under the test conditions.

Discussion

It has been suggested that endophytic nitrogen fixation in conifer needles could be prevalent across temperate and boreal forests (Moyes et al. 2016), and even a small amount of nitrogen fixed by these bacteria could be ecologically important in nitrogenlimited environments (Wurzburger 2016). The main aim of our study was, therefore, to determine the presence, and measure of the activity, of endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacteria inside

1360 Bizjak et al.

1-year-old needles from Scots pine trees growing in the Scandinavian boreal forest.

By the first hypothesis, bacterial nitrogenase protein was detected in all of the samples analysed, indicating the widespread presence of nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles in this experimental forest area. The needles were surface sterilized before analysis, so the bacterial presence was probably endophytic. There seemed to be a similar abundance of the bacteria in the needles, as the amount of nitrogenase protein did not differ significantly between needles from control and nitrogen-fertilized plots.

The activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria was measured using ARA. Our study corroborates results reported elsewhere that coniferous needle ethylene production can vary substantially as a result of needle age, position, season and sterilization protocol (Telewski 1992, levinsh and Tillberg 1995, levinsh and Ozola 1998, Klintborg et al. 2002). Because endogenous ethylene production was highly variable between the trees, we ensured that sample-specific production rates were measured and subtracted from the ARA ethylene production rates. The nitrogen-fixation rates were around 10 times higher than previously reported for the phyllosphere of Scots pine (Granhall and Lindberg 1978), which could be explained by different environmental or experimental factors between the two studies. It was, however, slightly lower, although in the same range, as rates reported for limber pine needles (Moyes et al. 2016), and much lower than rates reported for black pine and Douglas fir needles (Jones 1970, Favilli and Messini 1990). The nonsignificant difference in nitrogen-fixation rates between needles from trees on control and fertilized plots contradicted our second hypothesis that inorganic nitrogen fertilization would decrease the activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria. This result is to some extent unexpected, as many studies have reported decreased nitrogen-fixation activity in biotopes enriched with inorganic nitrogen. For instance, from the same site as studied here, the nitrogen fixation of cyanobacteria associated with ground-dwelling moss surfaces was approximately eight times lower on fertilized than on control plots (Gundale et al. 2011). The same trend of decreased nitrogen fixation in response to nitrogen fertilization has also been observed in soil, forest floor and tree canopy leaves of disturbed subtropical forests in China, where the decrease between the two treatments was between 20 and 38% (Zheng et al. 2017). Additionally, it has been reported that nitrogen fixation in root nodules of individual legume trees (Inga sp.) from tropical forests grown in soils with a higher nitrogen content is almost nonexistent compared with those grown in soils with a lower nitrogen content (Barron et al. 2011). However, there are also studies showing no clear effect of nitrogen availability or fertilization on nitrogen fixation. For example, no correlation was found between endophytic nitrogen fixation and plant-available soil nitrogen for limber pine needles (Moyes et al. 2016). Also, in a rehabilitated subtropical forest, there was no significant effect of nitrogen fertilization on nitrogen fixation in soil and tree canopy leaves (Zheng et al. 2017). Furthermore, using a mathematical model it was suggested that in nitrogen-poor boreal forests obligate nitrogenfixing bacteria could be prevalent due to the high cost of being facultative (Menge et al. 2009), which could explain the observed no difference in nitrogen fixation rates between control and fertilized plots.

The mechanism behind the influence of external plant nitrogen sources on nitrogen-fixation rates is not fully understood. In the case of needle endophytic nitrogen fixation for trees in a strictly nitrogen-limited environment, one speculation is that fertilization can enhance photosynthesis by increasing the supply of energy available for nitrogen fixation. Alternatively, the opposite could also be argued, as a higher C/N ratio arising from fertilization may mean that the externally supplied nitrogen renders nitrogen fixation redundant. However, in this study, whereas the C/N ratio of the needles significantly decreased with nitrogen fertilization, there was no significant relationship between the needles' C/N ratio and the nitrogen fixation rates of the needles (P = 0.14). A similar result has been found for logging residues of Scots pine, Norway spruce and silver birch (Betula pendula), where neither branches nor foliage showed a significant correlation between nitrogen fixation and C/N ratio (Tormanen and Smolander 2022).

To understand better the potential importance of needle nitrogen fixation in a nitrogen-limited forest, we extrapolated our measured nitrogen-fixation rates to a forest scale, calculating it to be less than 20 g N ha-1 year-1. However, this rate needs to be interpreted with caution, as several assumptions were made, including constant nitrogen fixation during the growth season, which could be incorrect as seasonal variation in conifers has been noticed elsewhere (Favilli and Messini 1990). Our study also indicates that there is significant day-to-day variation in nitrogen-fixation rates, which was not accounted for in our extrapolation. With these caveats in mind, the estimated nitrogen contributed by nitrogen fixation in needles seems very low compared with the estimated nitrogen use of approximately 50 kg N ha-1 year-1 for Scots pine growth in the boreal forest (Korhonen et al. 2013). The contribution of needle nitrogen fixation to tree growth in this forest may, therefore, be rather insignificant in the short term. However, taking into account the approximately 8500-year continuous boreal forest cover in the region (Barnekow et al. 2008), and assuming historically constant nitrogen fixation in needles, the nitrogen fixed by bacteria inside Scots pine needles could be an important nitrogen source in the longer term, contributing to the build-up of the soil nitrogen stock over the long term (Finér et al. 2003, Merilä et al. 2014).

Largely consistent with our third hypothesis, the endophytic bacteria isolated from 1-year-old Scots pine needles belonged to similar genera as found in other tree species (Cankar et al. 2005, Moore et al. 2006, Izumi et al. 2008, Puri et al. 2018). The 13 isolated bacteria colonies were identified as belonging to the genera Bacillus, Variovorax, Novosphingobium, Sphingomonas, Microbacterium and Priestia. The genera Penibacillus, Rhizobium and Pseudomonas were not present, even though they are commonly found in tree species (Cankar et al. 2005, Moore et al. 2006, Izumi et al. 2008, Puri et al. 2018). Looking more closely at each genus, Bacillus bacteria have been detected previously in various coniferous and deciduous trees (Izumi et al. 2008, Puri et al. 2018), and have been shown to fix nitrogen and promote plant growth and yield (Çakmakçı et al. 2001, Ding et al. 2005, Yousuf et al. 2017). The Gram-positive, rod-shaped (Dunlap et al. 2015) strain of B. paralicheniformis has been reported as a nitrogen-fixing bacterium based on a wholegenome study (Annapurna et al. 2018). Another of the isolated bacteria belonged to the genus Microbacterium, which includes Gram-positive bacteria that have been shown to promote plant growth, chlorophyll content and fruit yield in a few diverse but agriculturally important plant species (Karlidag et al. 2007, Schwachtje et al. 2012, Mutai et al. 2017, Bal and Adhya 2021). This genus includes strains with the nifH gene and the capacity to fix nitrogen (Ruppel 1989, Zakhia et al. 2006, Lin et al. 2012), and some Microbacterium strains have been isolated from maple and elm trees (Shen and Fulthorpe 2015). Bacteria from Variovorax have been isolated from poplar trees (Moore et al. 2006), and this genus of Gram-positive bacteria includes strains capable of nitrogen fixation (Solanki et al. 2016) and promoting plant growth (Maimaiti et al. 2007). Specifically, V. paradoxus has been reported as a hydrogenoxidizing plant growth-promoting bacterium (Maimaiti et al. 2007, Han et al. 2011). The Gram-positive P. megaterium (previously classified as Bacillus megaterium) has also been reported as a nitrogen-fixing bacterium (Ding et al. 2005, Yousuf et al. 2017) and shown to promote plant growth (Nascimento et al. 2020, Wang et al. 2021). Sphingomonas strains have been detected in willow and elm trees (Moore et al. 2006, Doty et al. 2009, Shen and Fulthorpe 2015), and the ability to fix nitrogen has been identified in a few Sphingomonas bacteria (Castanheira et al. 2014, Yang et al. 2014, Lowman et al. 2015). Novosphingobium has also been reported as a genus that includes plant growth-promoting nitrogen-fixing bacteria (Islam et al. 2009, Rangjaroen et al. 2017). Novosphingobium pokkalii has been described as a rhizosphere-associated bacterium with plant growth-promoting properties (Krishnan et al. 2017).

Acetylene-reduction assay (ARA) was used to check in vitro whether the isolated bacteria were endophytic diazotrophic bacteria capable of nitrogen fixation. In support of our fourth hypothesis, 10 out of the 13 bacteria colonies displayed ethylene production, with *Microbacterium* sp. being the most efficient. The three colonies that did not fix nitrogen in the ARA were identified as two species, *B. paralicheniformis* and *N. pokkalii*. It could be that these three bacterial strains did not show nitrogen fixation because of nonoptimal test conditions (Doty et al. 2009), or because their fixation rate was under the detection limit of the ARA. Not all bacteria capable of growing on nitrogen-free media demonstrate nitrogen fixation during an ARA (Doty et al. 2009, Padda et al. 2018, Puri et al. 2018). Using assembled and annotated genomes of the bacteria we could detect the sequence for the NifU protein in most of the bacteria, however, we could not detect any other *nif* genes in the sequences. This could be due to short reads limitation (as we only had 150 bp sequencing length), genome misassemblies or genome and annotation incompleteness (Chen et al. 2013, Barbitoff et al. 2020, Lobb et al. 2020).

The fact that most of the isolated endophytic bacteria were capable of nitrogen fixation makes them good candidates for plant growth-promoting bacteria. Nitrogen-fixing bacteria isolated from conifers have been used as plant growth-promoting bacteria in seedlings: the inoculated seedlings were taller and had greater biomass compared with control seedlings grown under both nitrogen-limited conditions (Puri et al. 2020) and in fertilized soil (Chen et al. 2021). However, to analyse their potential as plant growth-promoting bacteria our isolated strains would need to be tested for additional plant growth-promoting properties, such as indole-3-acetic acid production, siderophore production and 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate deaminase.

Conclusions

Our study has demonstrated that nitrogen-fixing bacteria are present and active in 1-year-old Scots pine needles; their endophytic presence was confirmed by nitrogenase protein immunodetection, and nitrogen fixation was measured using ARA. Strains of the nitrogen-fixing bacteria were isolated from sterile needles by culturing and identified using whole-genome sequencing, and their nitrogen-fixation ability was confirmed by in vitro ARA. Immunodetection of the NifH protein showed no difference between needles from control plots and fertilized plots, and the ARA showed similar fixation rates in needles from both treatments. To scale up estimates of the nitrogenfixation rates and their impact on the boreal forest more accurately, it is important that the seasonality of nitrogen fixation is assessed, and the effect of variation in light intensity on the nitrogen-fixation capacity of endophytic bacteria inside coniferous needles determined. Even though the amount of nitrogen fixed by these bacteria might not be significant for the trees currently growing in the Scandinavian boreal forest, it could be significant in the longer term. Nitrogen fixation by bacteria within conifer needles may have provided an important source of nitrogen for the forest ecosystem's structure and function during the millennia that the boreal forest has dominated this landscape.

1362 Bizjak et al.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Knut and Alice Wallenberg for funding T.B.'s PhD position and this study. R.G. and A.N. acknowledge Arevo AB and Stora Enso Oyj, respectively, for allowing the leave of absence to carry out research and PhD supervision.

Supplementary data

Supplementary data for this article are available at *Tree Physiol*ogy Online.

Conflict of interest statement

None declared.

Authors' contributions

T.B., A.S., R.G. and A.N. conceived and designed the study, T.B. performed the experiments and carried out the statistical analysis, T.B. and A.N. wrote the manuscript, but all authors contributed equally to manuscript revision, and read and approved the submitted version.

Data availability

Sequencing data and bacterial strains are made available through GenBank, Sequence Read Archive and NCCB collection.

References

- Altschul SF, Gish W, Miller W, Myers EW, Lipman DJ (1990) Basic local alignment search tool. J Mol Biol 215:403–410.
- Annapurna, K, Govindasamy V, Sharma M, Ghosh A, Chikara SK (2018). Whole genome shotgun sequence of *Bacillus paralicheniformis* strain KMS 80, a rhizobacterial endophyte isolated from rice (*Oryza sativa* L). 3 Biotech 8:223.
- Appiah, Mensah A, Petersson H, Saarela S, Goude M, Holmström E (2020) Using heterogeneity indices to adjust basal area – leaf area index relationship in managed coniferous stands. For Ecol Manage 458:117699.
- Bal A, Anand R, Berge O, Chanway CP (2012) Isolation and identification of diazotrophic bacteria from internal tissues of *Pinus contorta* and *Thuja plicata*. Can J For Res 42:807–813.
- Bal HB, Adhya TK (2021) Alleviation of submergence stress in rice seedlings by plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria with ACC deaminase activity. Front Sustain Food Syst 5:1–8.
- Baldani JI, Reis VM, Videira SS, Boddey LH, Baldani VLD (2014) The art of isolating nitrogen-fixing bacteria from non-leguminous plants using N-free semi-solid media: a practical guide for microbiologists. Plant Soil 384:413–431.
- Barbitoff YA, Polev DE, Glotov AS, Serebryakova EA, Shcherbakova IV, Kiselev AM, Kostareva AA, Glotov OS, Predeus AV (2020) Systematic dissection of biases in whole-exome and whole-genome sequencing reveals major determinants of coding sequence coverage. Sci Rep 10:2057.
- Barnekow L, Bragée P, Hammarlund D, St Amour N (2008) Boreal forest dynamics in North-Eastern Sweden during the last 10,000 years based on pollen analysis. Veg Hist Archaeobot 17:687–700.

- Barron AR, Purves DW, Hedin LO (2011) Facultative nitrogen fixation by canopy legumes in a lowland tropical forest. Oecologia 165:511–520.
- Benavides M, Duhamel S, Van Wambeke F, Shoemaker KM, Moisander PH, Salamon E, Riemann L, Bonnet S (2020) Dissolved organic matter stimulates N2 fixation and nifH gene expression in *Trichodesmium*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 367:1–8.
- Berlin M, Lönnstedt L, Jansson G, Danell Ö, Ericsson T (2010) Developing a scots pine breeding objective: a case study involving a Swedish sawmill. Silva Fenn 44:643–656.
- Bhattacharjee RB, Singh A, Mukhopadhyay SN (2008) Use of nitrogenfixing bacteria as biofertiliser for non-legumes: prospects and challenges. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 80:199–209.
- Çakmakçı R, Kantar F, Sahin F (2001) Effect of N2-fixing bacterial inoculations on yield of sugar beet and barley. J Plant Nutr Soil Sci 164:527–531.
- Cankar K, Kraigher H, Ravnikar M, Rupnik M (2005) Bacterial endophytes from seeds of Norway spruce (*Picea abies* L Karst). FEMS Microbiol Lett 244:341–345.
- Carrell AA, Frank AC (2014) *Pinus flexilis* and *Picea engelmannii* share a simple and consistent needle endophyte microbiota with a potential role in nitrogen fixation. Front Microbiol 5:333.
- Castanheira N, Dourado AC, Alves PI et al. (2014) Annual ryegrassassociated bacteria with potential for plant growth promotion. Microbiol Res 169:768–779.
- Chanway, CP, Anand R, Yang H (2014) Nitrogen fixation outside and inside plant tissues. In: Ohyama, T (eds) Advances in Biology and Ecology of Nitrogen Fixation, InTech, 3–21.
- Chen G, Wang C, Shi L et al. (2013) Comprehensively identifying and characterizing the missing gene sequences in human reference genome with integrated analytic approaches. Hum Genet 132:899–911.
- Chen J, Zhao G, Wei Y, Dong Y, Hou L, Jiao R (2021) Isolation and screening of multifunctional phosphate solubilizing bacteria and its growth-promoting effect on Chinese fir seedlings. Sci Rep 11:9081.
- DeLuca TH, Zackrisson O, Nilsson MC, Sellstedt A (2002) Quantifying nitrogen-fixation in feather moss carpets of boreal forests. Nature 419:917–920.
- Dereeper A, Guignon V, Blanc G et al. (2008) Phylogeny.fr: robust phylogenetic analysis for the non-specialist. Nucleic Acids Res 36:W465– W469.
- Ding Y, Wang J, Liu Y, Chen S (2005) Isolation and identification of nitrogen-fixing bacilli from plant rhizospheres in Beijing region. J Appl Microbiol 99:1271–1281.
- Doty SL, Oakley B, Xin G, Kang JW, Singleton G, Khan Z, Vajzovic A, Staley JT (2009) Diazotrophic endophytes of native black cottonwood and willow. Symbiosis 47:23–33.
- Doty SL, Sher AW, Fleck ND, Khorasani M, Bumgarner RE, Khan Z, Ko AW, Kim SH, DeLuca TH (2016) Variable nitrogen fixation in wild populus. PloS One 11:e0155979.
- Dunlap CA, Kwon SW, Rooney AP, Kim SJ (2015) Bacillus paralicheniformis sp. nov., isolated from fermented soybean paste. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 65:3487–3492.
- Favilli F, Messini A (1990) Nitrogen fixation at phyllospheric level in coniferous plants in Italy. Plant Soil 128:91–95.
- Finér L, Mannerkoski H, Piirainen S, Starr M (2003) Carbon and nitrogen pools in an old-growth, Norway spruce mixed forest in eastern Finland and changes associated with clear-cutting. For Ecol Manage 174:51–63.
- Forsmark B, Nordin A, Maaroufi NI, Lundmark T, Gundale MJ (2020) Low and high nitrogen deposition rates in northern coniferous forests have different impacts on aboveground litter production, soil respiration, and soil carbon stocks. Ecosystems 23: 1423–1436.

Nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles 1363

- From F, Lundmark T, Mörling T, Pommerening A, Nordin A (2016) Effects of simulated long-term N deposition on *Picea abies* and *Pinus sylvestris* growth in boreal forest. Can J For Res 46: 1396–1403.
- Goude M, Nilsson U, Holmström E (2019) Comparing direct and indirect leaf area measurements for Scots pine and Norway spruce plantations in Sweden. Eur J For Res 138:1033–1047.
- Granhall U, Lindberg T (1978) Nitrogen fixation in some coniferous forest ecosystems. Ecol Bull 26:178–192.
- Gratz R, Ahmad I, Svennerstam H, Jamtgard S, Love J, Holmlund M, Ivanov R, Ganeteg U (2021) Organic nitrogen nutrition: LHT1.2 protein from hybrid aspen (*Populus tremula* L. x *tremuloides Michx*) is a functional amino acid transporter and a homolog of Arabidopsis LHT1. Tree Physiol 41:1479–1496.
- Gundale MJ, Deluca TH, Nordin A (2011) Bryophytes attenuate anthropogenic nitrogen inputs in boreal forests. Glob Chang Biol 17:2743–2753.
- Gupta VVSR, Roper MM (2010) Protection of free-living nitrogen-fixing bacteria within the soil matrix. Soil Tillage Res 109:50–54.
- Haas JC, Street NR, Sjödin A, Lee NM, Högberg MN, Näsholm T, Hurry V (2018) Microbial community response to growing season and plant nutrient optimisation in a boreal Norway spruce forest. Soil Biol Biochem 125:197–209.
- Han JI, Choi HK, Lee SW et al. (2011) Complete genome sequence of the metabolically versatile plant growth-promoting endophyte Variovorax paradoxus S110. J Bacteriol 193:1183–1190.
- Hardy RW, Holsten RD, Jackson EK, Burns RC (1968) The acetyleneethylene assay for n(2) fixation: laboratory and field evaluation. Plant Physiol 43:1185–1207.
- Heuer H, Krsek M, Baker P, Smalla K, Wellington EM (1997) Analysis of actinomycete communities by specific amplification of genes encoding 16S rRNA and gel-electrophoretic separation in denaturing gradients. Appl Environ Microbiol 63:3233–3241.
- levinsh G, Ozola D (1998) Spatial distribution of ethylene production by individual needles along a shoot of *Pinus sylvestris* L: relationship with peroxidase activity. Ann Bot 82:489–495.
- levinsh G, Tillberg E (1995) Stress-induced ethylene biosynthesis in pine needles: a search for the putative 1-aminocyclopropane-lcarboxylic acid-independent pathway. J Plant Physiol 145:308–314.
- Islam R, Trivedi P, Madhaiyan M et al. (2009) Isolation, enumeration, and characterization of diazotrophic bacteria from paddy soil sample under long-term fertilizer management experiment. Biol Fertil Soils 46:261–269.
- Izumi H, Anderson IC, Killham K, Moore ER (2008) Diversity of predominant endophytic bacteria in European deciduous and coniferous trees. Can J Microbiol 54:173–179.
- Jones K (1970) Nitrogen fixation in the phyllosphere of the Douglas fir, *Pseudotsuga douglasii*. Ann Bot 34:239–244.
- Karlidag H, Esitken A, Turan M, Sahin F (2007) Effects of root inoculation of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) on yield, growth and nutrient element contents of leaves of apple. Sci Hortic 114:16–20.
- Khan Z, Guelich G, Phan H, Redman R, Doty S (2012) Bacterial and yeast endophytes from poplar and willow promote growth in crop plants and grasses. ISRN Agron 2012:1–11.
- Klintborg A, Eklund L, Little CH (2002) Ethylene metabolism in Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) shoots during the year. Tree Physiol 22: 59–66.
- Korhonen JFJ, Pihlatie M, Pumpanen J et al. (2013) Nitrogen balance of a boreal scots pine forest. Biogeosciences 10:1083–1095.
- Krishnan R, Menon RR, Likhitha HJ, Busse N, Tanaka SK, Rameshkumar N (2017) Novosphingobium pokkalii sp nov, a novel rhizosphereassociated bacterium with plant beneficial properties isolated from saline-tolerant pokkali rice. Res Microbiol 168:113–121.

- Leppänen SM, Salemaa M, Smolander A, Mäkipää R, Tiirola M (2013) Nitrogen fixation and methanotrophy in forest mosses along a N deposition gradient. Environ Exp Bot 90:62–69.
- Lin L, Guo W, Xing Y, Zhang X, Li Z, Hu C, Li S, Li Y, An Q (2012) The actinobacterium microbacterium sp. 16SH accepts pBBR1-based pPROBE vectors, forms biofilms, invades roots, and fixes N(2) associated with micropropagated sugarcane plants. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 93:1185–1195.
- Lobb B, Tremblay BJ, Moreno-Hagelsieb G, Doxey AC (2020) An assessment of genome annotation coverage across the bacterial tree of life. Microb Genom 6:1–11.
- Lowman S, Kim-Dura S, Mei C, Nowak J (2015) Strategies for enhancement of switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum* L) performance under limited nitrogen supply based on utilization of N-fixing bacterial endophytes. Plant Soil 405:47–63.
- Maimaiti J, Zhang Y, Yang J, Cen YP, Layzell DB, Peoples M, Dong Z (2007) Isolation and characterization of hydrogen-oxidizing bacteria induced following exposure of soil to hydrogen gas and their impact on plant growth. Environ Microbiol 9:435–444.
- Marchal K, Vanderleyden J (2000) The "oxygen paradox" of dinitrogenfixing bacteria. Biol Fertil Soils 30:363–373.
- Matson AL, Corre MD, Burneo JI, Veldkamp E (2014) Free-living nitrogen fixation responds to elevated nutrient inputs in tropical montane forest floor and canopy soils of southern Ecuador. Biogeochemistry 122:281–294.
- Menge DN, Levin SA, Hedin LO (2009) Facultative versus obligate nitrogen fixation strategies and their ecosystem consequences. Am Nat 174:465–477.
- Meredieu C (2002) External indicators of living branches with missing rings within a tree crown of Corsican pine. Forestry 75:569–578.
- Merilä P, Mustajärvi K, Helmisaari H-S et al. (2014) Above- and belowground N stocks in coniferous boreal forests in Finland: implications for sustainability of more intensive biomass utilization. For Ecol Manage 311:17–28.
- Moore FP, Barac T, Borremans B, Oeyen L, Vangronsveld J, van der Lelie D, Campbell CD, Moore ER (2006) Endophytic bacterial diversity in poplar trees growing on a BTEX-contaminated site: the characterisation of isolates with potential to enhance phytoremediation. Syst Appl Microbiol 29:539–556.
- Moyes AB, Kueppers LM, Pett-Ridge J, Carper DL, Vandehey N, O'Neil J, Frank AC (2016) Evidence for foliar endophytic nitrogen fixation in a widely distributed subalpine conifer. New Phytol 210:657–668.
- Mutai C, Njuguna J, Ghimire S (2017) Brachiaria grasses (*Brachiaria* spp.) harbor a diverse bacterial community with multiple attributes beneficial to plant growth and development. Microbiology 6:1–11.
- Nascimento FX, Hernandez AG, Glick BR, Rossi MJ (2020) Plant growth-promoting activities and genomic analysis of the stressresistant *Bacillus megaterium* STB1, a bacterium of agricultural and biotechnological interest. Biotechnol Rep (Amst) 25:e00406.
- Nishida H, Suzaki T (2018) Nitrate-mediated control of root nodule symbiosis. Curr Opin Plant Biol 44:129–136.
- Padda KP, Puri A, Chanway CP (2018) Isolation and identification of endophytic diazotrophs from lodgepole pine trees growing at unreclaimed gravel mining pits in central interior British Columbia, Canada. Can J Forest Res 48:1601–1606.
- Pihl, Karlsson G, Hellsten S, Akselsson C, Karlsson PE, Ferm M (2012) Kvävedepositionen till Sverige : jämförelse av depositionsdata från Krondroppsnätet, Luft- och nederbördskemiska nätet samt EMEP. IVL Report series. IVL Swedish Environmental Research Institute, Göteborg.
- Puri A, Padda KP, Chanway CP (2018) Evidence of endophytic diazotrophic bacteria in lodgepole pine and hybrid white spruce trees growing in soils with different nutrient statuses in the West Chilcotin region of British Columbia, Canada. For Ecol Manage 430:558–565.

1364 Bizjak et al.

- Puri A, Padda KP, Chanway CP (2020) Sustaining the growth of Pinaceae trees under nutrient-limited edaphic conditions via plantbeneficial bacteria. PloS One 15:e0238055.
- Quambusch M, Pirttila AM, Tejesvi MV, Winkelmann T, Bartsch M (2014) Endophytic bacteria in plant tissue culture: differences between easy- and difficult-to-propagate *Prunus avium* genotypes. Tree Physiol 34:524–533.
- Rangjaroen C, Sungthong R, Rerkasem B, Teaumroong N, Noisangiam R, Lumyong S (2017) Untapped endophytic colonization and plant growth-promoting potential of the genus *Novosphingobium* to optimize rice cultivation. Microbes Environ 32:84–87.
- Reed SC, Cleveland CC, Townsend AR (2007) Controls over leaf litter and soil nitrogen fixation in two lowland tropical rain forests. Biotropica 39:585–592.
- Reis VM, Baldani VLD, Baldani JI (2015) Isolation, identification and biochemical characterization of *Azospirillum* spp. and other nitrogenfixing bacteria. In: Cassán F, Okon Y, Creus C (eds) Handbook for Azospirillum. Springer, Cham, 3–26.
- Richau KH, Pujic P, Normand P, Sellstedt A (2017) Nitrogenase and hydrogenase of the Actinobacteria *Frankia*: from gene expression to proteins function. J Microbiol Res 7:79–92.
- Ruppel S (1989) Isolation and characterization of dinitrogen-fixing bacteria from the rhizosphere of *Triticum aestivum* and *Ammophila* arenaria. Dev Soil Sci 18:153–262.
- Ryan RP, Germaine K, Franks A, Ryan DJ, Dowling DN (2008) Bacterial endophytes: recent developments and applications. FEMS Microbiol Lett 278:1–9.
- Santoyo G, Moreno-Hagelsieb G, Orozco-Mosqueda Mdel C, Glick BR (2016) Plant growth-promoting bacterial endophytes. Microbiol Res 183:92–99.
- Sayers EW, Bolton EE, Brister JR et al. (2022) Database resources of the national center for biotechnology information. Nucleic Acids Res 50:D20–D26.
- Schneider CA, Rasband WS, Eliceiri KW (2012) NIH image to Imagel: 25 years of image analysis. Nat Methods 9:671–675.
- Schwachtje J, Karojet S, Kunz S, Brouwer S, van Dongen JT (2012) Plant-growth promoting effect of newly isolated rhizobacteria varies between two Arabidopsis ecotypes. Plant Signal Behav 7:623–627.
- Shen SY, Fulthorpe R (2015) Seasonal variation of bacterial endophytes in urban trees. Front Microbiol 6:427.
- Solanki MK, Wang Z, Wang F-Y, Li C-N, Lan T-J, Singh RK, Singh P, Yang L-T, Li Y-R (2016) Intercropping in sugarcane cultivation influenced the soil properties and enhanced the diversity of vital diazotrophic bacteria. Sugar Tech 19:136–147.

- Telewski F (1992) Ethylene production by different age class ponderosa and Jeffery pine needles as related to ozone exposure and visible injury. Trees 6:1–23.
- Tormanen T, Smolander A (2022) Biological nitrogen fixation in logging residue piles of different tree species after final felling. J Environ Manage 303:113942.
- Wang S, Na X, Yang L et al. (2021) Bacillus megaterium strain WW1211 promotes plant growth and lateral root initiation via regulation of auxin biosynthesis and redistribution. Plant Soil 466:491–504.
- Wei L, Shao Y, Wan J, Feng H, Zhu H, Huang H, Zhou Y (2014) Isolation and characterization of a rhizobacterial antagonist of root-knot nematodes. PloS One 9:e85988.
- Welsh DT (2000) Nitrogen fixation in seagrass meadows: regulation, plant-bacteria interactions and significance to primary productivity. Ecol Lett 3:58–71.
- Werner RA, Bruch BA, Brand WA (1999) ConFlo III an interface for high precision δ13C and δ15N analysis with an extended dynamic range. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 13:1237–1241.
- Wilson D (1995) Endophyte: the evolution of a term, and clarification of its use and definition. Oikos 73:74–76.
- Wurzburger N (2016) Old-growth temperate forests harbor hidden nitrogen-fixing bacteria. New Phytol 210:374–376.
- Yang H, Puri A, Padda KP, Chanway CP (2016) Effects of Paenibacillus polymyxa inoculation and different soil nitrogen treatments on lodgepole pine seedling growth. Can J For Res 46:816–821.
- Yang S, Zhang X, Cao Z, Zhao K, Wang S, Chen M, Hu X (2014) Growth-promoting Sphingomonas paucimobilis ZISH1 associated with Dendrobium officinale through phytohormone production and nitrogen fixation. Microb Biotechnol 7:611–620.
- Yousuf J, Thajudeen J, Rahiman M, Krishnankutty S, Alikunj PA, Abdulla MHA (2017) Nitrogen fixing potential of various heterotrophic *Bacillus* strains from a tropical estuary and adjacent coastal regions. J Basic Microbiol 57:922–932.
- Zakhia F, Jeder H, Willems A, Gillis M, Dreyfus B, de Lajudie P (2006) Diverse bacteria associated with root nodules of spontaneous legumes in Tunisia and first report for nifH-like gene within the genera *Microbacterium and Starkeya*. Microb Ecol 51:375–393.
- Zhang L, Hurek T, Reinhold-Hurek B (2007) A nifH-based oligonucleotide microarray for functional diagnostics of nitrogen-fixing microorganisms. Microb Ecol 53:456–470.
- Zheng M, Zhang W, Luo Y, Mori T, Mao Q, Wang S, Huang J, Lu X, Mo J (2017) Different responses of asymbiotic nitrogen fixation to nitrogen addition between disturbed and rehabilitated subtropical forests. Sci Total Environ 601-602:1505–1512.

III

Science of the Total Environment 918 (2024) 170741

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Science of the Total Environment

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Shifts in microbial community composition and metabolism correspond with rapid soil carbon accumulation in response to 20 years of simulated nitrogen deposition





Benjamin Forsmark ^{a, *, 1}, Tinkara Bizjak ^{b, 1}, Annika Nordin ^b, Nicholas P. Rosenstock ^c, Håkan Wallander ^d, Michael J. Gundale ^a

^a Department of Forest Ecology and Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SE-901 83 Umeå, Sweden

^b Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology, Umeå Plant Science Centre, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SE-901 83 Umeå, Sweden ^c Center for Environmental and Climate Research, Lund University, SE-223 62 Lund, Sweden

^d Department of Microbial Ecology, Lund University, SE-223 62 Lund, Sweden

Separation of Merobia 2000 (), Easte Ontrobally, 52 220 62 Band, 64

HIGHLIGHTS

GRAPHICAL ABSTRACT

- Nitrogen (N) addition shifted the dominance of fungal decomposers.
- Several taxa known to grow on organic N became less abundant.
- Organic N uptake and oxidative enzyme activity were suppressed.
- Higher activity of carbohydrate acquisition indicates decomposer energy limitation.
- Shifts in decomposer activity driven by N addition increase soil carbon stocks.



ARTICLE INFO

Editor: Jose Julio Ortega-Calvo

Keywords: Boreal forest Carbon sequestration Ectomycorrhizal fungi Extracellular enzymes Microbial community Nitrogen deposition ABSTRACT

Anthropogenic nitrogen (N) deposition and fertilization in boreal forests frequently reduces decomposition and soil respiration and enhances C storage in the topsoil. This enhancement of the C sink can be as strong as the aboveground biomass response to N additions and has implications for the global C cycle, but the mechanisms remain elusive. We hypothesized that this effect would be associated with a shift in the microbial community and its activity, and particularly by fungal taxa reported to be capable of lignin degradation and organic N acquisition. We sampled the organic layer below the intact litter of a Norway spruce (*Picea abise* (L.) Karst) forest in northern Sweden after 20 years of annual N additions at low (12.5 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) and high (50 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) rates. We measured microbial biomass using phospholipid fatty-acid analysis (PLFA) and ergosterol

* Corresponding author at: Southern Swedish Forest Research Centre, SLU, P.O. Box 190, SE-234 22 Lomma, Sweden.

E-mail address: benjamin.forsmark@slu.se (B. Forsmark).

¹ Shared first authorship with equal contribution.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2024.170741

Received 27 October 2023; Received in revised form 21 December 2023; Accepted 4 February 2024

Available online 6 February 2024

0048-9697/© 2024 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

measurements and used ITS metagenomics to profile the fungal community of soil and fine-roots. We probed the metabolic activity of the soil community by measuring the activity of extracellular enzymes and evaluated its relationships with the most N responsive soil fungal species. Nitrogen addition decreased the abundance of fungal PLFA markers and changed the fungal community in humus and fine-roots. Specifically, the humus community changed in part due to a shift from *Oidiodendron pilicola, Cenococcum geophilum,* and *Cortinarius caperatus* to *Tylospora fibrillosa* and *Russula griseascens*. These microbial community changes were associated with decreased activity of Mn-peroxidase and peptidase, and an increase in the activity of C acquiring enzymes. Our results show that the rapid accumulation of C in the humus layer frequently observed in areas with high N deposition is consistent with a shift in microbial metabolism, where decomposition associated with organic N acquisition is downregulated when inorganic N forms are readily available.

1. Introduction

Soil microbes play a central role in the global carbon (C) cycle (Liang et al., 2017). By releasing the nutrients plants need to grow, they contribute to the uptake of atmospheric CO₂; however, their respiration also contributes a significant portion of soil CO₂ emissions (Crowther et al., 2019; Paul, 2015; Smith and Read, 2008). Soils in boreal forests store a substantial fraction of global soil C (Tarnocai et al., 2009), and are affected by major changes in nutrient availability such as via atmospheric nitrogen (N) deposition (Maaroufi et al., 2015; Reay et al., 2008; Thomas et al., 2015; Tipping et al., 2017). Owing to huge C stores in boreal forests (Clemmensen et al., 2021; Deluca and Boisvenue, 2012), even small changes can have an impact on the global atmospheric C balance (Lal, 2005), yet we lack a complete mechanistic understanding of how microbial processes drive such changes in response to external N inputs (Luo et al., 2012).

While it is clear that external N inputs enhance aboveground growth and the input of C to soils by above and below ground litter in boreal forests (Blaško et al., 2022; Forsmark et al., 2021; Leppalammi-Kujansuu et al., 2014), further understanding is needed regarding how soil microbial community composition and enzymatic activities respond. Globally, plant tissue C to N ratio is a good predictor of organic matter decomposition rates, thus lower tissue C to N ratios caused by N deposition can be expected to stimulate decomposition (Averill and Waring, 2017; Stocker et al., 2016); however, studies frequently report reduced soil respiration and decomposition rates in response to N inputs (Berg, 2014; Fog, 1988; Janssens et al., 2010; Nohrstedt et al., 1989). Recent studies of the effects of N addition on C pools and fluxes across the Swedish boreal forests have shown highly consistent responses, with as much as 1000 kg C ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ accumulating in the organic soil horizon (Forsmark et al., 2020a), which is driven partly by a reduction in soil respiration by 10-50 % and increased above and belowground litter inputs (Blaško et al., 2022; Forsmark et al., 2021; Maaroufi et al., 2015). Importantly, the organic soil horizon is also a major sink for added N, frequently sequestering half of the added N or more (Gundale et al., 2014; Templer et al., 2012). Therefore, insights into how the boreal microbiome responds to changes in N availability and soil stoichiometry, and in turn influences the release of C and nutrients during decomposition are key to understand the C sinks in both plant biomass and soils in boreal forests.

Litter decomposition is largely mediated by extracellular enzymes exuded into the soil environment to catalyze the release of specific resources (Sinsabaugh et al., 2008). During early stages of decomposition abundant labile resources such as cellulose, peptides, and phosphates are released by hydrolytic enzymes (Baldrian and Stursova, 2011). During later stages of decomposition, an increasing fraction of the remaining organic matter is composed of lignin and other recalcitrant compounds that require oxidative enzymes such as laccases and peroxidases or Fenton chemistry for further degradation (Lindahl and Tunlid, 2015; Sinsabaugh, 2010). Although the fungi with the strongest oxidative potential are saprotrophic, evidence is accumulating that some ectomycorrhizal fungi (EMF) have retained these genes during evolution (Argiroff et al., 2022; Bödeker et al., 2016; Floudas et al., 2012; Kohler

2

et al., 2015; Morgenstern et al., 2008; Nicolas et al., 2019), and that they are adapted to release N from complex organic matter (Bödeker et al., 2014; Kuyper, 2017; Talbot et al., 2008). This EMF adaptation is believed to give the fungi and the associated trees access to otherwise inaccessible organic N pools (Näsholm et al., 1998; Orwin et al., 2011; Schimel and Bennett, 2004). Indeed, EMF are more abundant during late stages of decomposition, in the lower part of the humus layer (Bending and Read, 1995; Lindahl et al., 2007; Rosling et al., 2003), which is also where the soil C stock is most responsive to N enrichment (Blaško et al., 2022; Forsmark et al., 2020a; Maaroufi et al., 2015), but the role of EMF in decomposition remains elusive. Firstly, EMF have been suggested to be major drivers of decomposition (Kyaschenko et al., 2017b; Lindahl et al., 2021; Stendahl et al., 2017), and the reduced allocation of C to EMF for N acquisition may therefore lead to decreased decomposition (Chen et al., 2014; Craine et al., 2007; Moorhead and Sinsabaugh, 2006; Talbot et al., 2008). On the contrary, organic N acquisition via EMF may inhibit decomposition by reducing soil N concentrations below the demand threshold for saprotrophic microbes, i.e. the so-called Gadgil effect (Fernandez and Kennedy, 2016; Gadgil and Gadgil, 1975; Gadgil and Gadgil, 1971; Orwin et al., 2011), and a weakening of that interaction due to N enrichment would thereby lead to increased decomposition. To shed light on these mechanisms, further data are needed on how changes in microbial community composition correspond with changes in extracellular enzyme activity.

To address this knowledge gap, we utilized a long-term experimental set up in a boreal Norway spruce forest (Table S1-S2), where N has been added annually for 20 years at a low (12.5 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) and high (50 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) rate to simulate upper level N deposition rates in the boreal region and in Europe, respectively (Gundale et al., 2011). Using this experiment, we previously reported that N addition caused soil C stocks in the humus layer to increase, while soil respiration and soil microbial biomass decreased (Maaroufi et al., 2015). Furthermore, our previous work has suggested that enhanced C accumulation in response to N has to be at least partly driven by changes in microbial activity, as litter decomposition has been shown to be reduced in N treated plots (Forsmark et al., 2020b; Maaroufi et al., 2017). Therefore, to better understand why N has this impact on the soil C cycle, we focused on describing the microbial community composition, using a combination of broad community profiling via phospholipid fatty acids (PLFA) analysis, ergosterol measurements, as well as fungal DNA sequencing for in-depth analysis of fungal taxa down to the level of species. Additionally, the activities of C, N, and P acquiring enzymes and oxidative enzymes were measured to establish the relationships between fungal community composition and soil enzyme activities. Because trees allocate more C to their root systems at the end of the growing season (Högberg et al., 2010; Kaiser et al., 2010), we sampled during summer and early autumn to capture potential seasonal variation in community composition and enzyme functioning. First, we hypothesized that the addition of N would change the microbial community through a decrease in the abundance of ectomycorrhizal decomposers previously reported to be involved in organic N uptake from lignified soil organic matter, including Cortinarius (Bödeker et al., 2014) and Piloderma (Lilleskov et al., 2011), whereas Tylospora and Russula species would increase (Kyaschenko et al., 2017a; Marupakula et al., 2021; Wallander

B. Forsmark et al.

et al., 2010). Secondly, we hypothesized that the shifts in microbial community composition would correspond with a shift in enzyme activities, and specifically by reduced activity of N acquiring and oxidative enzymes that are known to decompose organic matter, while causing an increase in P acquiring enzymes.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Experimental design

We used an N addition experiment in an area in northern Sweden (64°14 N, 19°46E) with low ambient N deposition (<2 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). The experiment was established as a randomized complete block design in 1996 in a Norway spruce (Picea abies (L.) Karst) dominated forest naturally regenerated at the beginning of the 20th century (From et al., 2016). The experiment consists of control, low and high N addition rate plots. The low N addition rate at 12.5 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (hereafter referred to as the 12.5 N treatment) corresponds to upper N deposition rates in the boreal region (Gundale et al., 2011; SMHI, 2019), whereas the high N addition rate at 50 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ (hereafter referred to as the 50 N treatment) is representative of high level N deposition rates in central Europe, as well as regions of north America and China (Liu et al., 2013) and also serves as a useful comparison to other N addition experiments (Hyvönen et al., 2008). The experiment consists of plots ranging in size from 1 to 2500 m², arranged in blocks, with each N addition rate and plot size replicated 6 times. Here, we utilized plots at 1000 m² and 2500 m² size to reach a total replication of 12 plots per N addition rate. Nitrogen has been added annually since 1996 as solid ammonium-nitrate granules directly after snowmelt, which usually occurs by the end of May. This makes it the longest running large plot experiment with N addition treatments simulating the entire range of N deposition rates observed in the boreal zone.

2.2. Soil and fine-root sampling

The organic layer under the intact litter and down to the mineral soil was sampled in summer and autumn 2016. The two time points were chosen to represent distinct states in the seasonal development of the canopy, which influences the transfer of C and N between canopy and roots (Högberg et al., 2010; Kaiser et al., 2010). The summer sampling was done one week after the solstice (June 28-July 1), which corresponds to a time of the year with maximum light availability, shoot growth, and a phase of N depletion and accumulation of carbohydrates in photosynthesizing tissues (Linder, 1995). The autumn sampling was done around the equinox (20-27 September) at a time when both N and carbohydrates are depleted in the canopy (Linder, 1995) and when the activity in the root-zone peaks (Hasselquist et al., 2012; Högberg et al., 2001) and soil respiration is high (Maaroufi et al., 2015). While the soil temperature was similar between the summer and autumn sampling (9.7 versus 9.4 °C), the daytime air temperature was 15.4 °C in the summer sampling, and the autumn sampling was done after the first frost, with daytime temperatures of 12.8 °C (ICOS, 2023).

At both sampling occasions, the entire organic layer between the intact litter layer down to the mineral soil was collected with a sharp 22 mm soil corer at 30 locations within each plot, each spaced at least 2 m gapart to ensure an appropriate coverage of the spatial variation in the fungal community (Dahlberg et al., 1997). All 30 cores from each plot were pooled to create one composite sample per plot and kept cool with ice during collection, and then were weighed and sieved (2 mm) to separate roots and humus within 1 h of collection. The sieved humus was homogenized, and then separated into two sub-samples per plot. The first subsample (approximately 10 g) was freeze-dried and used to determine gravimetric moisture content, and then was ground to a fine powder on a roller mill (Stuiver et al., 2015) for measurements of total C, N, and P, phospholipid fatty acids (PLFA), and DNA extraction as described below. The second sub-sample was kept frozen and used to

measure the activity of a selection of enzymes, also described below. Roots that were isolated during sieving were further hand sorted to exclude ericaceous rhizomes, and vital living Norway spruce fine-roots (< 2 mm diameter), including associated fungal mycelium, were selected for DNA extraction.

During collection and sorting, all equipment was cleaned thoroughly with 70 % thanol between samples and then stored on ice at 4 °C during the sampling day, and frozen for long-term storage the same evening. The fine-roots were cleaned according to a protocol developed by Gottel et al. (2011) and modified by Gundale et al. (2016). Briefly, the roots were repeatedly (5 times) vigorously shaken and rinsed in distilled water alone, then shaken and rinsed in a solution of 0.05 % Tween 20 detergent, rinsed again in distilled water, and then surface-sterilized for 2 min in a 0.27 % NaOCI solution. Roots were then washed 10 times in distilled water and then frozen, freeze-dried, and ground to a fine powder for DNA extractions. In total, 72 samples were collected in the field (3 N treatments, 2 seasons, 12 replicates) and split into soil and roots for DNA sequencing, yielding a total of 144 samples for DNA sequencing.

2.3. Phospholipid fatty acid and ergosterol analysis

We used a combination of analyses of phospholipid fatty acids (PLFA) and ergosterol on the freeze-dried samples to profile the microbial community broadly, and to represent microbial biomass. Lipids were extracted from approximately 1 g soil using the Bligh and Dyer method (Bligh and Dyer, 1959; McIntosh et al., 2012; White et al., 1979) and the abundance of individual PLFA's was measured on a gas chromatograph (Perkin-Elmer Clarus 500, Mundelein, Illinois, USA) coupled to a flame ionization detector (Waltham, MA, USA) at the Swedish University of Agriculture, SLU Umeå. A total of 28 PLFA markers were identified and described using standard nomenclature, and classified according to previous work in this study system (Maaroufi et al., 2015). The sum of all PLFA markers were used as a measure of total microbial biomass, and i-15:0, a-15:0, 15:0, i-16:0, 16:1ω9, 16:1ω7, 16:0, i-17:0, cy-17:0, a-17:0, 18:1 ω 7, and cy-19:0 represented the total bacterial biomass (Frostegård and Bååth, 1996). The branched PLFAs i-15:0, a-15:0, i-16:0, i-17:0, and a-17:0 represented gram-positive bacteria (Wardle et al., 2013), whereas 10me16:0, 10me17:0, and 10me18:0 were used to estimate actinobacteria, and cy-17:0, cy-19:0, and $18{:}1{\scriptscriptstyle \rm W}7$ represented gram-negative bacteria. PLFA 18:206 alone represented fungi (Frostegård et al., 2011; Maaroufi et al., 2019). Absolute abundances were expressed in moles per gram soil C.

Free ergosterol was measured in addition to PLFA as a general fungal biomarker intended to represent living biomass (Clemmensen et al., 2013) as a complementary measure of soil fungal biomass. Ergosterol was extracted from 35 mg of the dried soil by vigorously shaking the samples in 0.25 ml MeOH (99.8 %), and the extract cleaned by centrifugation and filtration (45 μ m). The extract was injected in MeOH (isocratic) at a flow rate of 1.5 ml min⁻¹ on a Shimadzu prominence HPLC and separated on a reverse-phase column (Ascentis® Express C18, 2.7 μ m). After 3 min, ergosterol concentrations were detected with an optical-ultraviolet detector (SPD-20 A UV/VIS).

2.4. DNA extraction and sequencing

Nucleic acids were extracted from 0.25 g of dried powdered humus samples using the PowerSoil DNA Isolation Kit (MoBio Laboratories, Carlsbad, CA, USA), following the manufacturer's instructions. DNA was extracted from 50 mg of freeze-dried fine-roots by first extracting and purifying in 2 % CTAB/SDS, chloroform, isopropanol and ethanol, as per Gundale et al. (2016), re-suspended in 200 ml Tris and EDTA (TE) buffer, and further purified using a Nucleospin gDNA clean up kit (Machery-Nagel, Düren, Germany).

DNA from the ITS2 region of the internal transcribed spacer (ITS) was amplified with the fungi-specific primers ITS7g (Ihrmark et al.,

2012) and ITS4 (Gardes and Bruns, 1993) which included adapter sequences for Illumina sequencing, and was subjected to a second 8-cycle amplification to attach Nextera (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) sample barcodes. Equimolar amounts of DNA from each sample were pooled and submitted for Illumina sequencing with paired-end (325 bp forward; 275 bp reverse) sequencing on a MiSeq sequenator using the MiSeq Reagent Kit v3 chemistry (Illumina Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) at the Next-generation sequencing facility at Lund University, Lund, Sweden.

2.5. Bioinformatics

DNA sequences obtained from Illumina sequencing were trimmed and filtered using Mothur v1.34 (Schloss et al., 2009), clustered using the Gaussian mixture model clustering algorithm CROP (Hao et al., 2011) at 97 % sequence similarity, thus yielding operational taxonomic units (OTUs). All non-fungal and chimeric sequences were removed and sequences were trimmed to include only the ITS2 region using ITSx extractor v1.5.0 (Bengtsson-Palme et al., 2013). The taxonomic identity was then assigned to the set of clustered sequences by searching the Full "UNITE+INSD" (Koljalg et al., 2005; Koljalg et al., 2013) dataset (673,903 seqs, release date 2016-11-20) using the Basic Local Alignment Tool (BLASTN program 2.2.25, blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov). Sequences that were 96 % similar to the query sequence and top hit, with at least 80 % coverage of the query sequence length, were assigned to a taxonomic identity with genus and species. Sequences with values of 94-95 % similarity between the query sequence and top hit were assigned a taxonomic identity at the genus level only. All OTU's representing <10 total reads or occurring in only one sample were excluded. Rarefaction was performed to 31,000 reads per sample.

The ecological guild (i.e. ectomycorrhizal or non-ectomycorrhizal) of all taxa for which genera could be assigned was classified with the assistance of the database tool FunGUILD (Nguyen et al., 2016). Guild classifications were accepted, when assigned a confidence ranking of Highly Probable or Probable. EMF species identity was further verified based on the most recent knowledge of the ecology of known close relatives (genera or species) and according to Tedersoo et al. (2010). Read abundances for all OTUs for each sample were summed and the abundance of each OTU expressed as the relative abundance per sample. A matrix containing the rarefied relative abundance of each OTU per sample was then used to analyze differences in community composition. Before further analyses, 1 humus sample with very low OTU abundance and dominance of two species of *Malassizia* was removed, which gave a complete humus dataset with 71 samples and 1051 species OTUs.

2.6. Enzyme activities

The potential activity of selected enzymes originating from the soil microbiome was measured on the frozen soil according to methods in Allison (2012), that is based on methods presented by Saiya-Cork et al. (2002), and modified according to Baldrian (2009). Shortly, we used 4methylumbelliferyl (MUB) labeled β-D-glucopyranoside, β-D-cellobioside, β-D-xylopyranoside, N-acetyl-β-D-glucosaminide, and phosphate to measure the activity of glucosidase (β -1.4-glucosidase, EC 3.2.1.21), endoglucanase (EC 3.2.1.4), xylosidase (β-1.4-xylosidase, EC 3.2.1.37), chitinase (β-1.4-N-acetylglucosaminidase, EC 3.2.1.52), and phosphatase (acid-phosphatase, EC 3.1.3.2) respectively, and 7-amido-4-methylcoumarin (AMC) labeled leucine for peptidase (leucine aminopeptidase, EC 3.4.11.1). 140 ml sodium acetate buffer (50 µM, pH 5.0) was added to 0.5 g soil. The sample was shaken for 20 min and loaded on a 96 well plate with 50 µl labeled substrate. The plate was incubated in darkness at room temperature for 10 min (t = 0) and fluorescence was measured with MUB after 60 min and for AMC after 20 h.

The activity of the peroxidase (Manganese(II)-peroxidase, EC 1.11.1.13) and laccase (EC 1.10.3.2) was measured as the buildup of the product of oxidized 3-methyl-2-benzothiazolinone hydrazone

hydrochloride (MBTH) and 3-dimethylaminobenzoic acid (DMAB) for peroxidase and oxidation product of 2,2'-azino-bis-3-ethylbenzothiazoline-6-sulphonic acid (ABTS) for laccase. Namely, 1 g soil was added to 12 ml Milli-Q water and shaken for 30 min. The samples were centrifuged at 9000 \times g for 10 min and the supernatant was frozen at -20 °C for subsequent analyses. The reaction buffer for peroxidase consisted of 1 ml Manganese (II) sulphate solution (1 mM), 0.5 ml DMAB solution in EtOH (50 mM) and 0.5 ml MBTH solution (1 mM) in 5 ml Succinatelactate buffer (pH 4.5, 100 mM), whereas 1 ml EDTA (2 mM) substituted the Manganese (II) sulphate in the reaction buffer without Mn(II)sulphate (to account for background substrate oxidation). To each well on the 96 well plate $10 \,\mu l \, 1 \, \text{mM} \, \text{H}_2\text{O}_2$, $140 \,\mu l$ reaction buffer and 50µl of the extract were added and absorbance was measured every 5 min at 590 nm for 60 min. For laccase, 160 µl 100 mM sodium-acetate buffer (pH 5), 20 µl 50 mM ABTS and 20 µl sample were added to each well and the absorbance was measured at 420 nm every 10 min for 2 h.

All enzyme activities were estimated by regressing fluorescence or absorbance against time and were standardized to the amount of C in each sample to reduce the random variation caused by intermixing heavy mineral particles. Thus, the standardized measure is the potential enzyme activity in a completely organic sample. The activities of glucosidase, endoglucanase, and xylosidase were considered indicative of C acquisition, phosphatase of phosphorous acquisition, chitinase and peptidase of organic N acquisition, whereas peroxidase and laccase indicated oxidative decomposition potential. All measurements were made in humus samples derived after removing roots by sieving, hence all enzyme activity are related to the microbiome and not to processes occurring within plant biomass.

2.7. Statistical analyses

Linear mixed effects models were used to assess the effects of N (df = 2) and season (df = 1) and their interaction (df = 2) on the element ratios and pH, and measurements on the microbial community, including abundance of aggregated PLFA functional groups, and their ratios, free ergosterol, and the relative abundance of aggregated taxonomic or functional groups of the fungal community, and on the potential enzyme activities. Block (n = 12) was included as a random factor in the model and Tukey's honestly significant difference (HSD) test was used for post hoc.

Variation in the fungal community composition was explored with a combination of unconstrained and constrained ordinations (Oksanen, 2015), and multivariate analysis of variances on Bray-Curtis dissimilarity matrices. Detrended correspondence analyses (DCA) was applied to identify major gradients in the community and to visualize the relative contribution of sample type (humus vs. root), N addition rate, and season to variations in the fungal community composition. Canonical analysis of principal coordinates (CAP) was used to specifically target variations in community composition due to N and season. The direct and interactive effects of N and season on the location of fungal communities in multivariate space was tested separately for humus and roots using permutational multivariate analysis of variance (PERMANOVA), with block (n = 12) included as a random factor. An additional permutational test for homogeneity of multivariate dispersion was used to verify that differences were due to location, rather than differences in dispersion. Finally, for all significant effects identified with PERMA-NOVA, we followed up with additional 'contribution of variables to similarity' (SIMPER) analysis to identify which fungal OTUs contributed most to the similarity within groups and differences between groups. The correlation between selected responsive OTU's in humus samples from SIMPER analysis and enzyme activities as well as between responsive OTU's and microbial traits were calculated using Spearman's correlation. Only humus samples were used in this analysis as it is assumed that extracellular enzyme activities are responding to the soil environment and not root conditions. All statistics and graphs connected to sequencing were produced in R using phyloseq (McMurdie and

Holmes, 2013) and vegan packages (Dixon, 2003).

3. Results

3.1. Phospholipid fatty acid and ergosterol analysis

Based on PERMANOVA on all PLFA markers, microbial community composition in the humus differed significantly between N addition treatments (Table 1). The 50 N treatment markedly decreased the total PLFA by 25 % (Fig. 1A, Table 2), which was heavily influenced by a 37.5 % decrease in fungal (Fig. 1G) and a 27.1 % decrease in gram-negative bacterial (Fig. 1E) PLFA's. Gram-positive bacteria PLFA's (Fig. 1D) decreased less, and actinobacterial PLFA's (Fig. 1C) remained relatively unchanged, which led to an increase in the ratio between gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria (Fig. 1F). However, the total bacterial PLFA's were still lower in 50 N treatment overall (Fig. 1B) and the decrease in fungal PLFA's was bigger compared to bacterial PLFA's (Fig. 1I). The 12.5 N treatment did not differ significantly compared to the control in any of the PLFA markers measured (Fig. 1). In contrast to the fungal PLFA marker 18:206, ergosterol increased by 30.2 % in the 50 N treatment (Fig. 1H) but was not significantly higher than the control in 12.5 N treatment. Season had a relatively minor effect on PLFA's and ergosterol (Table 2), although fungal PLFA tended to be higher (p = 0.059) in the autumn. No significant interactions between N and season were detected in the PLFA or ergosterol measurements (Table 2).

3.2. Fungal community

After all filtering steps, clustering, and rarefaction, sequencing generated 4,397,997 sequences belonging to 1051 operational taxonomic units (OTU's). Of these, 610 were present in both humus and root samples, 433 exclusively in the humus samples, and 8 OTU's exclusively in the root samples (Fig. S1A). Additionally, 1011 OTU's were shared between the seasons, 29 were unique for summer and 11 to autumn sampling (Fig. S1B). Regarding N treatment, 875 OTU's were shared between the three treatments, 12 were only found in 0 N, 6 in 12.5 N and 15 in 50 N treatment (Fig. S1C). Of the 1051 OTU's, 816 (representing 90 % of all sequence reads) were assignable to ecological guild; 295 OTU's, comprising 55 % of all sequence reads were classified as ectomycorrhizal (54 % of humus sequences, 57 % of root sequences), and 51 OTU's, comprising 33 % of all sequence reads were classified as ericoid fungi (22 % of humus sequences, 46 % of root sequences). The fungal community differed significantly between N treatments for both the humus and root community (PERMANOVA p < 0.001, Table 2). Differences in community composition between humus and roots contributed most of the variation in the combined fungal community. explaining 52.4 % of the variation (Fig. S2). CAP analysis constrained with N treatment and the PERMANOVA show that the fungal community composition in both humus and roots was significantly different in the 50 N treatment from the 0 N and the 12.5 N treatment (Fig. 2).

Table 1

The effect of nitrogen treatment (0, 12.5, and 50 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ \times 20 years), season (summer vs. autumn), and their interaction on PLFA and sequenced microbial community composition assessed with permutational (9999) analysis of variances (PERMANOVA) testing the null-hypothesis that the community composition has the same centroid in multivariate space. The variation within groups did not differ significantly according to permutational test for homogeneity of multivariate dispersion (data not shown).

	Nitrogen treatment		Season		Nitrogen \times season	Nitrogen × season	
	Pseudo F-value	p-Value	Pseudo F-value	p-Value	Pseudo F-value	p-Value	
PLFA							
Humus	21.428	0.001	1.642	0.188	0.138	0.976	
Fungal community							
Total	7.075	0.001	0.956	0.364	0.462	0.923	
Humus	7.373	0.001	1.799	0.020	0.612	0.879	
Root	7.791	0.001	1.106	0.203	0.821	0.511	

Significant effects (p<0.05) are highlighted in bold font.

The humus community had a clear dominance of ascomycetes over basidiomycetes in the summer (57 % versus 40 %), shifting to become more evenly distributed in the autumn (46 % versus 51 %). The humus community was significantly affected by the N treatment based on PERMANOVA (Table 1). Among Agaricomycetes which alone constituted 33 % of the fungal community, and 73 % of the basidiomycetes, mixed responses to N at species level were observed. Specifically, EMF forming genera Russula and Tylospora increased with N addition (nitrophilic) based on linear mixed effects model (Table 2). Different OTU's within Russula responded in different directions (data not shown), notably, Russula vinosa was one of the most nitrophobic, whereas Russula griseascens was one of the most nitrophilic of all OTU's. The EMF genus Cortinarius sp. accounted for a large fraction of the OTUs (101 out of the total 1051 OTU's), and accounted for 12.4 % of all reads in the control treatment. At the genera level, Cortinarius were consistently nitrophobic as their relative abundance decreased by 45 % with N addition, a decline that was primarily driven by Cortinarius caperatus even though several OTU's at lower abundance were more strongly negatively correlated to the N treatments, most notably Cortinarius alpinus, Cortinarius brunneifolius, and Cortinarius acutus. The relative abundance of Tylospora, belonging to Atheliaceae, doubled in the 50 N treatment compared to the control. However, different Piloderma species, also belonging to Atheliaceae, usually declined with N treatment and Piloderma bicolor was among the most nitrophobic OTUs.

Using SIMPER analysis, the responsive fungal species were identified that contributed the most to dissimilarity between 0 N and 50 N samples (Table S3). Among the responsive species that cumulatively contributed to 30 % difference between N treatments, N increased the abundance of *Tylospora fibrillosa, Piloderma byssinum* and *Russula griseascens*, while *Oidiodendron pilicola, Cenococum geophilum, Piloderma sphaerosporum* and *Cortinarius caperatus* decreased (Fig. 3A). Based on PERMANOVA analysis, the humus community also changed significantly over the season (Table 1), with the basidiomycetes *Tylospora fibrillosa, Cortinarius caperatus*, and *Piloderma sphaerosporum* increasing, and the ascomycetes *Oidiodendron pilicola, Cenococum geophilum*, and *Pezoloma ericae* decreasing in the autumn (Table S4).

The root community was significantly different due to N treatment according to PERMANOVA (Table 2). SIMPER analysis identified taxa that contributed most to the differences between the 0 N and 50 N treatments (Table S5). For roots, the most responsive species that contributed to 40 % cumulative contribution of differences, N addition led to higher abundance of *Phialocephala fortinii, Piloderma byssinum, Piloderma ericae,* and *Meliniomyces variabilis,* and lower of *Meliniomyces bicolor, Piloderma sphaerosporum* and *Cenococcum geophilum* (Fig. 3B). Using PERMANOVA, season had no significant effect on the root community (Table 2), however based on SIMPER analysis the abundance of *Meliniomyces variabilis* and *Piloderma byssinum* increased in autumn, while abundance of *Leullia* sp., *Cenococcum geophilum* and *Piloderma sphaerosporum* decreased (Table S6). B. Forsmark et al.



Fig. 1. Composition of the microbial community in the organic layer of a boreal forest soil sampled during summer (triangle shape) and autumn (circle shape) after 20 years of annual nitrogen addition at three levels (0, 12.5, and 50 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) based on phospholipid fatty acid (PLFA) markers and free ergosterol analysis. Black circles represent the means and the error bars represent standard deviation, the N treatment *p*-values are linear mixed effects models values (Table 1) and different letters represent a statistically significant difference based on Tukey's HSD.

3.3. Enzyme activity

The highest N addition rate (50 N) increased the activity of endoglucanase and xylosidase (β -1.4-xylosidase), decreased the activity of peptidase (Leucine aminopeptidase) and peroxidase (Manganese(II)peroxidase), and nearly significantly (p < 0.06) decreased chitinase (β -1.4-N-acetylglucosaminidase), whereas glucosidase (β -1.4-glucosidase), phosphatase (acid-phosphatase), and laccase were unaffected (Fig. 4, Table 3). No significant differences in enzyme activities were detected between the control and the 12.5 N treatment (Fig. 4). The enzyme activity was higher in the autumn for glucosidase and peptidase, whereas the activity of phosphatase, xylosidase, chitinase, endoglucanase, peroxidase, and laccase remained constant (Fig. 4, Table 3). No interactions between N and season were detected (Table 3).

3.4. Associations between enzyme activities and humus fungal communities

Looking at association between enzyme activities and fungal species most responsive to N addition based on SIMPER analysis (Fig. 5), laccase was positively correlated with *Tylospora fibrillosa*, *Apiotrichum xylopini* and *Russula griseascens* and negatively with *Helotiales* sp. and *Piloderma sphaerosporum*. Peroxidase was positively correlated with *Oidiodendron pilicola* and *Helotiales* sp. and negatively with *Pezoloma ericae* (Fig. 5). Both chitinase and peptidase were positively correlated with *Piloderma bicolor* and peptidase was negatively correlated with *Pezoloma ericae* (Fig. 5). Phosphatase was negatively correlated with *Pezoloma ericae* (Fig. 5). *Cortinarius caperatus* was not significantly correlated with oxidative enzymes in our study (Fig. 5). In general, fungal species more abundant after N addition were positively correlated with N acquiring enzymes (Fig. 5). Contrasting, fungal species declining with added N were positively correlated with N acquiring enzymes and peroxidase and mostly negatively with laccase, phosphatase and C acquiring enzymes

4. Discussion

The main aim of this study was to investigate a key mechanism by which N deposition enhances soil C accumulation in boreal forest, which

Table 2

The effect of nitrogen treatment (0, 12.5, and 50 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ × 20 years), season (summer vs. autumn), and their interaction on aggregated microbial markers in the organic soil layer based on either Bligh & Dyer PLFA or ergosterol analysis, or the relative abundance of selected groups in the sequenced fungal community, assessed by linear mixed effects models with block (n = 12) as random factor.

	Nitrogen treatment		Season		Nitrogen × season	
	F- value	p- Value	F- value	p- Value	F- value	p- Value
Free ergosterol	8.116	0.001	1.703	0.197	0.533	0.590
PLFA						
Total	19.288	0.001	1.684	0.200	0.395	0.676
Fungi	18.884	0.001	3.719	0.059	0.215	0.807
Fungi:bacteria	6.731	0.002	2.412	0.126	0.132	0.877
Total bacteria	16.324	0.001	1.293	0.260	0.520	0.597
Gram positive (GP)	4.954	0.011	1.455	0.233	0.936	0.398
Gram negative	16.248	0.001	0.584	0.448	0.176	0.839
(GN)						
GP:GN	24.415	0.001	0.251	0.618	1.020	0.367
Actinobacteria	0.857	0.430	0.194	0.661	0.407	0.668
Fungal community						
Basidiomycetes:	0.609	0.547	10.469	0.002	1.954	0.151
Ascomycetes						
Ascomycetes	0.137	0.872	29.733	0.001	2.577	0.082
Basidiomycetes	0.154	0.858	28.895	0.001	2.602	0.083
Agaricomycetes	0.169	0.845	14.850	0.001	1.153	0.323
Russula	4.612	0.014	3.555	0.065	0.454	0.638
Atheliaceae	3.446	0.039	10.321	0.002	0.279	0.758
Cortinarius	9.914	0.001	8.414	0.005	1.281	0.286
Ectomycorrhiza	0.925	0.402	12.117	0.001	0.806	0.452

Significant effects (p<0.05) are highlighted in bold font.

we described in a previous study at this experimental site (Maaroufi et al., 2015). Specifically, we focused on the effect of N enrichment on microbial community composition and their associated enzyme activities using a long-term (20 years) N addition experiment. Such data are needed to explain the reduction in soil respiration and decomposition, and increase in soil C stocks that are frequently reported in boreal forests in response to external N enrichment (Blaško et al., 2022; de Vries et al., 2014; Forsmark et al., 2020a; Hyvönen et al., 2008; Janssens et al., 2010; Knorr et al., 2005).

Consistent with our first hypothesis, we found a clear shift in the microbial community composition based on PLFA and ergosterol data (Fig. 1, Tables 1 and 2). Similar to previous studies in the same experimental plots (Maaroufi et al., 2015), and a similar experiment in a Scots pine forest (Maaroufi et al., 2019), we found a clear decrease of 25 % in total PLFA between the control and 50 N treatment, but not between control and 12.5 N treatment. This effect was mainly driven by a decrease in fungal and gram-negative bacterial PLFA's, whereas the abundance of gram-positive bacterial and actinobacterial PLFA's were generally tolerant to changes in N, and in some cases even increased. Nitrogen addition significantly decreased fungal PLFA marker 18:206 in the 50 N treatment but had no significant effect in the 12.5 N treatment (Fig. 1, Table 2). A reduction in fungal abundance is consistent with many studies (Fog, 1988; Janssens et al., 2010; Treseder, 2008) and it has been linked to reductions in EMF mycelial growth (Nilsson and Wallander, 2003). The abundance of this marker also showed a nearly significant (p < 0.06) increase by 14 %, from summer to autumn sampling which corresponds to a time of the year when the allocation of C below-ground is high (Högberg et al., 2010). Our second biomarker for fungal abundance, ergosterol, indicated a contrasting response, as this marker increased with N addition in the 50 N treatment, and was equally abundant in summer and autumn. Similar discrepancies between the two markers have been previously reported in boreal forests (Blaško et al., 2022; Kyaschenko et al., 2017b). Fungal biomass is a major pool of organic N in boreal forests, and as ergosterol is a relatively more persistent biomarker than PLFA, it may accumulate to a greater degree

in soils when decomposition is disrupted, or other ecosystem perturbations occur (Clemmensen et al., 2013; Högberg, 2006; Zhao et al., 2005). For example, reductions in use of N from dead fungal necromass in response to N addition could be contributing to differences in the abundance of these two markers. Thus, the reduction in PLFA marker 18:2∞6 and accumulation of ergosterol due to N addition is likely caused by PLFA responding more strongly to a reduction in standing fungal biomass, whereas the relatively more stable ergosterol is likely responding more to the reduction in decomposition of dead fungal biomass.

DNA sequence data enabled a detailed analysis of the shifts in the fungal community composition of both humus and roots (Table 2, Fig. 2). Consistent with our hypothesis, predicting a shift from a dominance of Cortinarius and Piloderma to Tylospora and Russula, we found that the relative abundance of Cortinarius and Piloderma was 35 % and 45 % lower, respectively, in the humus samples in the 50 N treatment compared to the control. Considering that these genera together comprised one quarter of the fungal reads in the autumn, the decrease in these genera is likely to have contributed substantially to the reduction in the fungal PLFA marker 18:206 we observed in response to N. Additionally, as hypothesized, the EMF genera Russula and Tylospora increased with N addition. These responses are not unique to our study system but seems to be a common response to increased availability of inorganic N (Haas et al., 2018; Jörgensen et al., 2021; Marupakula et al., 2021), and the adaptations of these taxa and the activation of specific EMF under different levels of N availability is likely to play a key role in both nutrient acquisition and C cycling. Taken together, our characterization of the fungal community revealed that the N addition not only reduced the total abundance of PLFA marker 18:206 but also strongly restructured the fungal community from a dominance of EMF taxa known to be involved in organic N cycling towards taxa without the capacity to grow on organic N sources (Lilleskov et al., 2019).

For our second hypothesis, we predicted that changes in microbial community composition would correspond with shifts in soil enzyme activities. Particularly by decreasing activity of enzymes involved in organic N uptake and lignin decomposition after N addition, and increasing activity of P acquisition. Consistent with our hypothesis, the highest N addition rate markedly decreased the activity of peptidases and peroxidase, and nearly significantly decreased the activity of chitinase (Fig. 4). This decreased activity between control and 50 N for the N acquiring enzymes, peptidase and chitinase, indicates a reduction in the breakdown of microbial necromass. This decrease can indicate some combination of down-regulation of resorption of N in microbial necromass when the supply of mineral N is high, and that microbial biomass or necromass is less abundant. Based on the correlation analysis (Fig. 5), chitinase and peptidase were positively correlated with fungal species whose abundance decreased with N addition. This indicates that a reduction in abundance of species like Cortinarius and Piloderma, which are known for organic N acquisition (Lilleskov et al., 2011), is probably connected to the observed decrease in activity of N acquiring enzymes. The phosphatase activity, which we hypothesized to increase due to induced relative demand for P (Almeida et al., 2019; Vitousek et al., 2010), did not change after N addition. This observation corroborates the view that anthropogenic N deposition is unlikely to induce P limitations in boreal forests on minerogenic parent material (Forsmark et al., 2020b)

Mn-peroxidase plays a major role in mineralization of complex compounds such as lignin and other phenolics (Baldrian and Stursova, 2011; Sinsabaugh, 2010), and has been proposed as a mechanism to mineralize N when N is predominantly bound in recalcitrant organic matter (Bödeker et al., 2014). The observed decrease in its activity due to higher N availability observed in this and other studies (Moore et al., 2021), is likely to contribute to the decline in soil CO₂ efflux reported in this experiment (Maaroufi et al., 2015), and many others (Blasko et al., 2022; Forsmark et al., 2020a; Janssens et al., 2010), by decreasing extracellular oxidation of C, in addition to potential decreases in cellular



Fig. 2. Canonical analysis of principal coordinates (CAP) of fungal communities in (A) humus and (B) fine-root constrained with nitrogen addition rate (0, 12.5, and 50 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ \times 20 years) and season (summer (triangle shape) and autumn (circle shape)). Insert tables show percentage similarity in community composition within and between nitrogen treatments, with significant differences according to PERMANOVA in bold.

respiration due to lower microbial biomass and higher C use efficiencies. Peroxidase, like other N acquiring enzymes, was positively correlated with fungal species that are less abundant in high N environments. *Cortinarius caperatus*, which has previously been reported to be correlated with peroxidases (Bödeker et al., 2014; Lindahl et al., 2021), was not significantly correlated with peroxidase in our study, which could be due to site-specific differences. Laccase, which is an oxidative enzyme also responsible for lignin mineralization (Thurston, 1994), was unresponsive to N addition and in contrast to peroxidase was positively correlated with fungal species that increased after N addition. However, laccases are known to have a wide range of substrates in addition to lignin (Thurston, 1994), which could potentially be the reason for the difference between the observed laccase and peroxidase activity. The fungal community shift with a decrease in fungal species known for



Fig. 3. The relative abundance (%) of responsive fungal species based on SIMPER analysis in (A) humus (up to 30 % cumulative contribution to differences) and (B) fine-root (up to 40 % cumulative contribution to differences) samples collected during summer and autumn on plots with annual N addition at three rates (0, 12.5, and 50 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). Species are listed by their contribution to differences based on SIMPER in increasing order, each value is the average of two sampling occasions and note that the y-axis is broken at 30 % cumulative read abundance.

organic N acquisition corresponds with a general decrease in extracellular catabolic activity associated with organic N uptake and this decrease likely reflects an increase in labile inorganic N supplied in the experimental treatments leading to reduced incentives to mine recalcitrant organic matter for organic N.

In addition to the general decrease in enzymes involved in degradation and uptake of N in recalcitrant organic matter, N also enhanced the activity of hydrolytic enzymes involved in labile C uptake (Fig. 4). The abundance of labile C in soil organic matter is minor compared to the large pool of recalcitrant fractions, and the upregulation of these enzymes is not likely to lead to any significant soil C loss, compared to the oxidative enzymes that can destabilize lignin complexes. The response may, however, shed some light on the underlying mechanism driving C accumulation in response to N enrichment (de Vries et al., 2014; Forsmark et al., 2020a; Maaroufi et al., 2015). Carbon acquiring enzymes, including glucosidase, endoglucanase and xylosidase were positively correlated with fungal species whose abundance increased after N addition, and negatively with species whose abundance decreased. Previous work in our study system has shown that N addition increases the production of plant biomass above and below ground (Forsmark et al., 2020a; From et al., 2016; Maaroufi et al., 2016), while reduces soil respiration (Forsmark et al., 2020a; Maaroufi et al., 2015) and decomposition (Forsmark et al., 2021; Maaroufi et al., 2016). In light of these previous studies, the upregulation of enzymes involved in the acquisition of labile C from soil organic matter appears to be linked to a major shift in C use in response to N enrichment, where less C is supplied to EMF and other microbes to stimulate depolymerization of soil organic matter for N acquisition (Allison et al., 2010; Janssens et al., 2010; Soong et al., 2020), and more C is used to build biomass (Campioli et al., 2015; Forsmark et al., 2021; Moorhead and Sinsabaugh, 2006; Spohn et al., 2016), eventually entering the soil organic matter pool as root and microbial litter.

5. Conclusions

Our study has several implications for understanding the impact of N deposition on soil C stocks. Firstly, our study clearly shows that N deposition can drive large shifts in the soil fungal community and their



Fig. 4. Interaction plot of potential enzyme activity across three levels of nitrogen addition (0, 12.5, and 50 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ × 20 years) at summer (triangle shape) and autumn (circle shape). Values are the natural logarithm of molar cleavage of enzyme specific substrates standardized to the amount of carbon in each sample (molar substrate cleavage h⁻¹ g C⁻¹). Black dots represent the mean and the error bars represent standard errors of the mean (n = 12), while the N treatment p-values are values from linear mixed effects models (Table 3) and different letters represent statistical difference based on Tukey's HSD.

associated enzyme activities. In our 20 year-long experimental simulation of N deposition, these effects were most clearly pronounced for the high N addition treatment. For the low N addition treatment, corresponding with upper N deposition rates in the boreal region, no effects were detected, suggesting that very high rates of N deposition are required to drive significant changes in soil functioning. Secondly, the response of the microbial community was predictable, as the turnover of the fungal community was associated with a shift from EMF taxa capable of growing on pure organic N sources to taxa without this capability in N enriched treatments. This shift was associated with down-regulation of enzymes involved in degradation of complex organic structures and the uptake of peptides, and up-regulation of enzymes involved in uptake of simple carbohydrates. Thirdly, our results are consistent with theoretical modeling frameworks focusing on the energy demand of organic N uptake (Chen et al., 2014; Craine et al., 2007; Orwin et al., 2011), and on the role of element stoichiometry in regulating the loss of C through respiration (Chen et al., 2014; Liang et al., 2017; Luo et al., 2016). Understanding the mechanisms and functional aspects of anthropogenic N deposition effects on the changes in soil C stocks, which can have a strong effect on the global C cycle (Lal, 2005), is extremely important for a better understanding the effect of N supply on the global C cycle, especially considering a changing climate (Gruber and Galloway, 2008).

Table 3

The effect of nitrogen treatment, season, and their interaction on the natural logarithm of the potential activity (molar substrate cleavage h^{-1} g C^{-1}) of soil enzymes evaluated by linear mixed models with block (n = 12) defined as random factor.

Enzyme	Nitrogen treatment			Season			Nitrogen \times season	
	Direction	F-value	p-Value	Sign	F-value	p-Value	F-value	p-Value
Glucosidase		3.000	0.058	+	11.026	0.002	1.632	0.205
Endoglucanase	+	7.124	0.002		0.251	0.619	1.405	0.256
Xylosidase	+	4.096	0.027		3.538	0.070	0.197	0.822
Phosphatase		0.536	0.588		2.875	0.096	0.177	0.838
Chitinase		2.951	0.061		1.965	0.167	0.003	0.997
Peptidase	-	17.966	0.001	+	18.859	0.001	0.659	0.521
Peroxidase	-	6.945	0.002		0.012	0.912	0.371	0.692
Laccase		0.321	0.727		1.196	0.279	0.533	0.590

Significant effects (p<0.05) are highlighted in bold font.



Fig. 5. Heatmap portraying Spearman's correlation coefficient between enzyme activity for carbon, phosphorus and nitrogen acquiring enzymes and oxidative enzymes and fungal species identified by SIMPER analysis to contribute to 30 % cumulative contribution. The circles by fungal species represent the individual species cumulative contribution to differences between 0 and 50 N samples according to SIMPER analysis and their sign indicates if their abundance decreased (–) or increased (+) with nitrogen addition. The statistically significant p-values are portrayed by stars (* represents p < 0.05, and ** p < 0.01).

The agreement of the data from our detailed profiling of the microbial community composition and metabolism with these modeling frameworks can therefore enable more precise predictions of the future soil C balance (Averill and Waring, 2017; Luo et al., 2016; Stocker et al., 2016; Terrer et al., 2021).

CRediT authorship contribution statement

Benjamin Forsmark: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Investigation, Visualization, Writing – original draft. Tinkara Bizjak: Formal analysis, Investigation, Visualization, Writing – original draft. Annika Nordin: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – review & editing. Nicholas P. Rosenstock: Conceptualization, Formal analysis, Investigation, Writing – review & editing. Håkan Wallander: Conceptualization, Writing – review & editing. Michael J. Gundale: Conceptualization, Supervision, Writing – review & editing.

Declaration of competing interest

AN declares employment with Stora Enso, and BF with the forestry cooperative Södra Skogsägarna. TB, NPR, HW and MJG declare no competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Data availability

The data that support the findings of this study are openly available on the SafeDeposit at the Swedish University of Agriculture server http://www.safedeposit.se/, reference ID: 425.

Acknowledgements

The study was funded by the Swedish Research Council for Environment, Agricultural Sciences and Spatial Planning (FORMAS) and the Knut and Alice Wallenberg Foundation. The field experiment and support for our measurements were provided by the Swedish infrastructure for terrestrial ecosystem sciences (SITES) and the Unit for Field-based Research (ESF). We are thankful to Nadia Binte Obaid for creating the graphical abstract using BioRender.com and Erik Lilleskov, Mark Bonner, and Scott Buckley for providing valuable feedback on an early version of the manuscript.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2024.170741.

References

Allison, S.D., 2012. Fluorimetric and Oxidative Enzyme Assay Protocol.

B. Forsmark et al.

- Allison, S., Weintraub, M., Gartner, T., Waldrop, M., 2010. Evolutionary-economic principles as regulators of soil enzyme production and ecosystem function. In: Shukla, G., Varma, A. (Eds.), Soil Enzymology. 22. Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg.
- Almeida, J.P., Rosenstock, N.P., Forsmark, B., Bergh, J., Wallander, H., 2019, Ectomycorrhizal community composition and function in a spruce forest een nitrogen and phosphorus limitation. Fungal Ecol. 40, 20-31. transitioning bety
- Argiroff, W.A., Zak, D.R., Pellitier, P.T., Upchurch, R.A., Belke, J.P., 2022. Decay 1 ectomycorrhizal fungi couples soil organic matter to nitrogen availability. Ecol. Lett. 25, 391-404.
- Averill, C., Waring, B., 2017. Nitrogen limitation of decomposition and decay: how can it occur? Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, 1417–1427.
- Baldrian, P., 2009. Microbial enzyme-catalyzed processes in soils and their analysis. Plant Soil Environ. 55, 370-378.
- Baldrian, P., Stursova, M., 2011. Enzymes in forest soils. In: Shukla, G., Varma, A. (Eds.), Soil Enzymology. 22. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Berlin, pp. 61–73.
- Bending, G.D., Read, D.J., 1995. The structure and function of the vegetative mycelium of ectomycorrhizal plants. V. Foraging behaviour and translocation of nutrients from exploited litter. New Phytol. 130, 401-409.
- Bengtsson-Palme, J., Ryberg, M., Hartmann, M., Branco, S., Wang, Z., Godhe, A., Wit, P., Sanchez-García, M., Ebersberger, I., Sousa, F., Amend, A., 2013. Improved softw detection and extraction of ITS1 and ITS2 from ribosomal ITS sequences of fungi and other eukaryotes for use in environmental sequencing. Methods Ecol. Evol. 4, 914-919.
- Berg, B., 2014. Decomposition patterns for foliar litter a theory for influencing factors. Soil Biol. Biochem. 78, 222-232.
- Blaško, R., Forsmark, B., Gundale, M.J., Lim, H., Lundmark, T., Nordin, A., 2022. The carbon sequestration response of aboveground biomass and soils to nutrier enrichment in boreal forests depends on baseline site productivity. Sci. Total Environ. 838, 156327.
- Bligh, E.G., Dyer, W.J., 1959. A rapid method of total lipid extraction and purification. Can. J. Biochem. Physiol. 37.
- Bödeker, I.T.M., Clemmensen, K.E., de Boer, W., Martin, F., Olson, A., Lindahl, B.D., 2014. Ectomycorrhizal Cortinarius species participate in enzymatic oxidation of humus in northern forest ecosystems. New Phytol. 203, 245-256.
- Bödeker, I.T.M., Lindahl, B.D., Olson, A., Clemmensen, K.E., 2016. Mycorrhizal and saprotrophic fungal guilds compete for the same organic substrates but affect decomposition differently. Funct. Ecol. 30, 1967-1978.
- Campioli, M., Vicca, S., Luyssaert, S., Bilcke, J., Ceschia, E., Chapin Iii, F.S., et al., 2015. Biomass production efficiency controlled by management in temperate and boreal ecosystems. Nat. Geosci. 8, 843-846.
- Chen, R.R., Senbayram, M., Blagodatsky, S., Myachina, O., Dittert, K., Lin, X.G., et al., 2014. Soil C and N availability determine the priming effect: microbial N mining and stoichiometric decomposition theories. Glob. Chang. Biol. 20, 2356-2367.
- Clemmensen, K.E., Bahr, A., Ovaskainen, O., Dahlberg, A., Ekblad, A., Wallander, H., et al., 2013. Roots and associated fungi drive long-term carbon sequestration in boreal forest. Science 339, 1615-1618.
- Clemmensen, K.E., Durling, M.B., Michelsen, A., Hallin, S., Finlay, R.D., Lindahl, B.D., 2021. A tipping point in carbon storage when forest expands into tundra is related to mycorrhizal recycling of nitrogen. Ecol. Lett. 24, 1193–1204.
- Craine, J.M., Morrow, C., Fierer, N., 2007. Microbial nitrogen limitation increases decomposition. Ecology 88, 2105-2113.
- Crowther, T.W., Jvd, Hoogen, Wan, J., Mayes, M.A., Keiser, A.D., Mo, L., et al., 2019. The global soil community and its influence on biogeochemistry. Science 365.
- Dahlberg, A., Jonsson, L., Nylund, J.E., 1997. Species diversity and distribution of biomass above and below ground among ectomycorrhizal fungi in an old-growth Norway spruce forest in south Sweden. Canadian Journal of Botany-Revu Canadienne De Botanique 75, 1323-1335.
- de Vries, W., Du, E.Z., Butterbach-Bahl, K., 2014. Short and long-term impacts of nitrogen deposition on carbon sequestration by forest ecosystems. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 9-10, 90–104.
- Deluca, T.H., Boisvenue, C., 2012. Boreal forest soil carbon: distribution, function and modelling. Forestry 85, 161-184. Dixon, P., 2003. VEGAN, a package of R functions for community ecology. J. Veg. Sci. 14,
- 927-930.
- Fernandez, C.W., Kennedy, P.G., 2016. Revisiting the 'Gadgil effect': do interguild fungal interactions control carbon cycling in forest soils? New Phytol. 209, 1382-1394.
- Floudas, D., Binder, M., Riley, R., Barry, K., Blanchette, R.A., Henrissat, B., et al., 2012. The Paleozoic origin of enzymatic lignin decomposition reconstructed from 31 fungal genomes. Science 336, 1715–1719.
- Fog, K., 1988. The effect of added nitrogen on the rate of decomposition of organic matter. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 63, 433-462.
- Forsmark, B., Nordin, A., Maaroufi, N.I., Lundmark, T., Gundale, M.J., 2020a. Low and high nitrogen deposition rates in northern coniferous forests have different impacts on aboveground litter production, soil respiration, and soil carbon stocks Ecosystems 23, 1423-1436.
- Forsmark, B., Wallander, H., Nordin, A., Gundale, M.J., Stevens, C., 2020b. Long-term nitrogen enrichment does not increase microbial phosphorus mobilization in a northern coniferous forest. Funct. Ecol. 35, 277-287. Forsmark, B., Nordin, A., Rosenstock, N.P., Wallander, H., Gundale, M.J., 2021.
- Anthropogenic nitrogen enrichment increased the efficiency of belowground biomass production in a boreal forest. Soil Biol. Biochem. 155.
- From, F., Lundmark, T., Mörling, T., Pommerening, A., Nordin, A., 2016. Effects of simulated long-term N deposition on Picea abies and Pinus sylvestris growth in boreal forest. Can. J. For. Res. 46, 1396-1403.

- Frostegård, A., Bååth, E., 1996. The use of phospholipid fatty acid analysis to estimate bacterial and fungal biomass in soil. Biol. Fertil. Soils 22, 59–65. Frostegård, A., Tunlid, A., Bååth, E., 2011. Use and misuse of PLFA measurements in
- soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 43, 1621-1625. Gadgil, R.L., Gadgil, P.D., 1971. Mycorrhiza and litter decomposition. Nature 233, 133. Gadgil, R., Gadgil, P., 1975. Suppression of litter decomposition by mycorrhizal roots of
- Pinus radiata. N. Z. J. For. Sci. 35-41. Gardes, M., Bruns, T.D., 1993. ITS Primers with enhanced specificity for Basidiomycetes application to the identification of mycorrhizae and rusts. Mol. Ecol. 2, 113–118.
- Gottel, N.R., Castro, H.F., Kerley, M., Yang, Z., Pelletier, D.A., Podar, M., et al., 2011 Distinct microbial communities within the endosphere and rhizosphere of Populus deltoides roots across contrasting soil types. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 77, 5934-5944.
- Gruber, N., Galloway, J.N., 2008. An Earth-system perspective of the global nitrogen cycle. Nature 451, 293-296.
- Gundale, M.J., Deluca, T.H., Nordin, A., 2011. Bryophytes attenuate anthropogenic nitrogen inputs in boreal forests. Glob. Chang. Biol. 17, 2743-2753.
- Gundale, M.J., From, F., Bach, L.H., Nordin, A., 2014. Anthropogenic nitrog en denosition in boreal forests has a minor impact on the global carbon cycle. Glob. Chang. Biol. 20, 276-286.
- Gundale, M.J., Almeida, J.P., Wallander, H., Wardle, D.A., Kardol, P., Nilsson, M.C. et al., 2016. Differences in endophyte communities of introduced trees depend on the phylogenetic relatedness of the receiving forest. J. Ecol. 104, 1219–1232.
- J.C., Street, N.R., Sjödin, A., Lee, N.M., Högberg, M.N., Näsholm, T., et al., 2018. Microbial community response to growing season and plant nutrient optimisation in a boreal Norway spruce forest. Soil Biol. Biochem. 125, 197–209.
- Hao, X., Jiang, R., Chen, T., 2011. Clustering 16S rRNA for OTU prediction: a method of unsupervised Bayesian clustering. Bioinformatics 27, 611-618. Hasselquist, N.J., Metcalfe, D.B., Högberg, P., 2012. Contrasting effects of low and high
- nitrogen additions on soil CO2 flux components and ectomycorrhizal fungal porocarp production in a boreal forest. Glob. Chang. Biol. 18, 3596-3605
- Högberg MN. Discrepancies between ergosterol and the phospholipid fatty acid 18:2 omega 6,9 as biomarkers for fungi in boreal forest soils. Soil Biol. Biochem. 2006; 38: 3431-3435.
- Högberg, P., Nordgren, A., Buchmann, N., Taylor, A.F.S., Ekblad, A., Högberg, M.N., et al., 2001. Large-scale forest girdling shows that current photosynthesis drives soil respiration. Nature 411, 789–792.
- Högberg, M.N., Briones, M.J.I., Keel, S.G., Metcalfe, D.B., Campbell, C., Midwood, A.J., et al., 2010. Quantification of effects of season and nitrogen supply on tree belowground carbon transfer to ectomycorrhizal fungi and other soil organisms in a boreal pine forest. New Phytol. 187, 485-493.
- Hyvönen, R., Persson, T., Andersson, S., Olsson, B., Ågren, G.I., Linder, S., 2008. Impact of long-term nitrogen addition on carbon stocks in trees and soils in northern Europe. Biogeochemistry 89, 121-137.

- COSS, 2023. https://www.icos-sweden.se/Svartberget.
 Ihrmark, K., Bodeker, I.T.M., Cruz-Martinez, K., Friberg, H., Kubartova, A., Schenck, J., et al., 2012. New primers to amplify the fungal ITS2 region evaluation by 454sequencing of artificial and natural communities. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 82 666-677
- Janssens, I.A., Dieleman, W., Luyssaert, S., Subke, J.A., Reichstein, M., Ceulemans, R., et al., 2010. Reduction of forest soil respiration in response to nitrogen deposition. Nat. Geosci. 3, 315-322.
- Jörgensen, K., Granath, G., Strengbom, J., Lindahl, B.D., 2021, Links between boreal forest management, soil fungal communities and below-ground carbon sequestration. Funct. Ecol. 36, 392-405.
- Kaiser, C., Koranda, M., Kitzler, B., Fuchslueger, L., Schnecker, J., Schweiger, P., et al., 2010. Belowground carbon allocation by trees drives seasonal patterns of extracellular enzyme activities by altering microbial community composition in a
- beech forest soil. New Phytol. 187, 843–858. Knorr, M., Frey, S.D., Curtis, P.S., 2005. Nitrogen additions and litter decomposition: a meta-analysis. Ecology 86, 3252–3257.
- Kohler, A., Kuo, A., Nagy, L.G., Morin, E., Barry, K.W., Buscot, F., et al., 2015. Convergent losses of decay mechanisms and rapid turnover of symbiosis genes in mycorrhizal mutualists. Nat. Genet. 47, 410-415.
- Koljalg, U., Larsson, K.H., Abarenkov, K., Nilsson, R.H., Alexander, I.J., Eberhardt, U., et al., 2005. UNITE: a database providing web-based methods for the molecular identification of ectomycorrhizal fungi. New Phytol. 166, 1063–1068.
- Koljalg, U., Nilsson, R.H., Abarenkov, K., Tedersoo, L., Taylor, A.F.S., Bahram, M., et al., 2013. Towards a unified paradigm for sequence-based identification of fungi. Mol. Ecol. 22, 5271-5277.
- Kuyper, T.W., 2017. Carbon and energy sources of mycorrhizal fungi: obligate symbionts or latent Saprotrophs. In: Johnson, N.C., Gehring, C., Jansa, J. (Eds.), Mycorrhizal Mediation of Soil - Fertility, Structure, and Carbon Storage. Elsevier, Amsterdam, Netherlands, pp. 357-374.
- Kyaschenko, J., Clemmensen, K.E., Hagenbo, A., Karltun, E., Lindahl, B.D., 2017a. Shift in fungal communities and associated enzyme activities along an age gradient of managed Pinus sylvestris stands. ISME J. 11, 863-874.
- Kyaschenko, J., Clemmensen, K.E., Karltun, E., Lindahl, B.D., 2017b. Below-ground organic matter accumulation along a boreal forest fertility gradient relates to guild interaction within fungal communities. Ecol. Lett. 20, 1546-1555.
- Lal, R., 2005. Forest soils and carbon sequestration. For. Ecol. Manag. 220, 242-258. alammi-Kujansuu, J., Salemaa, M., Kleja, D.B., Linder, S., Helmisaari, H.-S., 2014. Fine root turnover and litter production of Norway spruce in a long-term
- temperature and nutrient manipulation experiment. Plant Soil 374, 73–88. Liang, C., Schimel, J.P., Jastrow, J.D., 2017. The importance of anabolism in microbial control over soil carbon storage. Nat. Microbiol. 2, 17105.

B. Forsmark et al.

- Lilleskov, E.A., Hobbie, E.A., Horton, T.R., 2011. Conservation of ectomycorrhizal fungi: exploring the linkages between functional and taxonomic responses to anthropogenic N deposition. Fungal Ecol. 4, 174–183.
- Lilleskov, E.A., Kuyper, T.W., Bidartondo, M.I., Hobbie, E.A., 2019. Atmospheric nitrogen deposition impacts on the structure and function of forest mycorrhizal communities: a review. Environ. Pollut. 246, 148–162.
- Lindahl, B.D., Tunlid, A., 2015. Ectomycorrhizal fungi potential organic matter decomposers, yet not saprotrophs. New Phytol. 205, 1443–1447. Lindahl, B.D., Ihrmark, K., Boberg, J., Trumbore, S.E., Hogberg, P., Stenlid, J., et al.,
- Landani, S.D., animars, K., Bobelg, S., Hennboet, S.L., Hogerg, F., Steinn, S., et al., 2007. Spatial separation of litter decomposition and mycorrhizal infragen uptake in a boreal forest. New Phytol. 173, 611–620. Undahl, B.D. Kvaschenko, L. Varenius, K. Clemmensen, K.E. Dahlbere, A. Karltun, E.
- Lindahl, B.D., Kyaschenko, J., Varenius, K., Clemmensen, K.E., Dahlberg, A., Karltun, E., et al., 2021. A group of ectomycorrhizal fungi restricts organic matter accumulation in boreal forest. Ecol. Lett. 24, 1341–1351.
- Linder, S., 1995. Foliar analysis for detecting and correcting nutrient imbalances in Norway spruce. In: Staaf, H., Tyler, G. (Eds.), Ecological Bulletins; Effects of Acid Deposition and Tropospheric Ozone on Forest Ecosystems in Sweden, vol. 44.
- Munksgaard (a), 35 Norre Sogade, DK 1370 Oopenhagen, Denmark, pp. 178–190.Liu, X.J., Zhang, Y., Han, W.X., Tang, A.H., Shen, J.L., Cui, Z.L., et al., 2013. Enhanced nitrogen deposition over China. Nature 494, 459–462.
- Luo, Y.Q., Ahlstrom, A., Allison, S.D., Batjes, N.H., Brovkin, V., Carvalhais, N., et al., 2016. Toward more realistic projections of soil carbon dynamics by Earth system models. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 30, 40–56.
- Maaroufi, N.I., Nordin, A., Hasselquist, N.J., Bach, L.H., Palmqvist, K., Gundale, M.J., 2015. Anthropogenic nitrogen deposition enhances carbon sequestration in boreal soils. Glob. Chang. Biol. 21, 3169–3180.
- Maaroufi, N.I., Nordin, A., Palmqvist, K., Gundale, M.J., 2016. Chronic nitrogen deposition has a minor effect on the quantity and quality of aboveground litter in a boreal forest. PLoS One 11. e0162086.
- Maaroufi, N.I., Nordin, A., Palmquist, K., Gundale, M.J., 2017. Nitrogen enrichment impacts on boreal litter decomposition are driven by changes in soil microbiota rather than litter quality. Sci. Rep. 7.
- Maaroufi, N.I., Nordin, A., Palmqvist, K., Hasselquist, N.J., Forsmark, B., Rosenstock, N. P., et al., 2019. Anthropogenic nitrogen enrichment enhances soil carbon accumulation by impacting saprotrophs rather than ectomycorrhizal fungal activity. Glob. Chang. Biol. 25, 2900–2914.
- Marupakula, S., Mahmood, S., Clemmensen, K.E., Jacobson, S., Hogbom, L., Finlay, R.D., 2021. Root associated fungi respond more strongly than rhizosphere soil fungi to N fertilization in a boreal forest. Sci. Total Environ. 766, 142597.
- McIntosh, A.C.S., Macdonald, S.E., Gundale, M.J., 2012. Tree species versus regional controls on ecosystem properties and processes: an example using introduced Pinus contorta in Swedish boreal forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research-Revue Canadienne De Recherche Forestiere 42, 1228–1238.
- McMurdie, P., Holmes, S., 2013. phyloseq: an R package for reproducible interactive analysis and graphics of microbiome census data. PLoS One 8 (4).
- Moore, J.A.M., Anthony, M.A., Pec, G.J., Trocha, L.K., Trzebny, A., Geyer, K.M., et al., 2021. Fungal community structure and function shifts with atmospheric nitrogen deposition. Glob. Chang. Biol. 27, 1349–1364.
- Moorhead, D.L., Sinsabaugh, R.L., 2006. A theoretical model of litter decay and microbial interaction. Ecol. Monogr. 76, 151–174.
- Morgenstern, I., Klopman, S., Hibbett, D.S., 2008. Molecular evolution and diversity of lignin degrading heme peroxidases in the agaricomycetes. J. Mol. Evol. 66, 243–257.
 Näsholm, T., Ekblad, A., Nordin, A., Giesler, R., Högberg, M., Högberg, P., 1998. Boreal
- forest plants take up organic nitrogen. Nature 392, 914–916.
- Nguyen, N.H., Song, Z., Bates, S.T., Branco, S., Tedersoo, L., Menke, J., et al., 2016. FUJNGuild: an open annotation tool for parsing fungal community datasets by ecological guild. Fungal Ecol. 20, 241–248.
- Nicolas, C., Martin-Bertelsen, T., Floudas, D., Bentzer, J., Smits, M., Johansson, T., et al., 2019. The soil organic matter decomposition mechanisms in ectomycorrhizal fungi are tuned for liberating soil organic nitrogen. ISME J. 13, 977–988.
- Nilsson, L.O., Wallander, H., 2003. Production of external mycelium by ectomycorrhizal fungi in a Norway spruce forest was reduced in response to nitrogen fertilization. New Phytol. 158, 409–416.
- Nohrstedt, H.Ö., Arnebrant, K., Bååth, E., Söderström, B., 1989. Changes in carbon content, respiration rate, ATP content, and microbial biomass in nitrogen-fertilized pine forest soils in Sweden. Can. J. For. Res. 19, 323–328.
- Oksanen, J., 2015. Multivariate Analysis of Ecological Communities in R: vegan Tutorial. Orwin, K.H., Kirschbaum, M.U., St John, M.G., Dickie, I.A., 2011. Organic nutrient
- uptake by mycorrhizal fungi enhances ecosystem carbon storage: a model-based assessment. Ecol. Lett. 14, 493-502.
- Paul, E.A., 2015. Soil Microbiology, Ecology and Biochemistry. Academic Press. Reay, D.S., Dentener, F., Smith, P., Grace, J., Feely, R.A., 2008. Global nitrogen deposition and carbon sinks. Nat. Geosci. 1, 430–437.
- Rosling, A., Landeweert, R., Lindahl, B.D., Larsson, K.H., Kuyper, T.W., Taylor, A.F.S., et al., 2003. Vertical distribution of ectomycorrhizal fungal taxa in a podzol soil profile. New Phytol. 159, 775–783.
- Saiya-Cork, K.R., Sinsabaugh, R.L., Zak, D.R., 2002. The effects of long term nitrogen deposition on extracellular enzyme activity in an Acer saccharum forest soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 34, 1309–1315.

- Schimel, J.P., Bennett, J., 2004. Nitrogen mineralization: challenges of a changing paradigm. Ecology 85, 591–602.Schloss PD, Westcott, S.L., Ryabin, T., Hall, J.R., Hartmann, M., Hollister, E.B., Lesniewski, R.A., Oakley, B.B., Parks, D.H., Robinson, C.J., Sahl, J.W. Introducing mothur: onen-source. Distrom-independent. community-sup- norted software for
- describing and comparing microbial communities. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2009; 75.Schmidt, M.W.I., Torn, M.S., Abiven, S., Dittmar, T., Guggenberger, G., Janssens, I.A.,
- et al., 2011. Persistence of soil organic matter as an ecosystem property. Nature 478, 49–56.
- Sinsabaugh, R.L., 2010. Phenol oxidase, peroxidase and organic matter dynamics of soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 42, 391–404.
- Sinsabaugh, R.L., Lauber, C.L., Weintraub, M.N., Ahmed, B., Allison, S.D., Crenshaw, C., et al., 2008. Stoichiometry of soil enzyme activity at global scale. Ecol. Lett. 11, 1252–1264.
- SMHI. In: Institute SMaH, editor, 2019.
- Smith, S.E., Read, D.J., 2008. Mycorrhizal Symbiosis. Great Britain Elsevier Academic press.
- Soong, J.L., Fuchslueger, L., Maranon-Jimenez, S., Torn, M.S., Janssens, I.A., Penuelas, J., et al., 2020. Microbial carbon limitation: the need for integrating microorganisms into our understanding of ecosystem carbon cycling. Glob. Chang. Biol. 26, 1953–1961.
- Spohn, M., Pötsch, E.M., Eichorst, S.A., Woebken, D., Wanek, W., Richter, A., 2016. Soil microbial carbon use efficiency and bioast surnover in a long-term fertilization experiment in a temperate grassland. Soil Biol. Biochem. 97, 168–175.
- Stendahl, J., Berg, B., Lindahl, B.D., 2017. Manganese availability is negatively associated with carbon storage in northern coniferous forest humus layers. Sci. Rep. 7, 6.
- Stocker, B.D., Prentice, I.C., Cornell, S.E., Davies-Barnard, T., Finzi, A.C., Franklin, O., et al., 2016. Terrestrial nitrogen cycling in Earth system models revisited. New Phytol. 210, 1165–1168.
- Stiver, B.M., Gundale, M.J., Wardle, D.A., Nilsson, M.C., 2015. Nitrogen fixation rates associated with the feather mosses Pleurozium schreberi and Hylocomium splendens during forest stand development following clear-cutting. For. Ecol. Manag. 347, 130–139.
- Talbot, J.M., Allison, S.D., Treseder, K.K., 2008. Decomposers in disguise: mycorrhizal fungi as regulators of soil C dynamics in ecosystems under global change. Funct. Ecol. 22, 955–963.
- Tarnocai, C., Canadell, J.G., Schuur, E.A.G., Kuhry, P., Mazhitova, G., Zimov, S., 2009. Soil organic carbon pools in the northern circumpolar permafrost region. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycles 23, 1–11.
- Tedersoo, L., May, T.W., Smith, M.E., 2010. Ectomycorrhizal lifestyle in fungi: global diversity, distribution, and evolution of phylogenetic lineages. Mycorrhiza 20, 217–263.
- Templer, P.H., Mack, M.C., Chapin, F.S., Christenson, L.M., Compton, J.E., Crook, H.D., et al., 2012. Sinks for nitrogen inputs in terrestrial ecosystems: a meta-analysis of N-15 tracer field studies. Ecology 93, 1816–1829.
- Terrer, C., Phillips, R.P., Hungate, B.A., Rosende, J., Pett-Ridge, J., Craig, M.E., et al., 2021. A trade-off between plant and soil carbon storage under elevated CO(2). Nature 591, 599–603.
- Thomas, R.Q., Brookshire, E.N.J., Gerber, S., 2015. Nitrogen limitation on land: how can it occur in Earth system models? Glob. Chang. Biol. 21, 1777–1793.
- Thurston, C.F., 1994. The structure and function of fungal laccases. Microbiology 140, 19-26.
- Tipping, E., Davies, J.A.C., Henrys, P.A., Kirk, G.J.D., Lilly, A., Dragosits, U., et al., 2017. Long-term increases in soil carbon due to ecosystem fertilization by atmospheric nitrogen deposition demonstrated by regional-scale modelling and observations. Sci. Rep. 7, 11.
- Todd-Brown, K.E.O., Hopkins, F.M., Kivlin, S.N., Talbot, J.M., Allison, S.D., 2012. A framework for representing microbial decomposition in coupled climate models. Biogeochemistry 109, 19–33.
- Treseder, K.K., 2008. Nitrogen additions and microbial biomass: a meta-analysis of ecosystem studies. Ecol. Lett. 11, 1111–1120.
- Vitousek, P.M., Porder, S., Houlton, B.Z., Chadwick, O.A., 2010. Terrestrial phosphorus limitation: mechanisms, implications, and nitrogen-phosphorus interactions. Ecol. Appl. 20, 5–15.
- Wallander, H., Johansson, U., Sterkenburg, E., Brandström Durling, M., Lindahl, B.D., 2010. Production of ectomycorrhizal mycelium peaks during canopy closure in Norway spruce forests. New Phytol. 187, 1124–1134.
- Wardle, D.A., Gundale, M.J., Jäderlund, A., Nilsson, M.-C., 2013. Decoupled long-term effects of nutrient enrichment on aboveground and belowground properties in subalpine tundra. Ecology 94, 904–919.
- White, D.C., Nickels, J.S., King, J.D., Bobbie, R.J., 1979. Determination of the sedimentary microbial biomass by extractable lipid phosphate. Oecologia 40.
- Zhao, X.R., Lin, Q., Brookes, P.C., 2005. Does soil ergosterol concentration provide a reliable estimate of soil fungal biomass? Soil Biol. Biochem. 37, 311–317.
V

ORIGINAL PAPER



Inoculation with in vitro promising plant growth-promoting bacteria isolated from nitrogen-limited boreal forest did not translate to in vivo growth promotion of agricultural plants

Tinkara Bizjak-Johansson¹ · Anne Braunroth² · Regina Gratz² · Annika Nordin¹

Received: 10 December 2024 / Revised: 5 March 2025 / Accepted: 7 March 2025 © The Author(s) 2025

Abstract

Many yet undiscovered plant growth-promoting bacteria are proposed to be harboured in the nitrogen-limited boreal forest. These bacteria are suggested to increase plant growth not only due to their ability to fix nitrogen but also through other growth-promoting properties. Therefore, this study looked at the plant growth promotion potential of endophytic bacteria isolated from boreal forest conifer Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) needles. Seven assays were used to measure the potential plant growth-promoting abilities of two newly isolated bacteria in this study and seven additionally selected bacteria isolated in our previous study. The three best-performing bacteria were used, either individually or in a consortium, to assess growth promotion on four common crop species. The greenhouse study included the presence of native soil and seed microbiota and used naturally nutrient-abundant soil. The results showed that while all bacteria were capable of multiple plant growthpromoting properties in the in vitro assays, they did not promote plant growth in the in vivo experiment as inoculated plants had similar or decreased chlorophyll content, root and shoot length and dry biomass compared to control plants. Our results show that bacterial plant growth-promoting potential does not always translate into successful plant growth increase in in vivo conditions and highlight the need for a better understanding of plant-bacteria interaction for the future establishment of successful bacterial bioinoculants.

Keywords Bioinoculants · Diazotrophic bacteria · Endophytic bacteria · Inoculation experiment · Plant growth-promoting bacteria · Scots pine

Introduction

The use of fertilizers in agriculture has been extensive in recent decades due to the growing need for food across the globe (Fowler et al. 2013). The main aim of applying fertilizers is the addition of nitrogen (in the form of nitrate and/or ammonium), which is often the main plant growth-limiting nutrient (Galloway et al. 2013). Additionally, fertilizers often include other elements that are lacking in the crop cultivation system, for example, phosphorus and potassium

Tinkara Bizjak-Johansson tinkara.bizjak-johansson@slu.se

- ¹ Umeå Plant Science Centre (UPSC), Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå, Sweden
- ² Department of Forest Ecology and Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå, Sweden

(Savci 2012). Fertilizer application promotes plant growth, but it has become increasingly clearer that the use of inorganic nitrogen fertilizers can have negative consequences on the environment. Namely, inorganic nitrogen leaching can lead to water pollution and nitrogen fertilization can cause increased greenhouse gas emissions, acid rain and biodiversity loss (Bhattacharjee et al. 2008; Martinez-Espinosa et al. 2011; Khan et al. 2012; Savci 2012; Galloway et al. 2013; de Souza et al. 2015). Additionally, the planetary boundary of anthropogenically introduced nitrogen in agriculture has been globally crossed, leading to serious effects on Earth and its ecosystems (Richardson et al. 2023). A more ecologically friendly alternative could be the use of plant growthpromoting bacteria (PGPB) as bioinoculants, which could help elevate nutrient limitation in addition to providing other benefits to the plant (Compant et al. 2010; Berg et al. 2021). The PGPB could be applied directly to the fields, or they could be applied together with a reduced amount of fertilizer to achieve the maximum benefits of better growth combined with lower negative environmental effects (de Souza et al. 2012, 2015).

The PGPB are bacteria that interact beneficially with a plant and can be free-living, rhizospheric, endophytic or in a symbiotic relationship with the plant (Glick 2012). It has been suggested that endophytic PGPB, meaning PGPB living inside plant tissues without causing harm (Ryan et al. 2008), can under certain conditions be more efficient in plant growth promotion as a result of better environmental stability, more efficient communication and closer interaction with the plant (Santoyo et al. 2016; Etesami and Maheshwari 2018; Orozco-Mosqueda et al. 2022; Méndez-Bravo et al. 2023). The PGPB can be beneficial to the plant through improved nutrient acquisition, production of plant hormones, increased resistance against biotic and abiotic stresses and consequently increased plant yield (Compant et al. 2010; Olanrewaju et al. 2017; Etesami and Maheshwari 2018). The concept of the multiple mechanism hypothesis suggests that each PGPB can possess more than one plant growth-promoting property, leading to increased plant yield through various mechanisms (Cassán et al. 2020). In addition, it has been hypothesized that a consortium of bacteria might provide a more efficient plant yield increase than individual strains due to the combined array of different plant growth-promoting properties (Knoth et al. 2014; Ray et al. 2020; Chaiya et al. 2021; Saleem et al. 2021; Khan et al. 2022; Méndez-Bravo et al. 2023). However, the success of PGPB inoculation can depend on several factors, among other bacterial strain properties, diverse environmental factors and the presence of native microbiota (Foolad et al. 2000; Glick 2012; Berg et al. 2021). In fact, a decreased efficiency of PGPB has been seen in natural environments such as fields compared to more artificially set up laboratory studies (Compant et al. 2005, 2010; Gamalero and Glick 2011; Gaiero et al. 2013).

While the research on PGPB in agriculture is quite extensive, the knowledge about PGPB present in the forests and their potential application is profoundly lacking (Lucy et al. 2004; Padda et al. 2021). These environments, especially nitrogen-limited boreal forests, probably harbour many non-investigated bacteria with high plant growth-promoting potential (Ryan et al. 2008; Afzal et al. 2019), which could successfully be used as PGPB in either agriculture or forestry. As these non-investigated bacteria are growing in severely nitrogen-limited environments, it is suggested they could contribute significantly to plant growth through their ability to fix atmospheric dinitrogen into ammonia (Puri et al. 2015, 2020b). In fact, several endophytic bacteria isolated from different conifer species were shown to be nitrogen-fixing (Padda et al. 2018; Puri et al. 2018; Bizjak et al. 2023). Furthermore, some of these bacterial strains were shown to promote the growth of the host seedlings and even act non-specifically as they were able to promote the growth of non-host agricultural plants. For example, bacteria successfully increased the growth of conifer seedlings such as lodgepole pine and hybrid white spruce (Puri et al. 2018, 2020c; Song et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2021; Padda et al. 2021) and non-host agricultural plants such as sunflower, canola, corn and tomato (Padda et al. 2015; Puri et al. 2015, 2020a; Younas et al. 2023). The plant and tree seedling growth promotion was proposed to be mainly due to nitrogen fixation, which supplied a significant part of the plant or tree seedling nitrogen (Puri et al. 2015, 2020b). However, most inoculation studies with bacteria isolated from conifers focused on nitrogen fixation and only a few examined if the bacteria had any additional plant growth-promoting properties. More importantly, the majority of the experiments were performed against current recommendations under artificial conditions using surface-sterilized seeds and sand mixture growth mediums lacking necessary nutrients and the native microbiota (Bhattacharjee et al. 2008; Etesami and Maheshwari 2018; de-Bashan and Nannipieri 2024). While results from these studies are crucial for a better understanding of PGPB isolated from conifer species, significantly more knowledge is needed about the performance of these PGPB under more natural settings to evaluate their potential application as bioinoculants in agriculture or forestry.

Our study aimed to shed more light on the knowledge gap about PGPB isolated from boreal forest conifers, their plant growth-promoting properties and agricultural plant growth promotion in a greenhouse setting. Therefore, we isolated endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacteria from Scots pine trees (Pinus sylvestris) growing in the nitrogen-limited boreal forest in northern Europe as bacteria isolated from these environments are proposed to be excellent PGPB candidates even in agriculture due to their ability to fix nitrogen. The isolated bacteria were assessed for their plant growth-promoting potential in seven in vitro assays and tested for their application potential in in vivo inoculation experiment using four key agricultural species representing different crop families (i.e. corn (Zea mays), tomato (Solanum lycopersicum), kale (Brassica oleracea) and cucumber (Cucumbis sativa)). Uniquely, the in vivo greenhouse experiment included non-sterile seeds and naturally nutrient-abundant soil both with their native microbiota present. The addressed hypotheses were: (a) isolated and selected bacteria possess an array of plant growth-promoting properties in addition to nitrogen fixation, (b) the bacteria will be able to promote the growth of agriculturally important plants from four different crop families in a non-sterile soil pot experiment and (c) a consortium of bacteria will perform better than the individual bacterial strains.

Material and methods

Scots pine endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacteria

Scots pine endophytic bacteria were isolated from needles of trees growing at the Åheden research forest (64°13'45.3"N 19°48'00.4"E) close to Vindeln, northern Sweden. The needles were collected from five different trees under aseptic conditions, stored on ice and transported to the laboratory. To isolate endophytic bacteria, the needles were surface sterilized by submersion in 70% ethanol for 3 min, washed with sterile water three times for 20 s and the excess water was dried off by placing them on sterile Whatman filter paper. To check the sterility, the needles were imprinted on Tryptic soy agar (TSA; 15 g l⁻¹ casein peptone, 5 g l⁻¹ soy peptone, 5 g l⁻¹ NaCl, 15 g l⁻¹ agar). After sterilization, 800 µl of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS; 8 g l⁻¹ NaCl, 0.2 g l⁻¹ KCl, 1.44 g l^{-1} Na₂HPO₄, 0.245 g l^{-1} KH₂PO₄) was added and the needles were ground using FastPrep-24™ Instrument (MP medicals inc., USA) before being filtered through sterile Miracloth (Merck Millipore, USA). The samples were centrifuged for 10 min at 2 650 g at 8 °C and the pellet was resuspended in PBS and plated on nitrogen-free combined carbon medium (CCM) without yeast extract (Baldani et al. 2014). The plates were incubated at 28 °C for 11 days before distinct colonies were collected.

The isolated bacteria were identified by 16S rRNA gene Sanger sequencing. DNA was isolated from concentrated Luria broth (LB; 10 g l^{-1} tryptone, 5 g l^{-1} yeast extract, 10 g l^{-1} NaCl) cultures using DNeasy PowerSoil Kit (Qiagen, Germany) following the manufacturer's instructions. 16S rRNA was amplified using DreamTaq Hot Start PCR Master Mix (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) according to the manufacturer's manual with the universally used primer pair F27: 5'-AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTC AG-3' and R1492: 5'-ACGGCTACCTTGTTACGACTT-3' (Heuer et al. 1997). The PCR product was purified using ExoSAP-IT (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) and the DNA was sequenced using TubSeq Service (Eurofins, Luxemburg). The resulting forward and reverse sequences of each isolate were merged into consensus sequences using European Molecular Biology Open Software Suite (EMBOSS) cons (Rice et al. 2000) and bacterial identity was determined using Nucleotide Blast (Altschul et al. 1990).

The nitrogen fixation ability of the isolated bacteria was measured using acetylene-reduction assay. Bacteria were grown in liquid CCM media before being transferred to glass vials sealed with Suba-seal septa (Sigma Aldrich, USA). Then, acetylene replaced 10% of the air, and the samples were incubated for 2 h at 28 °C. Ethylene production (indicating nitrogen fixation) was measured on a gas chromatograph (Shimadzu GC-8A, Japan). After ethylene measurements, the OD₆₀₀ of the cultures was measured and used to normalise the ethylene production values. Ethylene production was measured on three replicates per isolated bacterial strain.

During this study, we isolated two different bacterial strains. Therefore, to broaden the selection of bacteria and consortium formulation, we used seven additionally selected nitrogen-fixing bacteria from our endophytic Scots pine bacterial collection. The selected strains (Table 1) were

Table 1 The species, bacterial strain name and the nitrogen-fixation
potential of the two nitrogen-fixing endophytic bacteria isolated in
this study and of the seven previously isolated bacterial strains (Biz-
jak et al. 2023) selected for the study of plant growth promotion. The
reported acetylene-reduction activity (mean ± standard error) was

measured in triplicates per bacterial strain (n=3) for the two bacterial strains isolated in this study, while the acetylene-reduction activity of the previously isolated bacteria has been previously reported (Bizjak et al. 2023)

	Species	Bacterial strain	Acetylene-reduction assay activity (nmol C_2H_4 h ⁻¹ OD_{600}^{-1})
Isolated bacteria	Robbsia andropogonis	#1A	0.007 ± 0.004
	Bacillus sp.	#2A	0.008 ± 0.003
Additionally selected bacteria ^a	Bacillus paralicheniformis	#1	0.038 ± 0.014
	Unclassified Novosphingobium	#23	0.020 ± 0.012
	Microbacterium sp.	#25	0.100 ± 0.039
	Sphingomonas sp.	#27	0.058 ± 0.020
	Novosphingobium pokkalii	#38–1	/
	Variovorax paradoxus	#38–2	0.025 ± 0.025
	Priestia megaterium	#39	0.009 ± 0.006

^aAdditionally selected bacteria were isolated, identified and their acetylene-reduction activity was measured in our previous study, please see Bizjak et al. (2023)

previously isolated from Åheden research forest, Vindeln, northern Sweden. They were identified using 16S rRNA gene Sanger sequencing and their nitrogen fixation ability was confirmed using acetylene-reduction assay as previously reported by us (Bizjak et al. 2023).

In vitro plant growth-promoting properties

Phosphorus solubilization of the isolated bacteria was measured using a liquid medium assay. For the assay, a modified Pikovskaya medium (Jasim et al. 2013) without agar was used. As the only source of phosphorus, we have used either tricalcium phosphate, iron (III) phosphate or aluminium phosphate. The method was modified after Fiske and Subbarow (1925). Namely, bacterial cultures grown overnight in LB medium were concentrated by centrifugation at 20 000 g for 10 min and washed with sterile saline solution (9 g l⁻¹ NaCl). Liquid Pikovskaya medium was inoculated with 10 µl of bacterial suspension and incubated for 72 h at 28 °C. Following, the supernatant was harvested by centrifugation at 8 000 g for 10 min. 250 µl of the supernatant was mixed with 125 µl of 10% trichloroacetic acid and 1 ml colour reagent (1:1:1:2 ratio of 3 M H₂SO₄, 2.5% ammonium molybdate, 10% ascorbic acid, distilled water) and incubated at room temperature for 15 min. The developed blue colour was measured using absorbance at 820 nm on a spectrophotometer (Epoch, BioTek Instruments, USA) indicating phosphorus solubilization, which was calculated for each isolate based on the standard curve of KH2PO4 concentrations. Three replicates were used for each bacterial strain.

Zinc solubilization was tested on TSA plates with added 0.1% zinc. Specifically, TSA with added 1.24 g l^{-1} zinc oxide was spot inoculated with 20 µl of overnight LB bacterial culture. The plates were incubated for 5 days at 28 °C and a clear halo around the bacterial colony indicated zinc solubilization by the bacteria. The assay included three replicates for each bacterial strain.

The ability of siderophore production was assessed using chrome azurol S (CAS) agar medium (Louden et al. 2011). The CAS agar medium plates were inoculated with bacterial isolates and incubated for 7 days at 30 °C. The appearance of orange colour indicated siderophore production by bacteria and the siderophore production index was calculated using the following formula: (colony diameter + halo zone diameter)/colony diameter. The siderophore production was measured on three replicates per bacterial strain.

For the HCN production assay (Lorck 1948), TSA plates with added 4.4 g l⁻¹ glycine were spot inoculated with 25 µl of overnight LB bacterial culture. Sterile Whatman filter paper was dipped in picric acid solution (0.5% picric acid in 2% Na₂CO₃) and placed between the base and the lid of the plate, while parafilm was used to seal the plate. The plates were incubated in an inverted position at 28 °C for 7 days and the change in the colour of the filter paper from yellow to brown indicated HCN production. The HCN production was measured for three replicates per bacterial strain.

IAA production was measured using Salkowski solution (de Jesus Santos et al. 2014; Puri et al. 2020a). First, LB medium with added 1 mg l⁻¹ L-tryptophan was inoculated with 10 µl of overnight LB bacterial culture. The plates were incubated at 28 °C for 3 days with constant shaking. OD600 was measured for all cultures before they were centrifuged at 10 500 g for 10 min and the supernatant was collected. 500 µl of the Salkowski solution (1:30:50 ratio of 0.5 M FeCl₃, 95% sulfuric acid, distilled water) was added to 250 µl of the supernatant, vortexed and incubated in the dark for 30 min. The concentration of the IAA was measured using absorbance at 530 nm on a spectrophotometer (Epoch, BioTek Instruments, USA) with an IAA calibration curve. The amount of IAA produced was normalised using the OD₆₀₀ measurements and was measured in triplicates per bacterial strain. However, the results have to be interpreted with caution as Salkowski solution indicates the presence of all indole-like molecules and not only IAA (Glickmann and Dessaux 1995; de-Bashan and Nannipieri 2024; Guardado-Fierros et al. 2024).

Protease activity was tested using a liquid medium method (Chaiharn and Lumyong 2008), where skim-milk liquid medium (5 g l⁻¹ tryptone, 2.5 g l⁻¹ yeast extract, 1 g l^{-1} glucose, 7% 100 ml l^{-1} skim milk solution l^{-1}) was inoculated with 10 µl of overnight LB bacterial culture. The samples were incubated for 3 days at 28 °C with constant shaking followed by OD600 measurement. They were centrifuged at 8 000 g for 15 min and 100 µl of the supernatant was mixed with 100 µl 0.2 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.0) and 100 µl of 1% azocasein. The samples were incubated at 37 °C for 30 min when 400 µl of 10% trichloroacetic acid was added and everything was incubated for 5 min at room temperature. 100 µl of the sample was mixed with 200 µl of 1 M NaOH and absorbance was measured at 440 nm using a spectrophotometer (Epoch, BioTek Instruments, USA). The measurements were normalised using OD₆₀₀ and compared against a tyrosine standard curve. One unit of enzyme catalytic activity was defined as the amount of the enzyme resulting in the release of 1 µmol of tyrosine per minute. The assay included three replicates of each bacterial strain.

For cellulase activity assay (Miller 1959; Chaiharn and Lumyong 2008; Hajiabadi et al. 2020; Puri et al. 2020a), 10 μ l of overnight LB bacterial culture were inoculated in LB medium with added 1% carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC). The cultures were incubated at 28 °C for 3 days with constant shaking. The OD₆₀₀ of the cultures was measured before centrifugation at 8 000 g at 4 °C for 15 min. 200 μ l of the supernatant was mixed with 200 μ l of 0.05 M citrate buffer (pH 5.0) and 200 μ l 1% CMC solution. The samples were incubated for 30 min at 37 °C, then 800 μ l of

3,5-dinitrosalicylic acid (DNSA) reagent (96 mM dinitro salicylic acid, 1.3 M sodium potassium tartrate in 0.5 M NaOH) was added and the samples were boiled at 100 °C for 5 min. Their absorbance at 560 nm was measured using a spectrophotometer (Epoch, BioTek Instruments, USA). The glucose content in the samples was calculated using a glucose standard curve and normalised using OD_{600} measurements. Cellulase activity was measured by the release of glucose from CMC and one unit of cellulase catalytic activity was defined as the amount of cellulase needed to release 1 µmol of glucose from CMC per minute. The cellulase activity was measured using three replicates per bacterial strain.

The bacterial compatibility was tested using a crowded plate assay (Bhatia et al. 2018) modified after Ibrahim et al. (2022) and Haque et al. (2021), where $10 \ \mu l$ of $OD_{600} = 1$ of the bacterial strains was spotted on LB agar plates with either spaced spots or overlapping spots. Plates were incubated at 28 °C for either one or seven days before compatibility was assessed.

In vivo inoculation experiment

To test if endophytic nitrogen-fixing Scots pine bacteria can promote the growth of agriculturally important crops, we selected cucumber (Cucumbis sativa Vorgebirgstrauben), corn (Zea mays Sweet Nugget F1), tomato (Solanum lycopersicum Moneymaker) and kale (Brassica oleracea Dwarf Green Curled) and bacterial strains Bacillus sp. #2A, Microbacterium sp. #25 and Priestia megaterium #39. The plants were grown in soil (K-jord, NPK 14-7-15, pH 5.5-6.5, a mixture of light peat, sand, clay, lime and mineral fertilizer, Hasselfors garden) under 16-h daylight and 8-h night-time regime. Plants were inoculated with either one of the individual bacterial strains, a consortium of the three bacterial strains or with sterile LB medium as a negative control. To try to ensure reproducibility, the greenhouse experiment was based on a pre-study, each of the inoculation treatments had seven biological replicates and the inoculation effects were evaluated across the four crop species from four different plant taxonomic orders. The plants were inoculated with 2 ml of LB overnight culture with $OD_{600} = 1$ (corresponding to 2.2*10⁶ CFU/ml, 1.4*10⁷ CFU/ml and 2.4*10⁵ CFU/ml for bacteria #2A, #25 and #39, respectively) at the time of sowing, one week after sowing and two weeks after sowing by applying the liquid bacterial cultures directly to the soil near the seed or later seedling. During the ongoing experiment germination rates were recorded. The plants were harvested after approximately five weeks in the greenhouse. On the day of the harvest, the chlorophyll content of the leaves was measured using the CCM-300 chlorophyll content meter (Opti-Sciences, USA) and root and shoot lengths were measured. Plants were dried in the oven at 70 °C for at least 48 h and then their dry root and shoot weights were measured.

Statistics

SPPS Statistics 29 (IBM, USA) was used to analyse all data. The plant growth-promoting properties were analysed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's honestly significant difference test with bacterial strain as a variable. For the in vivo inoculation experiment, all data was analysed for each measured trait using a two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's honestly significant difference test with inoculation treatment and crop species as variables.

Results

Scots pine endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacteria

We used a combination of two endophytic bacteria isolated in our study and seven additional endophytic bacteria (Table 1) isolated in our previous study (Bizjak et al. 2023) for the assessment of the in vitro plant growth-promoting potential of Scots pine needle endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacteria. The two isolated endophytic bacteria were identified based on 16S rRNA as gram-negative, plant-pathogenic Robbsia andropogonis (NCCB accession number 100967, GenBank number OR506164) and gram-positive Bacillus sp. (NCCB accession number 100968, GenBank number OR506163). Acetylene-reduction assay was used to confirm that the two isolated bacteria were capable of nitrogen fixation (Table 1), while nitrogen fixation ability has previously been confirmed and reported in Bizjak et al. (2023) for all the additionally selected bacteria, except for Novosphingobium pokkalii which did not show nitrogen fixation under the selected assay conditions.

In vitro plant growth-promoting properties

Different plate or liquid medium assays were used on the isolated and selected bacteria to test which plant growthpromoting properties the bacteria possess in addition to nitrogen fixation. One of the assays was used to test if the bacteria could solubilize various phosphorus forms and the results showed that while all bacteria were able to solubilize tricalcium phosphate (Fig. 1A, Table 2), they were not capable of solubilizing either iron (III) phosphate or aluminium phosphate (Table 2). There was a statistical difference in tricalcium phosphate solubilization between different bacterial strains (p-value < 0.001) and the three best tricalcium phosphate solubilizers were Priestia megaterium #39, Bacillus sp. #2A and Bacillus paralicheniformis #1. We also assessed if the bacteria were able to solubilize zinc and while all bacteria, but Robbsia andropogonis #1A and Bacillus sp. #2A were able to grow on the media with the added insoluble zinc, none of them were able to solubilize



Fig. 1 Bacterial strain performance in liquid or plate plant growthpromoting assays for a) tricalcium phosphate solubilization, b) siderophore production, c) IAA production, d) protease activity and e) cellulase activity. The graphs show mean±standard error (n=3)

and the different letters indicate a statistically significant difference between samples based on one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey HSD test

it (Table 2). Additionally, other than Robbsia andropogonis #1A, all bacteria were able to produce siderophores (Fig. 1B, Table 2). The amount of siderophores produced was significantly different between the bacterial strains (p-value = 0.002) with unclassified Novosphingobium #23 having the highest siderophore production. The bacteria were tested for HCN production, however, none of the bacteria had this ability (Table 2). All bacterial strains showed IAA production in varying amounts (Fig. 1C, Table 2), which was statistically significant (p-value < 0.001). The highest IAA production was measured for Microbacterium sp. #25, followed by Novosphingobium pokkalii #38-1 (Fig. 1C, Table 2). Protease activity assay showed statistically significant (p-value < 0.001) diverse protease activity for the bacteria (Fig. 1D, Table 2). The highest activity was measured for Robbsia andropogonis #1A and the lowest for Priestia megaterium #39 (Fig. 1D, Table 2). Additionally, measured cellulase activity was significantly different between the bacterial strains (p-value < 0.001). Bacillus paralicheniformis #1 showed the highest cellulase activity followed by Bacillus sp. #2A, while Robbsia andropogonis #1A was the only bacterial strain that did not show any cellulase activity (Fig. 1E, Table 2).

Bacterial strains were evaluated for their overall performance in the seven plant growth-promoting assays performed during this study (Table 2). Based on the evaluation, the most promising bacterial strains were *Bacillus paralicheniformis* #1, *Bacillus* sp. #2A, *Microbacterium* sp. #25 and *Priestia megaterium* #39. However, due to much slower growth in liquid media for *Bacillus paralicheniformis* #1, only bacteria *Bacillus* sp. #2A, *Microbacterium* sp. #25 and *Priestia megaterium* #39 were selected for the in vivo inoculation experiment. The three selected bacteria were assessed for compatibility and did not show any antagonism (data not shown).

In vivo inoculation experiment

To test if isolated endophytic nitrogen-fixing Scots pine bacterial strains could promote the growth of agricultural crop species we used kale, corn, tomato, and cucumber plants. For each of the crops, we measured germination rate, chlorophyll content, root and shoot length and dry root and shoot weight. Using two-way ANOVAs, the effects of crop species, inoculation treatment and their interaction effects were analysed for each measured plant variable. For all variables, there was a significant effect of crop species, which was expected (Tables S1-S6). The results for germination rate showed no effect of the inoculation treatment (p-value = 0.072), but they showed an effect of the interaction between the crop species and the inoculation treatment (p-value = 0.035) (Table S1, Fig. 2). Similar were the results for chlorophyll content with no effect of the bacterial inoculation treatment (p-value = 0.267) and a significant crop species and inoculation treatment interaction (p-value = 0.019) (Table S2, Fig. 3). For root length,

based on their o	verall performance a	and is the sun	n of plus signs acro.	ss all seven in vitro	assays. All	in vitro assays	were mea	sured on three repl	icates per bacterial	strain $(n=3)$	
Bacterial strain	Species	Tricalcium phosphate solubiliza- tion ^a	Iron (III) phos- phate solubiliza- tion	Aluminium phos- phate solubiliza- tion	Zinc solubili- zation	Siderophore production ^b	HCN produc- tion	IAA production ^c	Protease activity ^d	Cellulase activity ^e	Total score
#1A	Robbsia andropo- gonis	+						+	+ + +		5
#1	Bacillus parali- cheniformis	+ +				+		+	+++++	+ + +	6
#2A	Bacillus sp.	+++				+		+	+++	+ + +	6
#23	Unclassified Novosphingo- bium	+				+ + +		+	+	+ +	œ
#25	Microbacterium sp.	+				+ + +		+ + +	+	+ +	10
#27	Sphingomonas sp.	+				+		+	+	++	6
#38–1	Novosphingobium pokkalii	+				+ +		+++++	+	+	7
#38–2	Variovorax para- doxus	+				+		+	+++++	+ +	7
#39	Priestia megate- rium	+ + +				+ +		+++++	+	+	6
^a + if tricalcium ^b + if siderophor ^c + if IAA produ ^d + if protease ac	phosphate solubilizz e production index t ction below 4 ug ml :iivity below 6.02 U :tivity below 0.02 U	ation below 1 below 1.2, + - $[^{-1} OD_{600}^{-1} L$ $nl^{-1} OD_{600}^{-1}$, $ml^{-1} OD_{600}^{-1}$	$\begin{array}{l} 00 \text{ ug m}^{-1} \text{ KH}_2\text{PC} \\ + \text{ if between 1.2 and} \\ \text{AA}, + + \text{ if between } \\ + + \text{ if between 30}, \\ + + \text{ if between 0.} \end{array}$	4_{4} , + + if between 10 d 1,4, + + if above 4 and 10 ug m1 ⁻¹ OD and 200 U m1 ⁻¹ OD, 02 and 0.1 U m1 ⁻¹ C	0 and 300 t • 1.4 • D ₆₀₀ ⁻¹ IAA • + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + + +	یو ml ⁻¹ KH ₂ P. , + + + if abo - if above 200 ¹ + + if above 0.	O ₄ , + + + i O ₄ , + + + i we 10 ug m U ml ⁻¹ OI .1 U ml ⁻¹ 0	f above 300 ug ml 11 ⁻¹ OD ₆₀₀ ⁻¹ IAA 8 ₀₀ ⁻¹ DD ₆₀₀ ⁻¹	⁻¹ KH ₂ PO ₄		

Biology and Fertility of Soils

Fig. 2 Measured germination rate for kale, corn, tomato and cucumber plants and five inoculation treatments (Bacillus sp. #2A, Microbacterium sp. #25, P. megaterium #39, consortium and control). The graph shows mean \pm standard error (n = 7) and the different capital letters indicate a statistically significant difference between crop species and the different lowercase letters indicate a difference between inoculation treatments based on two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey HSD test

Fig. 3 Leaf chlorophyll content of four crop species (kale, corn, tomato and cucumber) inoculated with either Bacillus sp. #2A, Microbacterium sp. #25, P. megaterium #39, consortium or control. The graph shows mean \pm standard error (n = 7) and the different capital letters indicate a statistically significant difference between crop species and the different lowercase letters indicate a difference between inoculation treatments based on two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey HSD test





there was a nearly significant effect of the bacterial inoculation treatment (p-value = 0.056), where plants inoculated with *Bacillus* sp. #2A tended to have lower root lengths compared to control plants (Table S3, Fig. 4). However, there was no significant interaction between crop species and inoculation treatment (p-value = 0.217) (Table S3, Fig. 4). Both the inoculation treatment (p-value = 0.012) and the interaction between crop species and inoculation treatment (p-value = 0.004) were significant for plant shoot length (Table S4, Fig. 5). Comparable to root length, plants inoculated with *Bacillus* sp. #2A showed in general lower shoot length compared to control plants (Fig. 5). Furthermore, there was a significant effect of inoculation treatment (p-value < 0.001) and interaction between crop species and

inoculation treatment (p-value < 0.001) on dry root weight, where consortium and *Bacillus* sp. #2A plants had lower dry root weights compared to control plants (Table S5, Fig. 6). For dry shoot weight there was no effect of the inoculation treatment (p-value = 0.078), but an effect of the inoculation treatment and crop species interaction (p-value = 0.021) (Table S6, Fig. 7).

Discussion

Nitrogen-limited boreal forests in northern Europe could harbour yet undiscovered and untested PGPB with the potential to act as bioinoculants in either forestry or agriculture. Fig. 4 Measured kale, corn, tomato and cucumber root length of plants inoculated with either Bacillus sp. #2A, Microbacterium sp. #25, P. megaterium #39, consortium or control. The graph shows mean \pm standard error (n = 7) and the different capital letters indicate a statistically significant difference between crop species and the different lowercase letters indicate a difference between inoculation treatments based on two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey HSD test

Fig. 5 Shoot length of four crop species (kale, corn, tomato and cucumber) treated with five different inoculation treatments (Bacillus sp. #2A, Microbacterium sp. #25, P. megaterium #39, consortium and control). The graph shows mean ± standard error (n=7) and the different capital letters indicate a statistically significant difference between crop species and the different lowercase letters indicate a difference between inoculation treatments based on two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey HSD test



The bacteria isolated from severely nitrogen-limited environments such as boreal forests are proposed to be great candidates for PGPB as many possess nitrogen fixation ability, which can provide significant amounts of nitrogen in inoculation treatments, hence promoting plant growth (Puri et al. 2015, 2020b). In this study, we first evaluated in vitro plant growth-promoting properties for two newly isolated and seven additionally selected nitrogen-fixing endophytic bacteria from Scots pine needles. Based on the results, we selected the three best-performing bacteria that were used in a greenhouse study, which in contrast to previous studies included seed and soil native microbiota and non-sterile conditions. The bacteria were applied either individually or in a consortium to assess their plant growth-promotion ability in vivo. According to our first hypothesis and the concept of multiple mechanism hypothesis (Cassán et al. 2020), all bacteria used in the study did possess more than one plant growth-promoting property as most of the bacterial strains showed activity in five out of seven in vitro assays. The presence of multiple plant growth-promoting properties within one bacterial strain has previously been shown for PGPB isolated from various crop and tree species (de Souza et al. 2012; Jasim et al. 2013; Puri et al. 2020a). One of the important plant growth-promoting properties is the solubilization of nutrients that are often limited in the environment such as phosphorus, iron and zinc (Kloepper et al. 1980; Saravanan et al. 2007; Rana et al. 2020; Chen et al. 2021). All our bacterial strains were able to solubilize tricalcium phosphate, however, none of the bacteria were

Fig. 6 Kale, corn, tomato and cucumber dry root weight for plants inoculated with five different treatments (Bacillus sp. #2A, Microbacterium sp. #25, P. megaterium #39, consortium and control). The graph shows mean \pm standard error (n = 7) and the different capital letters indicate a statistically significant difference between crop species and the different lowercase letters indicate a difference between inoculation treatments based on two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey HSD test

0.25

0.20

0.15

0.10

0.05

0.00

Dry root weight (g)

Fig. 7 Dry shoot weights of kale, corn, tomato and cucumber plants inoculated with either Bacillus sp. #2A, Microbacterium sp. #25, P. megaterium #39, consortium or control. The graph shows mean ± standard error (n=7) and the different capital letters indicate a statistically significant difference between crop species and the different lowercase letters indicate a difference between inoculation treatments based on two-way ANOVA followed by Tukey HSD test

able to solubilize either iron (III) phosphate or aluminium phosphate. It has been shown previously that the solubilization of iron (III) phosphate and aluminium phosphate is usually lower compared to tricalcium phosphate (Pradhan et al. 2022; Sen et al. 2024). Furthermore, studies showed that several tricalcium phosphate solubilizing bacteria were unable to solubilize iron (III) phosphate or aluminium phosphate and it has been recommended to use more than one phosphorus form to evaluate PGPB phosphorus solubilization (Pérez et al. 2007; Bashan et al. 2012a, b). None of the tested bacteria could solubilize zinc, even though they showed zinc tolerance. The PGPB can often synthesize plant hormones such as indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), cytokinins and gibberellins, which can influence the plant as they play a role in the defence system and development





processes (Hardoim et al. 2008; Olanrewaju et al. 2017). All bacteria in our study were capable of plant hormone IAA production, which was expected as previously reported proportions were between 75 and 97% (de Souza et al. 2012; Cueva-Yesquen et al. 2020). However, the IAA production could be overestimated as the method detects the presence of all indole-like molecules including indolepyruvic acid and indoleacetamide (Glickmann and Dessaux 1995; de-Bashan and Nannipieri 2024; Guardado-Fierros et al. 2024). Additionally, PGPB can offer pathogen protection to the plant through various mechanisms. Production of different compounds like hydrogen cyanide (HCN), antibiotics and siderophores can negatively affect the growth of pathogens competing for resources with the PGPB (Jasim et al. 2013; Olanrewaju et al. 2017). None of the tested bacteria could produce HCN. It seems HCN producing ability is limited within the PGPB community as the previously reported proportion of HCN producing PGPB was between 1 and 3% (de Brito et al. 1995; Antoun et al. 1998). Eight out of nine bacteria used in our study were capable of siderophore production, which is per the literature reported proportions in the range of 75 to 85% (Antoun et al. 1998; Cueva-Yesquen et al. 2020). The PGPB also produce cell-wall degrading enzymes, which help with endophytic colonisation and can additionally lyse the cell walls of plant pathogens (Kandel et al. 2017; Puri et al. 2020a). This ability was seen for all bacterial strains for protease activity and for eight out of nine bacterial strains for cellulase activity.

Based on the bacterial performance in in vitro plant growth-promoting assays and their growth characteristics, three bacteria were further selected for a greenhouse experiment to test their plant growth-promoting properties in vivo. The selected bacteria were Bacillus sp. #2A, Microbacterium sp. #25 and Priestia megaterium #39. Different strains within the Bacillus genus have previously been reported as PGPB as they improved among other seed germination, shoot length, root length, plant weight and nutrient uptake (Mumtaz et al. 2017; Prakash and Arora 2019; Tang et al. 2023). Additionally, the Bacillus genus is described as one of the most promising plant growth-promoting genera (Song et al. 2021). Likewise, Priestia megaterium strains have often been shown to be able to promote the height, plant and fruit weight, mineral content and photosynthetic rates of different plant species (Katsenios et al. 2021; Ramírez-Cariño et al. 2023). Less is known about Microbacterium strains, but there are some studies describing their ability to promote plant growth with inoculated plants having larger diameters and increased height, leaf area and both root and shoot biomass compared to control plants (Cordovez et al. 2018; Liu et al. 2022).

The results we obtained in the greenhouse study showed contrasting results to our second hypothesis that the bacterial strains would be able to promote the growth of cucumber, tomato, corn and kale. Instead, we observed neutral effects and even some negative effects of the inoculation treatment on measured plant growth properties. For example, shoot length was lower in plants inoculated with Bacillus sp. #2A compared to control plants (Fig. 5). Our results are contrary to previous studies showing that bacteria isolated from conifer tissues promoted the growth of non-host plants such as agriculturally important crops canola, sunflower, tomato and corn (Padda et al. 2015; Puri et al. 2015, 2020a; Younas et al. 2023). However, unlike previous studies, the inoculated bacteria in our study had to compete with the native seed and soil microbiota as non-sterile conditions were used in the greenhouse experiment. Therefore, the neutral and negative results we observed could be due to the ineffectiveness of the inoculum in competing with the native microbiota (Kloepper

et al. 1989; Shishido et al. 1999; Germaine et al. 2004). Additionally, the contrasting results could be due to using naturally nutrient-abundant soil as growth media compared to more nutrient-limited sand mixtures previously used. Studies on PGPB isolated from agricultural plants showed that the inoculation treatment has a higher effect when plants are grown in nutrient-limited media compared to more nutrient-rich growth media such as soil (Egamberdiyeva 2007; de Souza et al. 2012). Furthermore, it has been reported that the inoculation studies success can be dependent on the inoculation method, growth media, moisture, temperature and bacterial compatibility with the plant (Kloepper et al. 1989; Germaine et al. 2004; Compant et al. 2010; Kong et al. 2018). Consequently, the possible explanations for the neutral and negative effects of inoculum on plant growth in our study might be related to inefficient bacterial colonisation either because of the inoculation method, competition with the native microbiome, time of the harvest or chosen greenhouse conditions like using naturally nutrient abundant soil. Even though to our knowledge, this study is the first one reporting negative plant growth-promoting results on non-host plants of endophytic PGPB bacteria isolated from boreal forest conifers, previous studies using PGPB bacteria isolated from agricultural plants included a few bacterial strains that showed no visible positive effect on plant growth (Adjanohoun et al. 2011; da Costa et al. 2012; Ren et al. 2019). Additionally, some of those studies reported deleterious effects in the range of a 10 to 44% decrease in plant growth and yield due to bacterial inoculation (Kloepper et al. 1989; Antoun et al. 1998; Chanway et al. 2000) and in a review of Azospirillum inoculation studies it was calculated that only 60 to 70% of field studies resulted in a successful yield increase (Okon and Labandera-Gonzalez 1994). It has been previously reported for PGPB isolated from agricultural plants that successful laboratory studies often do not result in improved plant growth and yield in the field (Germaine et al. 2004; Mehnaz et al. 2010; Etesami and Maheshwari 2018) and that there is no correlation between in vitro assays, greenhouse and field studies (Antoun et al. 1998; Bacilio et al. 2017; Cueva-Yesquen et al. 2020). This means that sometimes PGPB showing promising results in in vitro assays do not show increased plant growth in greenhouse experiments, which was observed in this study. Field experiments may be conducted to further test if our bacteria would have a beneficial or negative effect on the chosen crops in field conditions under the presence of diverse abiotic and biotic stresses and further studies are needed to better understand the reasons behind the success or failure of bacterial inoculation in general. Especially as it has been suggested that negative results of inoculation studies are under-reported, leading to an overestimation of bacterial inoculation success and their potential application (Bacilio et al. 2017).

Interestingly, the interaction between crop species and inoculation treatment was significant for almost all measured plant traits, indicating host specificity of our bacterial strains. Similar results were observed previously for PGPB isolated from crop plants, where certain bacteria were capable of promoting the growth of various plant species, while others only promoted the growth of a few hosts (Afzal et al. 2019; Orozco-Mosqueda et al. 2022). Additionally, certain bacterial strains were better at promoting the growth of the host plants compared to non-host plants (Boddey and Dobereiner 1988; Lucy et al. 2004; Song et al. 2020). Therefore, further studies would be needed on our bacterial strains to assess their potential plant growth promotion on their host plant or other more closely related conifer species. Taken together, the results of our experiment and previously published studies indicate that at least some of the plant growth-promoting bacterial strains might have plant-specific effects and are only capable of promoting the growth of certain plant species. However, more research is needed to better understand the host specificity of PGPB and the mechanisms behind it.

The greenhouse study results also contradicted our third hypothesis stating that a consortium of bacteria will perform better compared to individual bacterial strains. The growth of consortium inoculated plants was similar to other treatments for all four crop species. The only significant difference was for dry root weight where consortium inoculated plants had lower biomass compared to control plants (Fig. 6). For PGPB isolated from agricultural plants, there have been many articles reporting better performance of consortium compared to individual strains (Rosenblueth and Martinez-Romero 2006; Knoth et al. 2014; Chaiya et al. 2021), however, there are some instances where a consortium did not perform better than individual bacterial strains (Bent and Chanway 1998; Méndez-Bravo et al. 2023). The proposed reasons for worse performance were strain incompatibility and competition for space and nutrients between different bacterial species within the consortium and within their surroundings (Méndez-Bravo et al. 2023). As our strains did not show antagonism in compatibility assay, it could be that we did not observe a positive consortium effect due to bacterial inefficiencies in competing for resources with the native microbiota (Kloepper et al. 1989; Shishido et al. 1999; Germaine et al. 2004). Our results highlight that consortium composition should be chosen carefully and be additionally tested to confirm that the selected bacteria are working synergistically to increase plant growth and yield.

Conclusions

Our study showed that even though the isolated and selected Scots pine endophytic bacteria showed excellent potential for plant growth promotion based on the seven in vitro assays, they were not able to promote the growth of four crop species (kale, corn, tomato and cucumber) in greenhouse conditions. More research on the efficiency of PGPB isolated from conifer tissues in in vivo studies using nonsterile conditions with native microbiota and naturally nutrient abundant growth media is needed to analyse if our study is an exception or if negative results are more common than reported. For example, it has been proposed that negative results in studies using PGPB isolated from agricultural plants are under-reported (Bacilio et al. 2017). Yet, to be able to develop efficient PGPB inoculates, more reported negative results are needed to be able to assess what is crucial for a successful plant growth promotion by PGPB. This is especially important in light of the big potential for the use of PGPB in agriculture and forestry (Newcombe 2011) to increase plant growth and provide protection against biotic and abiotic stresses without causing negative environmental effects.

Supplementary Information The online version contains supplementary material available at https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-025-01910-8.

Acknowledgements Author T.B-J. is grateful to Knut and Alice Wallenberg foundation for funding her PhD position.

Author's contributions All authors conceived and designed the study. T.B-J. and A.B. performed the experiments and analysed the data. T.B-J. wrote the manuscript, however, all authors contributed equally to the manuscript revision.

Funding Open access funding provided by Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. The greenhouse experiment was supported by the Royal Swedish Academy of Agriculture and Forestry funding (project GFS2023-0060) granted to T.B-J.

Data availability The two bacterial strains isolated in the study are made available through the Netherlands Culture Collection of Bacteria (NCCB) at Westerdijk Institute and their sequencing data through Gen Bank at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI). *R. andropogonis* has NCCB accession number 100967 and GenBank number OR506164, while *Bacillus* sp. has NCCB accession number 100968 and GenBank number OR506163. The two datasets generated during this study are available on the SafeDeposit at Swedish University of Agriculture server accessible at https://www.safedeposit.se/projects/469 (ID = 469).

Declarations

Competing interests R.G. reports an affiliation with a commercial plant nutrition company. A.N. reports an affiliation with a commercial forestry company.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- Adjanohoun A, Allagbe M, Noumavo ADP, H G-H, Sikirou R, K D, Glele Kakaï RL, Kotchoni S, Baba-Moussa L (2011) Effects of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria on field grown maize. J Anim Plant Sci-JAPS 11:1457-1465.https://doi.org/10.1111/ 1751-7915.13693
- Afzal I, Shinwari ZK, Sikandar S, Shahzad S (2019) Plant beneficial endophytic bacteria: Mechanisms, diversity, host range and genetic determinants. Microbiol Res 221:36–49. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.micres.2019.02.001
- Altschul SF, Gish W, Miller W, Myers EW, Lipman DJ (1990) Basic local alignment search tool. J Mol Biol 215:403–410. https://doi. org/10.1016/s0022-2836(05)80360-2
- Antoun H, Beauchamp CJ, Goussard N, Chabot R, Lalande R (1998) Potential of Rhizobium and Bradyrhizobium species as plant growth promoting rhizobacteria on non-legumes: Effect on radishes (Raphanus sativus L.). Plant Soil 204:57–67. https://doi.org/ 10.1023/a:1004326910584
- Bacilio M, Moreno M, Lopez-Aguilar DR, Bashan Y (2017) Scaling from the growth chamber to the greenhouse to the field: Demonstration of diminishing effects of mitigation of salinity in peppers inoculated with plant growth-promoting bacterium and humic acids. Appl Soil Ecol 119:327–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. apsoil.2017.07.002
- Baldani JI, Reis VM, Videira SS, Boddey LH, Baldani VLD (2014) The art of isolating nitrogen-fixing bacteria from non-leguminous plants using N-free semi-solid media: a practical guide for microbiologists. Plant Soil 384:413–431. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11104-014-2186-6
- Bashan Y, Kamnev AA, De-Bashan LE (2012a) Tricalcium phosphate is inappropriate as a universal selection factor for isolating and testing phosphate-solubilizing bacteria that enhance plant growth: a proposal for an alternative procedure. Biol Fertil Soils 49:465– 479. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-012-0737-7
- Bashan Y, Kamnev AA, De-Bashan LE (2012b) A proposal for isolating and testing phosphate-solubilizing bacteria that enhance plant growth. Biol Fertil Soils 49:1–2. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00374-012-0756-4
- Bent E, Chanway CP (1998) The growth-promoting effects of a bacterial endophyte on lodgepole pine are partially inhibited by the presence of other rhizobacteria. Can J Microbiol 44:980–988. https://doi.org/10.1139/w98-097
- Berg G, Kusstatscher P, Abdelfattah A, Cernava T, Smalla K (2021) Microbiome Modulation-Toward a Better Understanding of Plant Microbiome Response to Microbial Inoculants. Front Microbiol 12:650610. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.650610
- Bhatia SK, Bhatia RK, Choi YK, Kan E, Kim YG, Yang YH (2018) Biotechnological potential of microbial consortia and future perspectives. Crit Rev Biotechnol 38:1209–1229. https://doi.org/10. 1080/07388551.2018.1471445
- Bhattacharjee RB, Singh A, Mukhopadhyay SN (2008) Use of nitrogen-fixing bacteria as biofertiliser for non-legumes: prospects and challenges. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 80:199–209. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00253-008-1567-2
- Bizjak T, Sellstedt A, Gratz R, Nordin A (2023) Presence and activity of nitrogen-fixing bacteria in Scots pine needles in a boreal forest: a nitrogen-addition experiment. Tree Physiol 43:1354–1364. https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpad048

- Boddey RM, Dobereiner J (1988) Nitrogen fixation associated with grasses and cereals: Recent results and perspectives for future research. Plant Soil 108:53–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf023 70099
- Cassán F, Coniglio A, López G, Molina R, Nievas S, De Carlan CLN, Donadio F, Torres D, Rosas S, Pedrosa FO, De Souza E, Zorita MD, De-Bashan L, Mora V (2020) Everything you must know about Azospirillum and its impact on agriculture and beyond. Biol Fertil Soils 56:461–479. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s00374-020-01463-y
- Chaiharn M, Lumyong S (2008) Phosphate solubilization potential and stress tolerance of rhizobacteria from rice soil in Northern Thailand. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 25:305–314. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11274-008-9892-2
- Chaiya L, Gavinlertvatana P, Teaumroong N, Pathom-Aree W, Chaiyasen A, Sungthong R, Lumyong S (2021) Enhancing Teak (Tectona grandis) Seedling Growth by Rhizosphere Microbes: A Sustainable Way to Optimize Agroforestry. Microorganisms 9:1990. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9091990
- Chanway CP, Shishido M, Nairn J, Jungwirth S, Markham J, Xiao G, Holl FB (2000) Endophytic colonization and field responses of hybrid spruce seedlings after inoculation with plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. For Ecol Manage 133:81–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0378-1127(99)00300-x
- Chen J, Zhao G, Wei Y, Dong Y, Hou L, Jiao R (2021) Isolation and screening of multifunctional phosphate solubilizing bacteria and its growth-promoting effect on Chinese fir seedlings. Sci Rep 11:9081. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-88635-4
- Compant S, Reiter B, Sessitsch A, Nowak J, Clement C, Ait Barka E (2005) Endophytic colonization of Vitis vinifera L. by plant growth-promoting bacterium Burkholderia sp. strain PsJN. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:1685–1693. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM. 71.4.1685-1693.2005
- Compant S, Clément C, Sessitsch A (2010) Plant growth-promoting bacteria in the rhizo- and endosphere of plants: Their role, colonization, mechanisms involved and prospects for utilization. Soil Biol Biochem 42:669–678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2009. 11.024
- Cordovez V, Schop S, Hordijk K, Dupre De Boulois H, Coppens F, Hanssen I, Raaijmakers JM, Carrion VJ (2018) Priming of Plant Growth Promotion by Volatiles of Root-Associated Microbacterium sp. Appl Environ Microbiol 84:e01865-e1918. https://doi. org/10.1128/AEM.01865-18
- Cueva-Yesquen LG, Goulart MC, Attili De Angelis D, Nopper Alves M, Fantinatti-Garboggini F (2020) Multiple Plant Growth-Promotion Traits in Endophytic Bacteria Retrieved in the Vegetative Stage From Passionflower. Front Plant Sci 11:621740. https://doi. org/10.3389/fpls.2020.621740
- Da Costa PB, Beneduzi A, De Souza R, Schoenfeld R, Vargas LK, Passaglia LMP (2012) The effects of different fertilization conditions on bacterial plant growth promoting traits: guidelines for directed bacterial prospection and testing. Plant Soil 368:267–280. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1513-z
- De Brito AM, Gagne S, Antoun H (1995) Effect of compost on rhizosphere microflora of the tomato and on the incidence of plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 61:194– 199. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.61.1.194-199.1995
- De Jesus Santos AF, Martins CYS, Santos PO, Corrêa ÉB, Barbosa HR, Sandoval APS, Oliveira LM, De Souza JT, Soares ACF (2014) Diazotrophic bacteria associated with sisal (Agave sisalana Perrine ex Engelm): potential for plant growth promotion. Plant Soil 385:37–48. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-014-2202-x
- De Souza R, Beneduzi A, Ambrosini A, Da Costa PB, Meyer J, Vargas LK, Schoenfeld R, Passaglia LMP (2012) The effect of plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria on the growth of rice

(Oryza sativa L.) cropped in southern Brazilian fields. Plant Soil 366:585–603. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1430-1

- De Souza R, Ambrosini A, Passaglia LM (2015) Plant growth-promoting bacteria as inoculants in agricultural soils. Genet Mol Biol 38:401–419. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1415-475738420150053
- De-Bashan L, Nannipieri P (2024) Recommendations for plant growthpromoting bacteria inoculation studies. Biol Fertil Soils 60:259– 261. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00374-024-01798-w
- Egamberdiyeva D (2007) The effect of plant growth promoting bacteria on growth and nutrient uptake of maize in two different soils. Appl Soil Ecol 36:184–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2007. 02.005
- Etesami H, Maheshwari DK (2018) Use of plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPRs) with multiple plant growth promoting traits in stress agriculture: Action mechanisms and future prospects. Ecotox Environ Safe 156:225–246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecoenv.2018.03.013
- Fiske CH, Subbarow Y (1925) The Colorimetric Determination of Phosphorus. J Biol Chem 66:375–400. https://doi.org/10.1016/ s0021-9258(18)84756-1
- Foolad MR, Ntahimpera N, Christ BJ, Lin GY (2000) Comparison of Field, Greenhouse, and Detached-Leaflet Evaluations of Tomato Germ Plasm for Early Blight Resistance. Plant Dis 84:967–972. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS.2000.84.9.967
- Fowler D, Coyle M, Skiba U, Sutton MA, Cape JN, Reis S, Sheppard LJ, Jenkins A, Grizzetti B, Galloway JN, Vitousek P, Leach A, Bouwman AF, Butterbach-Bahl K, Dentener F, Stevenson D, Amann M, Voss M (2013) The global nitrogen cycle in the twentyfirst century. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 368:20130164. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0164
- Gaiero JR, Mccall CA, Thompson KA, Day NJ, Best AS, Dunfield KE (2013) Inside the root microbiome: bacterial root endophytes and plant growth promotion. Am J Bot 100:1738–1750. https://doi. org/10.3732/ajb.1200572
- Galloway JN, Leach AM, Bleeker A, Erisman JW (2013) A chronology of human understanding of the nitrogen cycle. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 368:20130120. https://doi.org/10.1098/ rstb.2013.0120
- Gamalero E, Glick BR (2011) Mechanisms Used by Plant Growth-Promoting Bacteria. In: Maheshwari D (ed.) Bacteria in Agrobiology: Plant Nutrient Management, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, Germany, pp 17–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-21061-7_2
- Germaine K, Keogh E, Garcia-Cabellos G, Borremans B, Lelie D, Barac T, Oeyen L, Vangronsveld J, Moore FP, Moore ER, Campbell CD, Ryan D, Dowling DN (2004) Colonisation of poplar trees by gfp expressing bacterial endophytes. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 48:109–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.femsec.2003.12.009
- Glick BR (2012) Plant growth-promoting bacteria: mechanisms and applications. Scientifica 2012:963401. https://doi.org/10.6064/ 2012/963401
- Glickmann E, Dessaux Y (1995) A critical examination of the specificity of the salkowski reagent for indolic compounds produced by phytopathogenic bacteria. Appl Environ Microbiol 61:793–796. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.61.2.793-796.1995
- Guardado-Fierros BG, Tuesta-Popolizio DA, Lorenzo-Santiago MA, Rodriguez-Campos J, Contreras-Ramos SM (2024) Comparative study between Salkowski reagent and chromatographic method for auxins quantification from bacterial production. Front Plant Sci 15:1378079. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2024.1378079
- Hajiabadi S, Mashreghi M, Reza Bahrami A, Ghazvini K, Matin MM (2020) Isolation and molecular identification of cellulolytic bacteria from Dig Rostam hot spring and study of their cellulase activity. Biocell 44:63–71. https://doi.org/10.32604/biocell.2020. 08171
- Haque MM, Haque MA, Mosharaf MK, Marcus PK (2021) Decolorization, degradation and detoxification of carcinogenic sulfonated azo

dye methyl orange by newly developed biofilm consortia. Saudi J Biol Sci 28:793–804. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2020.11.012

- Hardoim PR, Van Overbeek LS, Elsas JD (2008) Properties of bacterial endophytes and their proposed role in plant growth. Trends Microbiol 16:463–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2008.07.008
- Heuer H, Krsek M, Baker P, Smalla K, Wellington EM (1997) Analysis of actinomycete communities by specific amplification of genes encoding 16S rRNA and gel-electrophoretic separation in denaturing gradients. Appl Environ Microbiol 63:3233–3241. https://doi. org/10.1128/aem.63.8.3233-3241.1997
- Ibrahim A, El-Fakharany EM, Abu-Serie MM, Elkady MF, Eltarahony M (2022) Methyl orange biodegradation by immobilized consortium microspheres: experimental design approach toxicity study and bioaugmentation potential. Biology-Basel 11:76. https://doi. org/10.3390/biology11010076
- Jasim B, John Jimtha C, Jyothis M, Radhakrishnan EK (2013) Plant growth promoting potential of endophytic bacteria isolated from Piper nigrum. Plant Growth Regul 71:1–11. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10725-013-9802-y
- Kandel SL, Joubert PM, Doty SL (2017) Bacterial endophyte colonization and distribution within plants. Microorganisms 5:77. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms5040077
- Katsenios N, Andreou V, Sparangis P, Djordjevic N, Giannoglou M, Chanioti S, Stergiou P, Xanthou MZ, Kakabouki I, Vlachakis D, Djordjevic S, Katsaros G, Efthimiadou A (2021) Evaluation of plant growth promoting bacteria strains on growth, yield and quality of industrial tomato. Microorganisms 9:2099. https:// doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9102099
- Khan Z, Guelich G, Phan H, Redman R, Doty S (2012) Bacterial and Yeast Endophytes from Poplar and Willow Promote Growth in Crop Plants and Grasses. ISRN Agronomy 2012:1–11. https:// doi.org/10.5402/2012/890280
- Khan MY, Nadeem SM, Sohaib M, Waqas MR, Alotaibi F, Ali L, Zahir ZA, Al-Barakah FNI (2022) Potential of plant growth promoting bacterial consortium for improving the growth and yield of wheat under saline conditions. Front Microbiol 13:958522. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.958522
- Kloepper JW, Leong J, Teintze M, Schroth MN (1980) Enhanced plant growth by siderophores produced by plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. Nature 286:885–886. https://doi.org/10. 1038/286885a0
- Kloepper JW, Lifshitz R, Zablotowicz RM (1989) Free-living bacterial inocula for enhancing crop productivity. Trends Biotechnol 7:39–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-7799(89)90057-7
- Knoth JL, Kim SH, Ettl GJ, Doty SL (2014) Biological nitrogen fixation and biomass accumulation within poplar clones as a result of inoculations with diazotrophic endophyte consortia. New Phytol 201:599–609. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.12536
- Kong Z, Hart M, Liu H (2018) Paving the Way From the Lab to the Field: Using Synthetic Microbial Consortia to Produce High-Quality Crops. Front Plant Sci 9:1467. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpls.2018.01467
- Liu C, Zhuang J, Wang J, Fan G, Feng M, Zhang S (2022) Soil bacterial communities of three types of plants from ecological restoration areas and plant-growth promotional benefits of Microbacterium invictum (strain X-18). Front Microbiol 13:926037. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.926037
- Lorck H (1948) Production of Hydrocyanic Acid by Bacteria. Physiol Plant 1:142–146. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3054.1948. tb07118.x
- Louden BC, Haarmann D, Lynne AM (2011) Use of Blue Agar CAS Assay for Siderophore Detection. J Microbiol Biol Educ 12:51– 53. https://doi.org/10.1128/jmbe.v12i1.249
- Lucy M, Reed E, Glick BR (2004) Applications of free living plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek

86:1–25. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:ANTO.0000024903.10757. 6e

- Martinez-Espinosa RM, Cole JA, Richardson DJ, Watmough NJ (2011) Enzymology and ecology of the nitrogen cycle. Biochem Soc Trans 39:175–178. https://doi.org/10.1042/BST0390175
- Mehnaz S, Kowalik T, Reynolds B, Lazarovits G (2010) Growth promoting effects of corn (Zea mays) bacterial isolates under greenhouse and field conditions. Soil Biol Biochem 42:1848–1856. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2010.07.003
- Méndez-Bravo A, Herrera-Cornelio LC, García-Toscano DF, Kiel-Martínez AL, Guevara-Avendaño E, Ramírez-Vázquez M, Pérez-Bautista Y, Méndez-Bravo A, Reverchon F (2023) Beneficial effects of selected rhizospheric and endophytic bacteria, inoculated individually or in combination, on non-native host plant development. Rhizosphere 26:100693. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rhisoh.2023.100693
- Miller GL (1959) Use of dinitrosalicylic acid reagent for determination of reducing sugar. Anal Chem 31:426–428. https://doi.org/ 10.1021/ac60147a030
- Mumtaz MZ, Ahmad M, Jamil M, Hussain T (2017) Zinc solubilizing Bacillus spp. potential candidates for biofortification in maize. Microbiol Res 202:51–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2017. 06.001
- Newcombe G (2011) Endophytes in Forest Management: Four Challenges. In: Pirttila AM, Frank AC (eds) Endophytes of Forest Trees: Biology and Applications, Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 251–261. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-1599-816
- Okon Y, Labandera-Gonzalez CA (1994) Agronomic applications of azospirillum: An evaluation of 20 years worldwide field inoculation. Soil Biol Biochem 26:1591–1601. https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0038-0717(94)90311-5
- Olanrewaju OS, Glick BR, Babalola OO (2017) Mechanisms of action of plant growth promoting bacteria. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 33:197. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-017-2364-9
- Orozco-Mosqueda MDC, Fadiji AE, Babalola OO, Glick BR, Santoyo G (2022) Rhizobiome engineering: Unveiling complex rhizosphere interactions to enhance plant growth and health. Microbiol Res 263:127137. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2022.127137
- Padda KP, Puri A, Chanway CP (2015) Effect of GFP tagging of Paenibacillus polymyxa P2b–2R on its ability to promote growth of canola and tomato seedlings. Biol Fertil Soils 52:377–387. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00374-015-1083-3
- Padda KP, Puri A, Chanway CP (2018) Isolation and identification of endophytic diazotrophs from lodgepole pine trees growing at unreclaimed gravel mining pits in central interior British Columbia, Canada. Can J for Res 48:1601–1606. https://doi.org/10.1139/ cjfr-2018-0347
- Padda KP, Puri A, Chanway CP (2021) Long-term effects of inoculating lodgepole pine seedlings with plant growth-promoting bacteria originating from a disturbed gravel mining ecosystem. Can J for Res 51:533–545. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2020-0333
- Pérez E, Sulbarán M, Ball MM, Yarzábal LA (2007) Isolation and characterization of mineral phosphate-solubilizing bacteria naturally colonizing a limonitic crust in the south-eastern Venezuelan region. Soil Biol Biochem 39:2905–2914. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.soilbio.2007.06.017
- Pradhan M, Das R, Kumar Sahoo R, Adak T, Pradhan C, Mohanty S (2022) Comparative P solubilizing efficiencies of five acid soil bacteria incubated with calcium, aluminium and iron phosphates. Indian J Biochem Biophys 59:947–955. https://doi.org/10.56042/ ijbb.v59i10.67099
- Prakash J, Arora NK (2019) Development of Bacillus safensis-based liquid bioformulation to augment growth, stevioside content, and nutrient uptake in Stevia rebaudiana. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 36:8. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-019-2783-x

- Puri A, Padda KP, Chanway CP (2015) Can a diazotrophic endophyte originally isolated from lodgepole pine colonize an agricultural crop (corn) and promote its growth? Soil Biol Biochem 89:210– 216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2015.07.012
- Puri A, Padda KP, Chanway CP (2018) Evidence of endophytic diazotrophic bacteria in lodgepole pine and hybrid white spruce trees growing in soils with different nutrient statuses in the West Chilcotin region of British Columbia, Canada. For Ecol Manage 430:558–565. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.08.049
- Puri A, Padda KP, Chanway CP (2020a) In vitro and in vivo analyses of plant-growth-promoting potential of bacteria naturally associated with spruce trees growing on nutrient-poor soils. Appl Soil Ecol 149:103538. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2020.103538
- Puri A, Padda KP, Chanway CP (2020b) Evaluating lodgepole pine endophytes for their ability to fix nitrogen and support tree growth under nitrogen-limited conditions. Plant Soil 455:271–287. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-020-04687-x
- Puri A, Padda KP, Chanway CP (2020c) Sustaining the growth of Pinaceae trees under nutrient-limited edaphic conditions via plant-beneficial bacteria. PLoS ONE 15:e0238055. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238055
- Ramírez-Cariño HF, Morales I, Guadarrama-Mendoza PC, González-Terreros E, Martínez-Gutiérrez GA, Dunlap CA, Valadez-Blanco R (2023) Biofertilizing effect of putative plant growth promoting rhizobacteria in vitro and in tomatillo seedlings (Physalis ixocarpa Brot.). Sci Hortic 308:111567. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.scienta.2022.111567
- Rana KL, Kour D, Kaur T, Devi R, Yadav AN, Yadav N, Dhaliwal HS, Saxena AK (2020) Endophytic microbes: biodiversity, plant growth-promoting mechanisms and potential applications for agricultural sustainability. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 113:1075–1107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10482-020-01429-y
- Ray P, Lakshmanan V, Labbe JL, Craven KD (2020) Microbe to Microbiome: A Paradigm Shift in the Application of Microorganisms for Sustainable Agriculture. Front Microbiol 11:622926. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.622926
- Ren XM, Guo SJ, Tian W, Chen Y, Han H, Chen E, Li BL, Li YY, Chen ZJ (2019) Effects of plant growth-promoting bacteria (PGPB) Inoculation on the growth, antioxidant activity, Cu Uptake, and bacterial community structure of rape (Brassica napus L.) grown in cu-contaminated agricultural soil. Front Microbiol 10:1455. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01455
- Rice P, Longden I, Bleasby A (2000) EMBOSS: the european molecular biology open software suite. Trends Genet 16:276–277. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0168-9525(00)02024-2
- Richardson K, Steffen W, Lucht W, Bendtsen J, Cornell SE, Donges JF, Druke M, Fetzer I, Bala G, Von Bloh W, Feulner G, Fiedler S, Gerten D, Gleeson T, Hofmann M, Huiskamp W, Kummu M, Mohan C, Nogues-Bravo D, Petri S, Porkka M, Rahmstorf S, Schaphoff S, Thonicke K, Tobian A, Virkki V, Wang-Erlandsson L, Weber L, Rockstrom J (2023) Earth beyond six of nine planetary boundaries. Sci Adv 9:eadh2458. https://doi.org/10.1126/ sciadv.adh2458
- Rosenblueth M, Martinez-Romero E (2006) Bacterial endophytes and their interactions with hosts. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 19:827–837. https://doi.org/10.1094/MPMI-19-0827
- Ryan RP, Germaine K, Franks A, Ryan DJ, Dowling DN (2008) Bacterial endophytes: recent developments and applications. FEMS Microbiol Lett 278:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2007.00918.x
- Saleem M, Nawaz F, Hussain MB, Ikram RM (2021) Comparative Effects of Individual and Consortia Plant Growth Promoting Bacteria on Physiological and Enzymatic Mechanisms to Confer Drought Tolerance in Maize (Zea mays L.). J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 21:3461–3476. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42729-021-00620-y

- Santoyo G, Moreno-Hagelsieb G, Orozco-Mosqueda Mdel C, Glick BR (2016) Plant growth-promoting bacterial endophytes. Microbiol Res 183:92–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres. 2015.11.008
- Saravanan VS, Madhaiyan M, Thangaraju M (2007) Solubilization of zinc compounds by the diazotrophic, plant growth promoting bacterium Gluconacetobacter diazotrophicus. Chemosphere 66:1794– 1798. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.07.067
- Savci S (2012) An Agricultural Pollutant: Chemical Fertilizer. Int J Env Sci Dev 3:73–80. https://doi.org/10.7763/ijesd.2012.V3.191
- Sen A, Saha N, Sarkar A, Poddar R, Pramanik K, Kundu R (2024) Enhancing phosphorus availability and growth of green gram (Vigna radiata) in acidic red and laterite soil through liquid formulations of native phosphate solubilizing bacteria. Biocat Agric Biotechnol 61:103413. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcab.2024. 103413
- Shishido M, Breuil C, Chanway CP (1999) Endophytic colonization of spruce by plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 29:191–196. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.1999. tb00610.x
- Song Z, Lu Y, Liu X, Wei C, Oladipo A, Fan B (2020) Evaluation of Pantoea eucalypti FBS135 for pine (Pinus massoniana) growth

promotion and its genome analysis. J Appl Microbiol 129:958– 970. https://doi.org/10.1111/jam.14673

- Song Q, Song X, Deng X, Luo J, Wang J, Min K, Song R (2021) Effects of plant growth promoting Rhizobacteria microbial on the growth, rhizosphere soil properties, and bacterial community of Pinus sylvestris var. mongolica seedlings. Scand J Forest Res 36:249–262. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2021.1917649
- Tang X, Liu Q, Luo L, Yin C (2023) The Endophyte Bacillus amyloliquefaciens from Picea asperata Seeds Promotes Seed Germination and Its Physiological Mechanism. J Soil Sci Plant Nutr 24:421–434. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42729-023-01552-5
- Younas H, Nazir A, Bareen FE, Thies JE (2023) Metabolic profile and molecular characterization of endophytic bacteria isolated from Pinus sylvestris L. with growth-promoting effect on sunflower. Environ Sci Pollut Res Int 30:40147–40161. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11356-022-25118-7

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

ACTA UNIVERSITATIS AGRICULTURAE SUECIAE

Doctoral Thesis No. 2025:30

Fungal and bacterial microbiomes are integral parts of the boreal forest ecosystem, but they remain under-researched. This thesis examined the microbiomes of several Norway spruce and Scots pine compartments and investigated the effects of nitrogen addition on their composition, soil extracellular enzyme activity and needle nitrogen fixation rate. Additionally, the thesis analysed the potential use of plant growth-promoting bacteria and organic nitrogen-based controlled-release nutrition as alternatives to inorganic nitrogen fertilization to promote plant growth.

Tinkara Bizjak-Johansson received her doctoral education in Biology at the Department of Forest Genetics and Plant Physiology at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU). She received her Master of Science in Molecular Biology at Umeå University.

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae presents doctoral theses from the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU).

SLU generates knowledge for the sustainable use of biological natural resources. Research, education, extension, as well as environmental monitoring and assessment are used to achieve this goal.

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-8046-465-9 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-8046-515-1